


 



I 

 

Abstract 

 

The conglomerate has been a widely debated topic in academic research since 

the late 1960s. With neo-classical and managerial scholars on either side, 

diverging evidence has been presented on the effect of diversification and 

mergers on shareholder value. The heterogeneity of these empirical results 

paves the way for causal rationalizations that form the contemporary theories 

on conglomerate valuation. This is the point of departure for the thesis, which 

investigates these theories and tests them on a conglomerate case study. To 

frame the analysis, two simplified tests are performed to establish the 

relevance of conglomerates in today’s corporate environment. Insinuating a 

valuation discount for U.S. conglomerates, in general, and for the case 

company, General Electric, the thesis attempts to validate the latter by 

conducting an analysis and valuation of the company. By adhering to publicly 

available data, the analysis scrutinizes strategic, accounting, governance and 

financial aspects of the case company, forming the foundation for a valuation. 

Applying two types of multiples analysis, this thesis estimates General 

Electric’s implied share price as of March 2nd, 2018, and finds that the firm is 

trading at a conglomerate discount in the range of 2.4% to 46.0%. The main 

underlying rationales for this discount are, i) financial complexity and opacity 

of reporting, ii) mismatch between analyst expertise and conglomerate’s 

multifaceted operations, and iii) inefficient corporate governance and inactive 

shareholders. The fundamental sources of these rationales are discussed, with 

the authors suggesting the conglomerate’s financial division, GE Capital, and 

the absent disciplining of management as the ultimate roots. Conclusively, 

the thesis addresses the conglomerate structure’s raison d’être, signifying and 

preparing the stage for further empirical research on this topic. 
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1. Introduction 

The history of mergers dates back to the late 19th century’s Great Merger Movement, where smaller 

firms in the U.S. consolidated with similar firms, to form large organizations that could dominate 

their industries. Yet, during the 1950s, antitrust laws regulated horizontal and vertical mergers, 

leading the way for growth through diversification hence the conglomerate structure (Fligstein, 1991). 

By the late 1960s, a counter-movement questioned the value-creating rationales of the diversified 

firm, arguing that corporate specialization was the true shareholder value maximizing strategy. By 

claiming that unrelated diversification destroys value, entailing that the sum of the parts is worth more 

than the whole, the notion of the conglomerate discount formed (LeBaron & Speidell, 1987). Backed 

by empirical evidence, investors pushed firms to refocus their businesses to core operations, paving 

the way for a restructuring and divestment wave of larger companies, which is still ongoing.  

 Globally, giants such as the Dutch Philips and the German industrial company, Siemens, are both 

currently in the process of refocusing their highly diversified conglomerate structures, into simpler, 

more specialized firms (Sterling, 2016). However, the most discussed recent restructuring process is 

undoubtedly occurring in the United States. With newly appointed CEO, John Flannery, the industrial 

powerhouse General Electric (henceforth, GE) recently announced potential asset divestments of 

USD 20bn, in a plan to refocus the conglomerate’s operations (Scott, 2017a). GE was formed through 

a merger in 1892, and is today one of the largest conglomerates with over 300,000 employees and 

USD 122bn in revenue. GE is further among the world’s most diversified firms with operations 

spanning from aviation, healthcare and energy to venture capital and industrial finance (GE, 2018).  

 The overall purpose of this thesis is to investigate the conglomerate structure and its valuation 

discount phenomenon by applying a theoretical, empirical and practical approach. GE will constitute 

the primary focus, with the ultimate objective of determining whether GE’s share is valued at a 

conglomerate discount, and to establish the underlying rationales for such a valuation. These findings 

will lead to a discussion of managerial and investor implications, ultimately questioning the 

conglomerate structure’s raison d’être – the justification for its existence. 

 The motivation of this thesis is to address the gap in existing academic literature by bridging 

theoretical and empirical findings with practice. Severinsen and Gundersen (2014) attempt to address 

this, however, their case study revolves around the valuation and discount of a conglomerate, rather 

than addressing the theoretical underlying rationales for such a valuation. As such, this thesis applies 

certain similar approaches in addressing whether GE is valued at a discount, while profoundly 

different approaches will be applied to ascertain the underlying rationales of said discount.  
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1.1. Research question 

The purpose of this thesis is to assess whether GE is valued at a conglomerate discount, and to explore 

the underlying rationales behind such valuation. The following research question will guide the 

analysis and establish the overall scope of the thesis. 

 

To what extent does the General Electric Company share price on March 2nd, 2018, indicate that the 

market values the company at a conglomerate discount, and what are the rationales behind this? 

Addressing this two-pronged research question requires extensive theoretical, practical and financial 

research. To sharpen the focus, the following sub-questions will support and guide the study as it 

progresses, thus ensuring that the research question is addressed comprehensively. 

Table 1.1 Thesis sub-questions to be addressed 

Areas of investigation Questions to be addressed 

Understanding the 
conglomerate in a 

theoretical and empirical 
context 

 What are the rationales behind mergers? 

 How do mergers influence performance? 

 What are the theoretical rationales behind the conglomerate structure? 

 Does empirical evidence confirm the existence of a conglomerate discount or premium? 

Contextualization of 
theoretical findings in a 

modern perspective 

 What level are U.S. conglomerates valued at, in general? 

 Why is GE a relevant case company? 

 What has been the strategic direction of the company, and how has it performed? 

 What is the future strategic outlook of GE? 

GE in a market context 

 What are macroeconomic trends affecting the divisions of GE? 

 What are the competitive dynamics within the business segments? 

 How do GE’s divisions perform compared to relevant peers? 

 What does GE’s market position indicate in terms of a valuation? 

Addressing GE’s governance 
and accounting quality 

 How have the three most recent CEO’s managed GE? 

 How well does the board of directors discipline management? 

 What is the general quality of GE’s corporate governance? 

 Does GE adhere to standard GAAP accounting? If not, how is it different? 

Understanding GE’s financial 
statements and reports 

 How has GE performed historically from a P&L perspective? 

 What is the financial interplay between GE and GE Capital? 

 Are there any unusual complexities in GE’s financial statements and reports? 

 What is the level of transparency in GE’s financial reports? 

 What influence does GE’s financial statements have on the ability to value the company? 

GE’s estimated per share 
price 

 What is the most appropriate valuation approach for GE’s eight divisions? 

 What is GE’s implied per share price, given the valuation model? 

 How does the valuation approach and results compare to those of equity analysts? 

Contextualizing the thesis’ 
findings in a conglomerate 

theoretical perspective 

 Does the valuation imply that GE is valued at a conglomerate premium or discount? 

 What are the theoretical rationales for GE’s estimated valuation? 

 In what manner do these rationales affect GE’s valuation and performance? 

 What are GE’s options on influencing these underlying rationales? 

 Should the conglomerate structure persist or has it lost its raison d’être? 

Source: Own work 
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1.2. Structure of the thesis 

The thesis adheres to a traditional academic structure, as outlined in Figure 1.1. The following 

sections serve as clarification of the content provided in each section, and present the relevance and 

contribution of each section in relation to the research question. 

Figure 1.1 Thesis structure 

 
Source: Own work 

It is important to highlight that this thesis deviates from a traditional conglomerate valuation study in 

the sense that emphasis is placed on the underlying rationales for GE’s current valuation rather than 

the practical application of valuation methods, only to conclude how GE is trading and not why. In 

lieu of an extensive operating analysis and comprehensive valuation, this thesis takes a more simple 

approach to assess whether GE is trading at a premium or discount. As such, more resources will be 

allocated to the pursuit of understanding the literary foundation as well as finding true causal 

explanations for GE’s valuation level. That is, in depth explorations of reasons that are rooted in the 

literature, going beyond the operating performance of the company. A thorough assessment of GE’s 

governance and accounting principles, or lack thereof, will provide the essential justification for GE’s 

implied value, rather than a traditional analysis and projection of financials. 

1.2.1. Theory 

This section will commence with a comprehensive literature review of studies and theoretical 

rationales on the concept of mergers and eventually conglomerates. Equipped with an understanding 

of the conglomerate in a historical context, the section will continue to review the most recent studies 

on the valuation of conglomerates and whether conglomerates are and should be valued at a discount 

or premium. To contextualize the literature, the section will proceed with a review of contemporary 

empirical studies on conglomerate valuation. Finally, the theoretical framework for the thesis will be 

presented in the form of seven relevant hypotheses relating to the valuation of GE as a conglomerate. 
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1.2.2. Methodology 

Initially, this section will outline the research approach of the thesis and its attitude towards validation 

and reliability. The section will then present the analysis method applied in the thesis, with a certain 

emphasis on the valuation, due to its unusual construction, followed by a section on the thesis’ data 

collection method. Finally, the assumptions and delimitation of the study will be presented.  

1.2.3. Framing the analysis 

This atypical section will serve to present the case company and its relevance. As such, two statistical 

tests will be performed to, i) validate whether the conglomerate discount is present in the U.S., and 

ii) to address GE’s stock performance relative to its peers and a portfolio of pure-play firms 

replicating GE’s operational activities. These tests will substantiate the relevance of the thesis and in 

particular address the application of GE as a case company. 

1.2.4. Analysis 

In the search of findings that address the research question, the analysis is structured in a manner that 

investigates the most relevant elements of GE. As such, the analysis is divided into four sub-sections. 

1.2.4.1. Strategic and market analysis 

To fully understand the case company and its value drivers, the analysis will initiate with a structured 

strategic and market analysis of GE’s divisions. The analysis will investigate the macro- and 

microenvironment of each division as well as its market position relative to competitors. Through an 

extended SWOT model, the analysis will conclude on the key findings on each division. 

1.2.4.2. Governance and accounting analysis 

With in-depth company knowledge at hand, the analysis will continue by gauging the governance 

and accounting procedures of GE, as these appear to play a central role in the conglomerate’s 

historical performance. Hence, this section will serve to evaluate GE executives’ actions and 

reporting of results, are of bona fide character. 

1.2.4.3. Financial statement and reporting analysis 

On the backdrop of a governance and accounting analysis, the thesis appropriately continues with an 

investigation and scrutiny of GE’s financial statements and annual reports. The section analyzes GE’s 

P&L, reporting complexities and especially the interplay between GE and GE Capital. Further, the 

section analyzes the cash flows of GE based on findings from the governance and accounting analysis. 
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1.2.4.4. Valuation analysis 

Based on previous analyses, this section will derive the implied share price by applying an alternative 

valuation model through relative sum-of-the-parts valuations comprising two types of multiples 

analyses. Due to the untraditional character of the case company and the valuation model, the results 

and approach will subsequently be benchmarked against those of GE-specialized equity analysts. 

1.2.5. Findings 

The section will commence by comparing the findings of the valuation to the actual market share 

price of GE to conclude whether the conglomerate is trading at a discount or premium, and thus 

answer the first part of the research question. Following, the seven hypotheses from the theoretical 

framework will be tested by applying the findings of the analysis section. Through these tests, the 

thesis will conclude on the conglomerate theoretical factors that influence the value of GE, and thus 

present the answer to the second part of the research question. 

1.2.6. Discussion 

By discussing the underlying motivations for GE’s valuation and performance, this section will 

ascertain the findings of the thesis and their implications for management and investors. Finally, the 

implications for the corporate structure of the conglomerate will be addressed, by comparing GE to 

its peers, evidently leading to a discussion of the conglomerate’s raison d’être. 
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2. Theory 

This section will review and investigate theory and empirical studies related to the conglomerate. 

Commencing with a general literature review and proceeding with recent studies on conglomerate 

valuation, this section will provide the reader with the underlying theoretical understanding and 

present the theoretical arguments applied in the thesis. The section rounds off with a theoretical 

framework consisting of seven hypotheses, which the thesis intends to test. 

2.1. Literature review 

The section initiates by reviewing merger literature, which is crucial, as unrelated diversification, 

leading to the conglomerate structure, usually occurs through mergers. With a basic understanding, 

the review deep-dives into theoretical argumentations on conglomerate discount and premium.  

2.1.1. Mergers 

Two schools exist in the realm of mergers, which will be explored in turn starting with the neo-

classical school followed by the managerial. Finally, the section will review studies that have tested 

the performance of mergers and as a natural extension the performance of conglomerates.  

2.1.1.1. Neo-classical theory 

The neo-classical theories try to explain mergers on the backdrop of financial and economic rationales 

(Mueller, 1977). There is a variety of theories within this school and this section will not attempt to 

explain all of them. Rather, the more compelling theories will be explored. 

 Lewellen (1971) and Lintner (1971) argue that borrowing costs decline with the size of the firm, 

that is, whenever a large firm buys a smaller one, there will be capital gain from refinancing the 

smaller firm’s debt. A restructuring of an imperfect capital structure at the smaller firm can also lead 

to lower cost of capital in the joint capital structure (Lewellen, 1971). Others argue that the 

combination of two firms’ less than perfectly correlated revenue streams, enables smaller cash flow 

dispersion than could be achieved individually, paving the way for lower borrowing costs (Levy & 

Sarnat, 1970; Lintner, 1971). Lintner (1971) also put forward the notion of Price-Earnings Magic 

and explains that when a firm acquires another with a smaller P/E ratio, an immediate revaluation of 

the company will take place, reflecting more closely the acquirers P/E. In a conglomerate perspective, 

several others argue that it is the ability to redeploy capital to high-return projects that makes mergers 

and conglomerates attractive (Sherman, 1972; Lorsch & Allen, 1973). From a contemporary 

perspective, this is also one of the most prominent arguments supporting the conglomerate and will 
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be explored further in a forthcoming section. Finally, Weston (1970) finds the difference in 

management quality across firms to be the most compelling argument for merging, as true social 

gains can be achieved.  

2.1.1.2. Managerial theory 

Several scholars oppose the neo-classical theories and argue that elements outside of profit 

maximization drive mergers (Marris, 1964; Reid, 1968; Mueller, 1969). Marris (1964) found a strong 

relationship between manager’s pecuniary and non-pecuniary rewards and the size as well as change 

in size of their firms, rather than profits. Building on these findings, Mueller (1969) found that 

managers’ prestige and power had a similar relationship to size of firm and concluded that, 

“proponents of the profit maximization hypothesis have had to rationalize the postwar merger 

statistics by arguing either that the industrial community is literally a sea of synergistic merger 

opportunities, or that a lot of bad decision making has been going on with respect to mergers” 

(Mueller, 1969, p. 644).  

 These growth maximization propositions are closely related to the issue of separation of 

ownership and control, that is, the principal-agent theory, in which managers pursue goals 

disconnected with shareholder welfare (Reid, 1968). An efficient market for corporate control, 

however, places a constraint on managers’ empire building and unrestricted use of corporate cash 

flows (Manne, 1965). Nonetheless, in times of prosperity, investors are blinded by soaring stock 

markets and the disciplinary aspects of the markets are limited (Manne, 1965). Thus, the desire to 

grow through acquisitions is constant but the means and discretion to pursue this goal is greater during 

an upswing (Mueller, 1977). Indeed, Singh (1971) also presents that the largest threat for managers 

is other firms looking for growth opportunities why growth in size offers a better protection from 

takeover than profit maximization.  

2.1.1.3. Merger performance 

Hogarty’s (1970) review assesses the performance of mergers thoroughly, while shedding some 

doubts on the validity of the neo-classical theories. Empirically, no studies have found mergers to be 

profitable, in the sense that they are more profitable than alternative forms of investments (Hogarty, 

1970). These findings significantly question the amount of mergers that has taken place and support 

the managerial school of empire building relative to the shareholder wealth maximization (Mueller, 

1977).  
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 Weston and Mansinghka (1971) compared a sample of 63 conglomerates to a group of randomly 

sampled industrial firms over the period 1958 to 1968. The study found that firms that would become 

conglomerates had lower profit margins in 1958 but leveled their margins by 1968 relative to the 

industrial firms. The study also showed that conglomerates became significantly more leveraged 

(Weston & Mansinghka, 1971). In a follow up study, Reid (1971) re-examined the same portfolios, 

only this time, including the period after 1968 when markets collapsed. Indeed, Reid (1971) found 

that the conglomerate sample dropped 56% in profitability while industrials declined 37%. More 

importantly, Reid (1971) found that conglomerate bond prices dropped 45.6% on average versus 

DJIA bonds, which declined 7.8%.  

 Smith and Shreiner (1969) compared the performance of eight mutual funds and 19 conglomerate 

firms. Looking at excess returns per unit of total risk they concluded that mutual funds were far 

superior in attaining more efficient diversification than conglomerates, although some conglomerates 

succeeded well in their diversification objective (Smith & Schreiner, 1969). Westerfield (1970) re-

examined the correlation coefficients of the sample and concluded that all conglomerates were far 

inferior to mutual funds. In a contrasting study, Weston et al. (1972) found that in the period 1960-

1969 conglomerates delivered excess returns, while mutual funds fared better on diversification 

efficiency. The study, however, suffers from the choice of time period as it consists only of one long 

upswing, favoring the aggressively managed conglomerates (Mueller, 1977). Indeed, Weston et al. 

(1972) reported conglomerates’ betas to be the double of mutual funds, indicating that the inclusion 

of the preceding downturn would have changed the findings significantly. Melicher and Rush (1973) 

correct this shortcoming by comparing a sample of conglomerates to a sample of non-conglomerates 

in a period including the 1969-1971 downturn. Not surprisingly, conglomerates show higher stock 

returns from 1966-69, but significantly worse returns in the following downturn. Over the entire 

period, the two samples show identical returns with no significant difference in means (Melicher & 

Rush, 1973). 

 In a related study, Mason and Goudzwaard (1976) compared the performance of 22 

conglomerates and 22 randomly sampled portfolios of stocks that matched the industry in which the 

conglomerate operated. The study analyzed whether the direct management of assets would achieve 

better performance than randomly selected portfolios. Alas, even after controlling for costs of buying 

and selling stocks, and salary for the portfolio manager, the random portfolios performed significantly 

better during the period 1962-1967 (Mason & Goudzward, 1976).  
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2.1.2. Conglomerates 

During the last century, a variety of arguments have been put forward to support unrelated acquisition 

strategies and the conglomerate corporate structure, where a large body of the supportive literature 

originates from the early neo-classical theories of mergers. Despite the conglomerate structure being 

deemed inefficient by the opposing managerial school, conglomerates are still observed in today’s 

corporate environment. This observation compels the authors to question the more contemporary 

rationales for the conglomerate corporate structure.   

 To understand the rationales, a formal definition of the conglomerate is initially presented. Per 

Davis et al. (1994), a conglomerate is a firm composed of several unrelated business. Specifically, 

Rummelt (1974) defines a conglomerate as a company with less than 70% of total revenue coming 

from one single business segment. Correspondingly, Schwetzler and Rudolph (2013) present the 

conglomerate as a firm that reports revenue in two or more business segments, whereas the largest 

consists of less than 90% of revenue. Heuskel et al. (2006) specify the definition and argue that 

conglomerates operate in three or more unrelated segments, with each segment accounting for at least 

10% of revenue. In this definition, segments are ‘unrelated’ if they have completely different 

products, customers, and competitors and if each segment requires certain specific managerial 

competences.  

2.1.2.1. Supporting theory: Premium 

Internal capital markets 

From an economic perspective, neo-classical scholars argue that unrelated diversification is value-

creating if the conglomerate is operating an efficient internal capital market. By raising capital 

internally, these firms manage their financial decisions centrally, and can finance positive NPV 

investments in financially restrained divisions, with cash from other divisions with fewer profitable 

opportunities or simply easier access to funding (Maksimovic & Phillips, 2013). This concept is 

referred to as a winner-picking strategy, where cash is transferred to the divisions with the best 

accessible projects (Stein, 1997). Such resource allocation enables the conglomerate to mitigate 

problems of cyclicality and reduce the overall dependency on external financing. Yet, according to 

Liebeskind (2000), reaping the benefits of such an effect is contingent on the organization’s ability 

to operate their internal capital market efficiently. This requires that internal managers have better 

access to information regarding the firm’s potential investment opportunities, compared to the 

external financial market. This information asymmetry between managers and financial markets 

indicates a market failure, which is ‘absorbed’ by the conglomerate, making internal capital markets 
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a widespread supportive argument (Myer & Majluf, 1984). Recently, the financial crisis enabled 

testing the internal capital markets theory in a downturn and allowed researchers to search for causal 

relations (Maksimovic & Phillips, 2013). Resulting from these tests, in stressed market conditions, 

scholars (Matvos & Seru, 2014; Kuppuswamy & Villalonga, 2016) found that during the crisis, firms, 

such as conglomerates, that utilized internal capital markets, performed better relative to firms 

without said markets. The internal capital reallocation cushions financial shocks, enabling firms with 

internal capital to outperform other firms in the 2007-2009 period (Matvos & Seru, 2014).   

Portfolio theory 

The volatility of a portfolio of assets is less than the sum of the individual volatility of each of these 

assets, given imperfect correlations. This is the underlying rationale in Markowitz’ (1952) portfolio 

theory and hence one of the initial arguments behind the conglomerate form. The logic behind the 

portfolio theory offers a central argumentation, namely that by (unrelated) diversification, the firm 

achieves a significant reduction in risk (Amihud & Lev, 1981). By reducing the unique risk, the 

conglomerate stock appeals to investors as a package of bundled imperfectly correlated assets, 

offering lower risk with a maintained high level of expected returns. However, investors can achieve 

this risk reduction themselves through diversification of their securities portfolios, while ensuring an 

acceptable risk as specified by their individual risk tolerance (Bodie, et al., 2014). From a transaction 

cost economics perspective, holding stocks in conglomerate firms therefore depends on the relative 

size of the internal transaction costs of the conglomerate (Hendrikse, 2003). If these internal 

transaction costs are less than the external transaction costs incurred by the investor when replicating 

a stock portfolio reflecting the risk profile of the conglomerate, holding the conglomerate stock 

instead would be attractive to the investor. This purely financial argument, however, requires strong 

advantages of the internal market compared to the external, which is inconsistent with economic 

theory given that the financial markets of the U.S. are highly developed (Sudarsanam, 2003). 

Coinsurance 

Lewellen (1971) was the first to argue that conglomerates can increase their debt levels more, relative 

to specialized firms, without suffering from a corresponding increase in the required return, as the 

diversification of the firm ensures a lower variability in the firms’ earnings. The notion has been 

coined coinsurance, and suggests that the imperfect correlations between the divisional cash flows 

entail a reduction in the conglomerate’s overall cash flow volatility. As a result, the conglomerate 

enjoys a lower default risk and an increased debt capacity, leading to a discount on the cost of capital. 

Obtaining capital at a discount compared to specialized firms is a potential advantage of the 
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conglomerate structure that could lead to an increase in the value of the firm (Servaes, 1996). 

Empirically, Hann et al. (2013) recently found that diversified firms, on average, exhibit lower cost 

of capital relative to combined portfolios of comparable focused firms. By modeling theoretical 

coinsurance cash flows that arise as cost savings from avoidance of expensive suppliers and customer 

defection, they exhibit a reduced asset beta of the conglomerate and a corresponding reduction in the 

cost of capital (Hann, et al., 2013).  

2.1.2.2. Opposing theory: Discount 

Complexity and opacity 

The first opposing argument revolves around the complexity and opacity of conglomerates’ financial 

accounting and reporting. Due to the multifaceted nature of a diversified business’ numerous 

segments, a conglomerate is usually exposed to a variety of layers in its financial reports. In the 

financial statements of conglomerates, it is common practice to consolidate divisional costs on a 

central level (Damodaran, 2006). Nonetheless, investors and analysts will attempt to disaggregate 

and reallocate these costs, when evaluating the firm’s performance and attempting to forecast 

operational earnings. Given the oftentimes low level of details regarding cost allocation reporting, 

operational performance becomes inherently unpredictable, and as such, these assessments are 

conducted with high uncertainty, eventually rendering the outcome inaccurate. The combination of 

the complexity, uncertainty and unpredictability complicates the process of uncovering negativities 

in the financial reports of the conglomerates, entailing a correlation between report complexity and 

the probability of ‘hidden’ negative surprises. As a result, Damodaran (2006) argues that it is 

appropriate to discount value for complexity. As a supporting argument, Linn and Rozeff (1984) 

exhibit that in well-developed capital markets, companies with transparent accounting policies will 

be rewarded by investors, strongly emphasizing that accounting complexity negatively affects 

company value.  

Analyst expertise 

Complexity in operations and the opacity of reporting give rise to the second argument. The role of 

securities analysts is to reduce information asymmetries between managers and markets. Analyst 

coverage therefore has significant influence on stock price (Feldman, et al., 2014). However, like 

investors, analysts are challenged when it comes to gathering information on conglomerates. Opacity 

makes it time consuming and costly to cover conglomerates thoroughly, which often negatively 

affects the quality of analyst reports (Ibid.). The low-quality reports may not fully dissect performance 

of the conglomerate, enhancing the risk of negative surprises, which ought to be discounted for 
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(Damodaran, 2006). Gilson et al. (2001) further postulate a disconnect between conglomerates 

activities and analysts expertise. Analysts are specialized in one or few industries and most 

investment firms rarely assign more than one analyst per company creating a natural gap in expertise 

(Gilson et al, 2001). Habib et al. (1997) argue that when divisions are spun off, the price system 

becomes more informative. That is, the firms become more transparent and trade at higher values. 

Similarly, Gilson et al. (2001) find that focus-increasing spin offs increase analysts’ forecast accuracy 

due to enhanced information disclosure. Thus, the complexity of conglomerates compel analyst to 

adopt a conservative approach to their estimation of earnings and performance. Ultimately, this 

entails a reduced perception of the future projections of the firm and its final valuation, and thus a 

conglomerate discount (Gilson, et al., 2001).  

Corporate governance 

The third argument for a conglomerate discount relates to the conglomerate’s corporate governance. 

While corporate governance and issues with governance are not limited to conglomerates, the effect 

on valuation from a poor governance structure is more prevalent for conglomerates (Shleifer & 

Vishny, 1997). Breach of fiduciary duties, information asymmetries and divisional misalignment, as 

well as poor incentive schemes are typical agency costs associated with conglomerates (Shleifer & 

Vishny, 1997). A sound corporate governance structure can diminish the negative impact of agency 

costs and thus reduce the conglomerate discount (Weiner, 2005). Masulis et al. (2007) also proclaim 

that investors of firms with more antitakeover provisions suffer from a reduced effect of the market 

for corporate control. A well-functioning market for corporate control is important to ensure that 

managers are disciplined, especially in the case where board of directors fail to adequately act on 

poor management and breach of fiduciary duties towards shareholders. Thus, profound use of 

antitakeover provisions increases the conglomerate discount (Masulis, et al., 2007). Amman et al. 

(2012) find that conglomerate discounts are reduced when corporate governance variables such as 

ownership, board size and independence are accounted for.  

Empire building 

The fourth and final rationale for a conglomerate discount is based on Jensen’s (1968) notion that 

free cash flows encourage financing of low return projects. Faced with excess funds, managers tend 

to engage in M&A and expansion into less profitable ventures rather than paying out dividends to 

shareholders (Chen, et al., 2011). This behavior is coined empire building as it relates to the 

managers’ desire to manage a larger firm. Unlike an efficient internal capital market, this type of 

resource allocation destroys shareholder values. Traditional agency theory suggest that costs related 
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to empire building can be mitigated through equity-based incentive schemes (Hendrikse, 2003). 

However, the diversified nature of conglomerates reduces the effect of incentive alignment through 

equity, as the compensation relates to the conglomerate’s overall performance. As divisional 

managers often engage in empire building within their respective divisions, equity compensation does 

not necessarily discourage this behavior (Rotemberg & Saloner, 1994). This line of reasoning 

suggests a relationship between a firm’s degree of diversification and the risk of empire building, and 

thus the probability of a conglomerate discount (Rotemberg & Saloner, 1994). 

2.1.3. Contemporary empirical studies 

The conglomerate’s raison d’être is highly debated throughout the literature, yet the corporate 

structure remains in today’s corporate environment, compelling the authors to assess most recent 

empirical studies on the conglomerate discount 

Thus far, the literature has dealt with U.S. conglomerates, yet the research extends beyond the 

American continent. Lack of investor-friendly corporate governance in UK gives rise to a 15% 

conglomerate discount (Lins & Servaes, 1999) supporting the research by Ammann et al (2012). Lins 

and Servaes (1999) also find a 10% conglomerate discount in Japan, whereas in Germany, they trade 

at fair value. Controlling for excess cash rather than corporate governance, Schwetzler and Reimund 

(2003) find that German conglomerates trade at a 6% discount. Khorana et al. (2011) conducted a 

study providing a snapshot of regional differences in conglomerate discounts per December 31, 2010, 

depicted in Figure 2.1. 

Figure 2.1 Regional differences in the conglomerate discount  

 
Source: Khorana et al. (2011) 

Latin American conglomerates trade at a sizeable premium, yet according to Khorana et al. (2011) 

this is driven by the relatively few conglomerates in the area and that the most successful firms in the 

region are the largest. Despite some unanimity regarding the conglomerate discount, other studies 

show contrasting evidence. Campa and Kedia (2002) argue that diversification strategies are defined 
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endogenously, and controlling for this reduces the discount and sometimes turns it into a premium. 

Whited (2001) also claims that the discounts found can be attributed to methodological shortcomings 

and a correlation between investment opportunities and liquidity. Villalonga (2004) further 

demonstrates that diversified firms in the U.S. trade at a premium relative to focused firms and that 

the discounts found in other studies are a result of strategic accounting biases in databases.  

 Nonetheless, the most prevalent conclusion is the existence of a conglomerate discount. Lang 

and Stulz (1994) find that U.S. conglomerates on average trade at a 10-15% discount. They argue that 

unrelated diversification occurs when growth opportunities within an industry is exhausted. The 

inability to transfer core capabilities consequently reduces firm performance (Lang & Stulz, 1994). 

Denis et al. (1997) argue that it is the internal agency costs that destroy value in U.S. conglomerates. 

Berger and Ofek (1995) also find a significant discount and argue that empire building is the essence 

of the discount. Table 2.1 summarizes these studies on conglomerate discounts. 

Table 2.1 Academic findings on the conglomerate discount     Figure 2.2 No. of conglomerates in the U.S. 

          
Source: Own work                                       Source: Own work based on Khorana et al. (2011) 

Figure 2.2 shows a clear trend in the number of conglomerates in the U.S. over a 10-year period. 

According to Khorana et al. (2011) the number has halved over the period, indicating a collective 

move towards specialization. This trend hardly seems surprising given the empirical evidence shown 

in Table 2.1.   

 To understand the declining number of conglomerates, Khorana et al. (2011) argue that spin-offs 

have proven to be the most effective mean of addressing a conglomerate discount, by empirically 

exhibiting median EV/EBITDA improvements of 0.3x for companies completing spin-offs in the 

period 2001-2010. This finding is systematically supported by Veld and Veld-Merkoulova’s (2009) 

review of empirical studies dealing with value creation through spin-offs. Here, Ibid. find that for 

U.S. stocks, investors can earn excess abnormal returns, following the announcement of a spin-off, 

Study Period Country Discount

Lang & Stulz (1994)

Journal of Political Economy
1978 - 1990 US 10-15%

Berger & Ofek (1995)

Journal of Financial Economics
1986 - 1991 US 13-15%

Denis et al. (1997)

The Journal of Finance 1984 - 1985 US 15%

Lins & Servaes (1999)

The Journal of Finance
1992 - 1994 UK | JP | DE 15% | 10% | 0%

Schwetzler & Reimund (2003)

Working paper, HHL Leipzig 1988 - 2001 DE 6%
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of 3.23% and 3.21% measured by the median and mean, respectively. The findings relating to U.S. 

stocks, from their empirical review, are presented in Table 2.2. 

Table 2.2 Empirical evidence on abnormal returns related to spin-off announcements in the U.S. 

Study Research period Observations Cumulative average abnormal return 

Schipper and Smith (1983)  1963-1981                      93  2.84%  

Hite and Owers (1983)  1963-1981                    123  3.30%  

Miles and Rosenfeld (1983)  1963-1980                      55  3.34%  

Rosenfeld (1984)  1963-1981                      35  5.56%  

Copeland et al. (1987)  1962-1982                    188  3.03%  

Denning (1988)  1970-1982                      42  2.58%  

Seifert and Rubin (1989)  1968-1983                      51  3.26%  

Ball et al. (1993)  1968-1990                      39  2.55%  

Vijh (1994)  1964-1990                    113  2.90%  

Allen et al. (1995)  1962-1991                      94  2.15%  

Michaely and Shaw (1995)  1981-1988                        9  3.19%  

Slovin et al. (1995)  1980-1991                      37  1.32%  

Steward and Walsh (1996)  1972-1987                      78  2.60%  

Johnson et al. (1996)  1975-1988                    104  3.96%  

Daley et al. (1997)  1975-1991                      85  3.40%  

Desai and Jain (1999)  1975-1991                    144  3.84%  

Krishnaswami and Subramaniam (1999)  1978-1993                    118  3.28%  

Mulherin and Boone (2000)  1990-1999                    106  4.51%  

Maxwell and Rao (2003)  1976-1997                      79  3.59%  

Veld and Veld-Merkoulova (2008)  1995-2002                      91  3.07%  

Median     3.23%  

Mean     3.21%  

Source: Own work based on Veld and Veld-Merkoulova (2009) 

Veld and Veld-Merkoulova (2009) further demonstrate that abnormal returns also occur subsequent 

to the actual completion of the spin-off, where the performance of stocks involved in a spin-off, both 

parent and subsidiary, increases over a period of 36 months.  

 Triangulating the empirical findings on conglomerate discount and abnormal returns related to 

spin-offs, the most efficient strategy of reducing a conglomerate discount is, according to Khorana et 

al. (2011), to spin off parts of the unrelated businesses. The implications of divesting as a value driver 

and discount-reducing strategy will be revisited in this thesis’ discussion. 

2.2. Theoretical framework 

From the vast amounts of theory and empirical analyses relating to the conglomerate discount, the 

authors have accounted for the most relevant and widespread studies. The following section will 

outline the specific theories that will be tested in this thesis.  
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2.2.1. Conglomerate theory tested 

This thesis will attempt to test seven well-considered hypotheses to validate the different results of 

contemporary empirical studies and assess the various theoretical rationales, in order to answer the 

research question. These hypotheses have been formed to, i) incorporate the most crucial factors of 

conglomerate theory, and ii) be of significant relevance to the case company, GE. As such, these 

hypotheses will guide the analysis. The hypotheses are presented in Table 2.3. 

Table 2.3 Overview of theoretical hypotheses 

 
Source: Own work 

  

No. Theory Hypothesis Sources

H1

Operational unpredictability and lack of 

financial transparency, typical for 

conglomerates, are punished by 

investors.

GE is valued at a conglomerate discount due to operational 

unpredictability and poor financial transparency.

Damodaran (2006), 

Linn & Rozeff (1984

H2

Lack of conglomerate understanding and 

financial transparency compel analysts 

to factor in a disocunt. 

GE is valued at a conglomerate discount to account for the 

risk of 'hidden' negative surprises in the analyst reports, 

which are of lower quality due to the mismatch between GE’s 

activities and equity analysts’ expertise.

Gilson et al. (2001), 

Habib et al. (1997)

H3

Unrelated diversification disables 

incentive schemes and enhances the 

risk of value destroying empire building.

GE is valued at a conglomerate discount to account for its 

unrelated diversification, which increases the risk of 

shareholder value destroying empire building.

Jensen (1986), 

Chen et al. (2011)

H4

Poor corporate governance enables 

conglomerate agency costs, stimulates 

opportunistic behavior and reduces 

value.

GE is valued at a conglomerate discount due to inefficient 

corporate governance.

Ammann et al. (2012), 

Masulis et al. (2007), 

Weiner (2005)

H5

A conglomerate is a package of bundled 

imperfectly correlated assets that offers 

high returns with reduced risk.

GE is valued at a conglomerate premium as investors receive 

high returns with lower risk relative to pure-play firms.
Markowitz (1952)

H6

Internal capital markets liberate 

conglomerates from external capital, 

enabling efficient investment 

management.

GE is valued at a conglomerate premium as it uses internal 

capital markets to pursue a winner-picking strategy.

Matvos & Seru (2014), 

Myer & Majluf (1984), 

Stein (1997)

H7

Imperfectly correlated cash flow 

streams reduce overall cash flow 

volatility, which reduces cost of debt 

and increases debt capacity.

GE is valued at a conglomerate premium due to coinsurance 

from its imperfectly correlated divisional cash flows that 

ensure an overall lowered cash flow volatility, enabling GE to 

obtain capital at a discount.

Hann et al. (2013), 

Servaes (1996),

Lewellen (1971)
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3. Method 

In light of the research question and guiding sub-questions, this section outlines the methodological 

fundament, as well as the many data sources that are key drivers of this thesis. It is paramount that a 

consistent and coherent application of method and the underlying paradigms are safeguarded.  

3.1. Research approach 

Post-positivism and the post-positivistic mindset serve as the applied methodological framework for 

this thesis. By conforming to this paradigm the authors position themselves as realists in search of 

causal explanations and evidence in relation to the proposed research question (Guba, 1990). The 

paradigm further expects practitioners of academia to incorporate and adapt relevant concepts in an 

appropriate manner without thwarting the conceptual origin. As realists, the authors submit to the 

mind-set, “that there exists a reality out there, driven by immutable natural laws”, and that, “the 

business of science is to discover the “true” nature of reality and how it “truly” works” (Guba, 

1990). The authors thereby acknowledge that with consistent observance, objective knowledge can 

be found and thus reality in its true form. Albeit, the authors must also acknowledge that as 

researchers they are prone to inherent weaknesses and biased in their methods and observation of 

their surroundings. Although impossible to eliminate, the authors will seek, at all costs, to minimize 

and correct any human biases affecting the outcome and results of the thesis.  

  In the pursuit of a bias-free assessment of true reality, the authors shall emerge themselves in 

extensive data triangulation of both different data types as well as valid and acceptable data sources. 

Any data advanced in the thesis shall be analyzed thoroughly and thoughtfully. This data-driven 

approach will, in its sole nature, contribute to a bias-free research process and thereby support the 

authors in advancing interpretations and conclusions that reflect true reality.  

3.1.1. Validation and reliability 

When engaging in academic writing, scholars must have a vigorous focus on quality. As quality can 

be interpreted differently, the authors wish to stress their understanding of this term. Validation and 

reliability are the fundamental drivers of quality in this thesis. Validation refers to the thesis’ ability 

to highlight and respond to the proposed research question while reliability evaluates whether other 

readers are able to replicate the findings through the defined and applied methods (Denzin & Lincoln, 

2011).  
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 The authors have a conscious focus on the relevance of every section of the thesis, in relation to 

answering the research question. By means of the analyses conducted, the authors ensure that the 

conclusions presented in the final section of the thesis, answer the research question in full. At all 

points in the thesis, the authors have ensured that the reader are aware of how conclusions are drawn 

and which material these are based on. This is how validation and reliability are ensured and 

ultimately the quality of the thesis (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011). 

3.2. Analysis method 

To thoroughly address the research question, the thesis’ analysis will attempt to test seven hypotheses, 

established in the theory section. As such, these hypotheses guide the analysis and ensure that the 

right elements are scrutinized and that the most relevant findings are highlighted. The findings of the 

analysis are eventually applied in testing the hypotheses, which is conducted in the findings section. 

 Following sections outline the analytical methods applied in the thesis’ analysis. Each sub-

section of the analysis applies a different method, and sub-sections are thus presented individually. 

3.2.1. Framing the analysis 

3.2.1.1. Testing the conglomerate discount (Tobin’s Q) 

A prevalent method to empirically evaluate the existence of a conglomerate discount is to investigate 

the relationship between a valuation measure and the level of diversification (Berger & Ofek, 1995). 

A popular choice of measurement is applying Tobin’s Q (Tobin, 1969) to assess the valuation and 

the Standard Industry Classification codes to determine the level of diversification of a company. In 

short, Tobin’s Q is the ratio of market value to book (replacement cost of assets) value of assets. The 

original Tobin’s Q formula to measure the market value of the company is extensive and practically 

cumbersome. However, below approximation set out by Chung & Pruitt (1994) explains as much as 

97% of the total variation in Tobin’s Q: 

𝑄𝐴𝑝𝑝𝑟𝑜𝑥𝑖𝑚𝑎𝑡𝑒𝑑 =
𝑀𝑉𝐸+𝑀𝑉𝐷+𝐿𝑉𝑃𝑆

𝑇𝑜𝑡𝑎𝑙 𝐴𝑠𝑠𝑒𝑡
   (Chung & Pruitt, 1994) 

where,  𝑀𝑉𝐸 = The market value of equity 

      𝑀𝑉𝐷 = The market value of debt 

      𝐿𝑉𝑃𝑆 = The liquidation value of preferred stock 

To determine if a relationship between valuation and diversification exists, two separate regressions 

are modelled. The first model is an Ordinary least squares (OLS) model with Tobin’s Q as the 

dependent variable and number of SIC codes as the explanatory variable (SIC_CODE). SIC codes 

are used to classify industries, whereas the first two digits indicate the general industry, in which a 
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company operates. As such, a conglomerate is defined as operating within two or more SIC-codes – 

measured at the second digit (Davis et al., 1994). The second model is a simple regression model with 

Tobin’s Q as the dependent variable and a binary variable that takes on the values 0 or 1 if the 

observation is a non-conglomerate or conglomerate, respectively. The general OLS is given by: 

𝑦𝑖 = �̂�𝑜 + �̂�1𝑋1 + �̂� = �̂�𝑖 + �̂�𝑖        (𝑖 = 1, … , 𝑛)       (Agresti & Franklin, 2013) 

where,   �̂�𝑜 = The OLS Estimator of the intercept coefficient 

        �̂�1 = The estimator of the slope coefficient 

        �̂�𝑖 = The OLS predicted values for sample observation i 

        �̂�𝑖 = The OLS residual for sample observation i 

3.2.1.2. Testing stock performance and diversification benefit 

The study applies the one-sample t-test, which tests the significance of differences in means. The t-

test is based on two hypotheses. The alternative hypothesis implies that some difference exists 

between the true mean (μ) and the comparison value (m0) while the null hypothesis assumes that no 

difference exists. Based on sampled data, the null is either rejected or not. Return metrics for a 

sampled portfolio are tested against GE’s actual returns via a one-directional t-test. The t-test 

produces a p-value indicating the probability of observing the test results under the null. All tests are 

conducted in RStudio and input codes are provided in Appendix 1.  

 The study tests dependent variable Return and addresses the variables Beta, Standard Deviation, 

and Sharpe Ratio. See Appendix 2 for a list of sample firms and variable computations. The variables 

are computed for three periods:  

Table 3.1 Stock performance periods 

 
Source: Own work 

For each period, the study tests the null hypothesis; that the mean portfolio return is not different from 

m0, against the alternative hypothesis; that the mean portfolio return is greater than a value m0. As 

the portfolio’s mean return relative to GE’s mean return is the objective of the test, the study tests: 

𝐻0: 𝜇𝑟𝑒𝑡𝑢𝑟𝑛 = 𝑀𝑒𝑎𝑛 𝑅𝑒𝑡𝑢𝑟𝑛𝐺𝐸  

𝐻1: 𝜇𝑟𝑒𝑡𝑢𝑟𝑛 > 𝑀𝑒𝑎𝑛 𝑅𝑒𝑡𝑢𝑟𝑛𝐺𝐸 

Period Dates In text reference Cycle

1 31/12/2006 - 31/6/2012 2007-2012H1 Downturn

2 31/6/2012 - 31/12/2017 2012H2-2017 Upswing

3 31/12/2006 - 31/12/2017 2007- 2017 Full cycle
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3.2.2. Strategic and market analysis 

As conglomerates are inherently complex, it is necessary to break down the company into its 

segments and analyze each of these separately, to understand where the value is generated. The 

strategic and market analysis will dive into the eight divisions of GE, to ascertain their performance 

and the overall value drivers of the company. This will be conducted by scrutinizing the divisions at 

the macro- and microeconomic level and assess each division’s market position in relation to peers 

and competitors. The foundational differences between the large number of divisions, renders a one-

fits-all analysis approach prone to errors. Instead, the authors will investigate the most relevant 

divisional areas, using elements from different conventional frameworks, such as PESTLE for the 

macro-level and Porter’s Five Forces (Porters, 1980). for the micro-level. Yet, as the objective of the 

analysis is to gain an understanding of GE and its value drivers, these frameworks will not be worked 

through from A to Z, more so, they function as supportive mechanisms, guiding the analysis in the 

right direction. Finally, the divisional analyses will be summarized using an extended version of the 

SWOT model.  

3.2.3. Governance and accounting analysis  

The governance and accounting analysis takes a qualitative and investigative analysis approach to 

GE’s management and reporting standards. Qualitative material will be reviewed to obtain an 

objective and historical understanding of the governance and accounting standards at GE. The 

analysis will apply corporate governance analysis methodology to understand the impact of decisions 

made by GE’s management, and will adhere to principles and practices from general accounting 

methodology, but also the more specific rules and guidance’s by FASB in the GAAP principles.  

3.2.4. Financial statement and reporting analysis 

The financial statement and reporting analysis will take an investigative approach to the financial 

statements, attempting to explore and uncover any peculiarities. The analysis will be condensed and 

will not go into detail on all four financial statements. Instead, the analysis will deploy practices from 

accounting and financial statement analysis frameworks to understand the interplay between GE’s 

consolidated statements and the statements reporting for GE and GE Capital individually. Any 

peculiarity discovered will be scrutinized particularly via the notes to the financial statements but also 

via professional commentators and analysts.  
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3.2.5. Valuation 

In this thesis, an alternative valuation approach will be applied, accounted for in following sections. 

The valuation of the thesis is fixed on the date, March 2nd, 2018, thus enabling the utilization of 2017 

financial figures. The alternative valuation approach consists of a multiples analysis valuation for six 

of GE’s divisions and a special type of valuation for the last two, which will be presented in the 

valuation analysis. 

3.2.5.1. Waiving the theoretically accurate Discounted cash flow analysis 

The alternative valuation approach will be applied in lieu of the traditional Discounted cash flow 

analysis (DCF), as the authors deem the company’s accounting standards of such a poor quality that 

it would be absurd to utilize the majority of this paper on computations of insincere figures. Due to 

the DCF model’s strong dependence on a variety of assumptions on input variables and financial 

projections, a DCF is only as accurate as the forecast it relies on (Koller, et al., 2010). However, in 

the case of GE, significant complexity and lack of opacity in financial reports, combined with 

unpredictability in operational figures and their volatile character, incapacitate the creation of a 

credible operational forecast. Further, it is not possible to perform a cost-driven forecast, as the 

financial reports simply lack divisional transparency on costs. As such, a DCF model on the divisions 

of GE would require vast amounts of assumptions, whereas the majority would be farfetched. For 

these reasons, this thesis’ valuation of GE will be conducted through an alternative valuation 

technique using multiples analysis. The complexity of GE’s figures and the necessity of resorting to 

alternative methods is supported by finance professor Aswath Damodaran stating that, “If you wanted 

to create a valuation hell, it would be GE” (Stewart, 2017). 

 The results of the multiples-based valuation will be benchmarked on the findings and valuation 

approaches of equity analysts, to test the valuation’s plausibility. Analysts listed as covering the GE 

stock on Capital IQ are ‘specialized’ in this company, and as such, reports from these analysts will 

be analyzed. The analysts’ valuation approaches should be state of the art and thus optimal 

benchmarks for any valuation of GE. 

3.2.5.2. Multiples analysis  

Multiples analysis, in which the company’s multiples are compared to those of similar companies 

(peers), is most often used as a supporting valuation that tests the plausibility of the DCF models’ 

outcome by comparing company performance to industry players (Koller, et al., 2010). Nonetheless, 
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a carefully conducted multiples analysis can be applied as a valuation model, on a stand-alone basis, 

given the foundation of strategic, accounting and financial analyses.  

 The underlying assumption of multiples analysis, as a valuation method, is that companies with 

similar characteristics should be valued at comparable multiples, all else being equal (Koller, et al., 

2010). Hence, to ensure validity, the firm in question and its peers must be comparable. The applied 

comparability characteristics for gathering and assessing potential peers will be presented in the 

valuation analysis, as peer selection is an analytical process rather than a methodological or data 

collection procedure. Regarding validity, the following sections address three key requirements to 

conducting a multiples analysis (Koller, et al., 2010).  

3.2.5.3. Type of multiple 

Various multiple types can be applied in multiples analysis. Broadly speaking, these multiples are 

divided into two groups; operating multiples that refer to the operating results of the entire company 

and equity multiples, which refer to the company’s value that is available to equity holders. Although 

widely used, the latter is suboptimal in multiples valuation as they are influenced by capital structure 

and non-operating items such as one-time gains and losses (Koller, et al., 2010). Hence, this thesis 

will apply operating multiples, which always use enterprise value (EV) as numerator.  

 When computing operating multiples for valuation purposes, the profitability measure relating 

to EV must be determined. The assumption is that this measure is strongly correlated with the value 

of the firm, and is as such an expression of how much the company is worth. This thesis will apply 

both EBIT and EBITDA, which combined capture the essential value drivers of a company (Koller, 

et al., 2010). As the formulae below illustrate, the EV-to-EBIT (or EBITDA) multiple captures four 

fundamental value drivers (Koller, et al., 2010): 

𝐸𝑉 =
𝑁𝑂𝑃𝐴𝑇(1−

𝑔

𝑅𝑂𝐼𝐶
)

𝑊𝐴𝐶𝐶−𝑔
,     →      

𝐸𝑉

𝐸𝐵𝐼𝑇
=

(1−𝑇)(1−
𝑔

𝑅𝑂𝐼𝐶
)

𝑊𝐴𝐶𝐶−𝑔
   (Koller, et al., 2010) 

Essentially, these key value drivers can be described as a cash-flow-based valuation formula with 

operating profit adjusted for taxes (NOPAT), return on invested capital (ROIC), growth (g) and the 

weighted-average-cost-of-capital (WACC). By disaggregating NOPAT into its components and 

dividing both sides by the operating profit (EBIT), the second formula is formed. 

 In valuations, the profitability measure is typically based on projected profits rather than 

historical, creating forward multiples (Koller, et al., 2010). Yet, projecting GE’s financials, especially 
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on a divisional level, is somewhat infeasible (cf. section 5.2), for which reason historical data will be 

applied. Further, as this thesis seeks to estimate the fair value as of March 2nd, 2018, the authors have 

chosen to structure the valuation on multiples that are based on data from this date. 

3.2.5.4. Consistency and enterprise value 

When computing a multiple that captures the entire value of a firm it is crucial to utilize a theoretically 

consistent method when forming the EV-to-EBIT (or EBITDA) multiple. First, the EV must include 

all types of investor capital but only entail the value that is attributable to assets that generate EBIT 

(or EBITDA). As such, non-operating assets not contributing to EBIT (or EBITDA) must be deducted 

from the EV (Koller, et al., 2010). This includes nonconsolidated subsidiaries, minority interest and 

the value of unfunded pension liabilities.  

3.2.5.5. Applying the most accurate multiples for valuation 

When comparing the company’s multiple with a peer group, simply applying the peer group average 

leads to a less accurate result. Instead, it is crucial to assess the firm’s performance and compare its 

multiple with the peers that best reflect the company’s performance (Koller, et al., 2010). Hence, if 

the company is an industry leader, it should be valued correspondingly by applying a multiple from 

the higher end of the peer group, and vice versa. This approach will be adopted in the valuation 

analysis.  

3.2.6. Multiples analysis valuation: Two techniques 

The thesis will apply two techniques, public company comparables and precedent transactions – also 

known as public comps and transaction comps – to gather the multiples (Koller, et al., 2010). 

Compiling valuation multiples by more than one method enables triangulating the results. As such, it 

will be possible to test the plausibility of the outcome. 

3.2.6.1. Comparative analysis of the two multiples analyses 

The two multiples analyses share many commonalities, yet they are severely different regarding data 

used and the underlying theoretical rationales for their applicability as a valuation method. The 

following table summarizes the most evident advantages and disadvantages of each technique. There 

are certain overlaps between public and transaction comps, however, presented in the table, the two 

analyses also complement each other. Thus, by adhering to both methods, the multiples-based 

valuation will gain a holistic perspective.  
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Table 3.2 Advantages and disadvantages of the two multiple analysis techniques 

 
Source: Own work based on the authors considerations and Koller et al. (2010) 

3.3. Data collection 

Following sections present the data collection process and briefly ascertain certain data limits. 

3.3.1. Tobin’s Q 

The analysis is conducted on a data extraction from Orbis, a global provider of financial data on 

public and private companies worldwide. A dataset is extracted for all companies that are located in 

the U.S. and are publicly listed on an exchange. The dataset is extracted for 2016 rather than 2017 as 

a considerable time lag exists between the time company reports are published and the time the 

database is fully updated. This yields a dataset of 9,940 entries to which some adjustments have been 

made. First, all entries that lack the necessary financial data points required to compute Tobin’s Q 

are removed from the sample. Second, all entries with a negative Tobin’s Q are removed as the 

measurement cannot theoretically take on values below 0 (Tobin, 1969). Finally, a statistical 

summary of the dataset reveals that the sample contains several outliers that have to be removed. The 

outliers are primarily caused by erroneous entries in the Orbis database. The outer fences determine 

the upper and lower thresholds for outliers and are set at [0;15]. The final sample consists of 1,445 

observations of which 672 operate in one SIC code, 420 operate in two SIC codes, 188 operate in 

three SIC codes, and 165 operate in more than three SIC codes 

3.3.2. Stock performance test 

Data collection for the test is two-fold. First, a population of companies operating in GE’s industries 

is collected. The population dataset has been cleaned, and a random sample is drawn, after which the 

stock prices can be collected for the sampled firms.  

 The population has been collected from Orbis using SIC codes as the identifier. The data extract 

consists of 1,220 entries. Orbis provides SIC codes for GE and these have been used as primary 

identifiers. The provided SIC codes have been scrutinized and some adjustments and additions have 

been made based on a comparison with relevant peers. Companies have been selected based on the 
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3-digit SIC as this deems the most accurate fit. Sampled firms have a minimum market capitalization 

of USD 1m, and are incorporated in either the U.S. or Europe as these are GE’s primary markets. 

 Data extracts have been conducted on a divisional level. The data composition can be seen in 

Table 3.3. The data extract has been cleaned for companies with missing data, data older than 2016 

and for companies operating in more than two 2-digit SICs, as these are defined as conglomerates. 

Table 3.3 Data composition for stock performance test 

  Revenue split Sample size 3-digit SIC Population 

GE Aviation 22% 9 372 56 
GE Power 29% 12 351; 493 115 
GE Renewable Energy 8% 3 491 237 
GE Oil & Gas 14% 6 353; 138 252 
GE Healthcare 15% 6 384; 382 461 
GE Transportation 3% 1 374; 353 21 
GE Lighting 2% 1 364 12 
GE Capital 7% 3 614 66 

Sample Data 100% 41 - 1,220 

Source: Own work; SIC codes compiled at Orbis (2018) 

EXCEL’s RAND formula was used to randomly sample a specified number of companies from each 

division equivalent to the revenue splits presented in Table 3.3. Yahoo Finance was used to compile 

stock data for each sample entry for the periods described in Table 3.3. If data was unavailable, the 

entry was discarded and a new entry was selected. Missing data was mostly related to the company 

being listed within the period 2007-2012. The sampled portfolio of 41 companies replicates the asset 

mix of GE and should therefore represent a copy of the return and diversification benefits achieved 

by investing in GE.  

 Despite a stringent process on the data collection, the authors are aware of some limitations and 

flaws the data might have. First, companies in the sample may have changed over time, moving from 

one SIC to another why returns may incorrectly reflect a wrong industry for some part of the test 

period. Second, entries may have been a growth company at the beginning of the period therefore 

exhibiting abnormal returns throughout the period. Third, some divisions operate across two 2-digit 

SICs (and thus also 3-digit). This means that a company exactly matching that division could not be 

sampled because it was discarded as a conglomerate. Fourth, the sample only includes firms that 

survived in the period, which may contribute to an upward bias in the sample portfolio returns. 

Finally, GE has also changed significantly over time, which means that the portfolio suffers from 

inaccurate distributions of the industry weights across the period.  

 Distribution of mean returns for the companies in the sampled portfolio was analyzed to check 

for outliers in either extreme and rule out growth companies. Market capitalization was also 
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scrutinized for each entry at the beginning of the period to ensure that this was larger than USD 1m. 

The history of each entry was briefly investigated to ensure some consistency in operations in 2007 

versus 2017. No entries were discarded for these reasons.  

3.3.3. Analysis 

The case company is a publicly listed company and the thesis therefore relies mostly on publicly 

available data to mirror the perspectives of analysts and investors. Some analyses are based on data 

sources available on subscription. However, these are only based on publicly available data as well 

and have been provided by the authors’ employers; Deloitte Touche Tomatsu and Danske Bank A/S.  

 The thesis relies on data and statements provided by GE in their annual reports, investor 

presentations and other qualitative material made available by GE. As a legal entity reporting to the 

SEC, the authors expect that such material is of a bona fide character. The thesis thereby hinges on 

the SEC’s ability to safeguard the reporting laws on which the integrity of the financial system relies. 

Both authors have professional and academic experience with GAAP reporting and share the opinion 

that US companies have varying interpretations of the GAAP rules. This issue is particularly related 

to pro forma statements and other non-GAAP metrics reported by the company. The authors further 

realize that with organizational growth follows financial complexity and thereby the ability to ‘dress 

the numbers’. Further, GE reports as both an industrial firm and financial institution entailing 

additional complexity, as accounting methods under GAAP (and IFRS) are widely different for these 

types of institutions. Finally, acquisitions and divestments materially altering the financial statements 

require a two-year reclassification of annual reports, which may lead to discrepancies across reports. 

Thus, sources such as S&P’s Capital IQ, Moody’s, Thomson Research and others are applied to cross-

reference and validate the authors’ numbers with those of analysts and other accounting experts.  

 Data for the strategy and market analysis is obtained through a number of highly accredited 

sources such as World Bank, OECD’s Databank, Reuters, Statista and government institutions such 

as U.S. Energy Information Administration. The strategic and market analysis also relies on data from 

market reports and analyst institutions such as MarketLine, Frost & Sullivan, GlobalData and others. 

These reports are often based on extensive research and provide estimates on market sizes, market 

shares and growth rates as well as commentaries to industry dynamics. The authors are thorough in 

their application of these sources and cross-reference statements on the industries across several 

sources to limit analysis biases. 
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 The majority of data used in the governance analysis is compiled through extensive search 

processes of GE-related articles. First and foremost, the authors have searched top news providers 

such as Wall Street Journal, Financial Times, Bloomberg, CNN, New York Times and others, for any 

articles related to GE and in particular those dealing with governance and management. To ensure 

that all information relevant to the current state of GE was assessed, the data search went back 

approximately 10 years, yet only relevant articles were scrutinized. Naturally, the analysis also 

examines information provided in GE’s annual reports.  

 The data used in the accounting and financial reporting stems, to a large degree, from GE’s 

annual reports, which have been compiled at the company website. Yet, some of the data used in the 

section originates from the articles investigated in the governance analysis. Accounting and financial 

data on GE’s closest peers has been compiled using Capital IQ. 

3.3.3.1. Valuation data 

The required financial figures of the case company are obtained from annual reports. Collection of 

peer group data for public comps is largely conducted through Capital IQ, and as such, relies heavily 

on the accuracy of this platform’s data. Utilizing this platform allows the authors to obtain comparable 

figures in a systematic manner, while avoiding the risk of human error when converting these 

numbers to identical units. To ensure integrity in the peer group analysis, the authors cross-reference 

data input from Capital IQ with that of the respective peers’ annual reports.  

 Data collection for transaction comps is conducted through Mergermarket. The platform provides 

transaction data on previous transactions, worldwide. By setting up industry search criteria, 

corresponding to the GE divisions, and filtering for transactions completed within the last two years 

of the valuation date, data on 10,051 transactions is extracted. This data is filtered to only contain 

transactions where valuation-specific data, such as EV, EBITDA and EBIT, is published.  

 Equity analyst reports are compiled using Thomson Research. The data includes 46 reports from 

10 different equity research institutions. The pattern of when reports are published is somewhat 

scattered, with certain analysts publishing in a given time interval, and others publishing when there 

is new information to analyze. To obtain a significant data sample, the reports are gathered from week 

4 to 16 of 2018. While the authors acknowledge that this range exceeds the thesis’ valuation date, 

and that the valuations as such cannot be directly compared, however, scrutinizing the equity analysts’ 

valuation approaches should provide crucial insights. 
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3.4. Assumptions and delimitations 

Following list presents the general assumptions and delimitations of the thesis. 

 As GE is a publicly traded company, only publicly available information has been applied in 

the analysis and valuation of the company.  

 GE published its annual report on March 2nd, 2018, which has been set as the cut-off date for 

information used in this thesis, except for data from the research on equity analyst reports.  

 The thesis mainly applies historical figures from the period 2013-2017. However, certain GE 

divisions do not exist for this full period, for which reason adjustments have been made. 

Larger changes in GE’s corporate structure have compelled the authors to, at certain points, 

reduce the analyzed period. 

 GE’s wide-spanning business activities require the authors to limit the analysis, at certain 

points, to the most relevant areas. The strategic and market analysis covers the activities 

generating the majority of revenue and profits, while the governance, accounting, and 

financial statement analyses scrutinize the aspects influencing GE the most, or those that are 

of unusual character. The assumptions on the valuation analysis are presented in the valuation 

section.  

 In the analysis, certain companies operating under different accounting standards, IFRS and 

GAAP, have been assumed comparable despite this. As the comparative analyses are based 

on general performance metrics, differences in specific accounting guidelines should not, to 

a significant degree, influence the overall results from such analyses. 

 A lack of transparency on GE’s divisional financial reporting requires the authors to reverse-

engineer the divisional profit-measures, EBITDA and EBIT, from the reported NOPAT. By 

doing so, the authors assume that net interest expenses are distributed on the divisions, 

according to their revenue-weight relative to GE’s total revenue. Further, a general tax level 

for these divisions has been assumed, due to the unpredictability in GE’s effective tax rates. 

 The authors are educated in general accounting and financial statement analysis, while GE’s 

financial reporting complexity, at certain points, require a higher education to comprehend. 
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4. Framing the analysis 

With a review of historical and contemporary literature on the topic of mergers and conglomerates, 

the thesis is now ready to frame the analysis. The following sections will focus on addressing the 

relevance of a conglomerate study by assessing current valuations of U.S. conglomerates and 

subsequently introduce the relevant case company. The section finishes with a test on stock 

performance to put the performance of the case company into a market perspective.   

4.1. Setting the stage: Unrelated diversification in the U.S. 

Literature reviewed in section 2.1 suggests that conflicting perspectives on the valuation of 

conglomerates still exists. Despite the empirical evidence reviewed in that section, conglomerates are 

still present in today’s corporate environment. To establish a baseline for the impending case study 

of General Electric, this section conducts a brief OLS regression analysis to ascertain the current 

valuation landscape of U.S. conglomerates. Method and data collection were presented in section 3.  

 In short, the OLS regression run the dependent variable, Tobin’s Q, a valuation metric, against 

the continuous variable SIC_CODE and the binary variable Conglomerate, for a sample of 1,722 

firms. The continuous variable indicates the number of SIC codes a company operates in and the 

binary whether the firm is a conglomerate or not. The output of the OLS models are shown in Table 

4.1. 

Table 4.1 Regression model output 

Source: Own work based on Orbis (2018) processed in RStudio 

 

 Dependent Variable 

 Tobin’s Q 

 (1) (2) 

SIC_CODE -0.192***  

 (-0.283, -0.102)  

Conglomerate  -0.306*** 

  (-0.527, -0.084) 

Constant 2.331*** 2.116*** 

 (2.121, 2.541) (1.954, 2.278) 

   

Observations 1,445 1,445 

R2 0.012 0.005 

Adjusted R2 0.011 0.004 

Residual Std. Error (df = 1402) 2.136 2.143 

F Statistic (df = 1; 1402) 17.230*** 7.322*** 

Note: *p<0.1; **p<0.05; ***p<0.01 
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4.1.1. Results and discussion 

The coefficients for both models are negative and statistically significant, supporting the existence of 

a conglomerate discount. The continuous model shows that for every SIC code a company adds, the 

valuation, in this case Tobin’s Q, of the company falls by -0.121. The binary model offers a similar 

conclusion as the coefficient shows a lower valuation when the company is a conglomerate. However, 

as the R2 values indicate, the models have to be interpreted with caution. Both regressions include 

just one explanatory variable and it seems that SIC codes explain very little of the variation in Tobin’s 

Q. This implies that the negative relationships are partially explained by other factors and that the 

model likely suffers from omitted variable bias. However, a multiple regression analysis would 

require both extensive discussions of econometric modeling and variable inputs as well as additional 

data collection. This is not within the scope of the thesis considering the illustrative point this analysis 

aims to provide. The negative relationship found in the investigations serve, simply, as justifications 

to continue with a case-based study of the contemporary literature.  

4.2. Introduction of the case company 

Having established that a discount valuation exists among U.S. conglomerates, it is now relevant to 

introduce the company that will be at the center of this case study. GE is one of the largest 

conglomerates worldwide and has a long and prominent place in American business history. The 

company, however, has been ailing in recent time, making it a highly relevant company for a case 

study on valuation of conglomerates. The forthcoming section will introduce the case company.  

4.2.1. Light-bulbs and mortgage loans: A history of General Electric 

GE was born in a merger between two light-bulb manufacturers Edison General Electric Company 

and Thomson-Houston Company in 1892. By 1912, the company was pioneering electric appliances 

and radio broadcasts to U.S. households (GE, 2018b). The company was one of twelve original 

companies obtained in the DJIA in 1986 and remains listed today (GE, 2018b). Throughout the 20th 

century, GE expanded into several unrelated industries and by 1981, when Jack Welch was appointed 

CEO, the company was among the world’s most diversified.  
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Jack Welch: A management genius or a fraud? 

With a rigorous management style, Jack Welch slimmed the company from 150 divisions to 15. 

Welch adhered to a simple philosophy – each unit had to be number one or two in its industry, thereby 

slimming the corporation to winning industries (Leinwand & Mainardi, 2012). During his 20-year 

tenure, Welch returned an astounding 25% annually to shareholders, turning a USD 12,000 

investment into USD 1m over 20 years (Slud, 2000). 

 Despite the glory and fame most often connected with Welch’s legacy, significant events during 

his successor’s tenure have severely soiled this reputation. Depending on who you ask, Jack Welch 

is either a management legend, extremely lucky, or a fraud that liked to cook the books (Ritholtz, 

2017). Ritzholt (2017) points to the fact that Welch led GE through an 18-year long bull market and 

finance professor and valuation expert, Aswath Damodaran, agrees that Welch, “[…] was never as 

good as he was made out to be […] he benefited solely from the growth of financial services in the 

American economy and the growth of GE Capital. That’s what made GE untouchable for so long” 

(Stewart, 2017). Essentially, Mr. Damodaran was alluding to the fact that GE Capital was really just 

an opaque leveraged hedge fund that helped Welch smooth and manage GE’s earnings every quarter 

(Colvin, 2008). Professor Greenwald at University of Columbia also agreed that most of Jack Welch’s 

success stemmed from his over-reliance on financial products, “[…] it was contributing 60 percent 

of profits, and Jack Welch could always tweak the earnings by turning to GE Capital” (Stewart, 

2017). Barron's for example, reported that the company underfunded reinsurance reserves by USD 

9.4bn, helping to inflate profits from 1997 to 2001 (Stewart, 2017). Mr. Damodaran further states that 

he warned GE executives in 2005, “You’re getting away with this now, but if there’s ever a crisis, 

this will come back to haunt you” (Stewart, 2017) referring to the complexity of GE’s design and the 

lack of risk management and governance at GE Capital. In 2007, when credit markets froze, the losses 

at GE Capital were so enormous that the entire GE was de facto insolvent. However, as GE had grown 

into one of the largest financial firms in the U.S., it was considered ‘too big to fail’. Saved by a capital 

infusion from Berkshire Hathaway and subsequent equity issues aided by TARP, GE lived to divest 

another day (Colvin, 2008).  

Jeffrey Immelt: Navigating turbulent times 

Jeffrey Immelt spent the greater part of his tenure continuing the strategy of his former boss by 

refocusing the company and doubling down on core competencies (Ritholtz, 2017). Immelt 

supervised some 380 acquisitions and divested assets worth USD 400bn. Striking 46 deals annually, 
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Immelt placed USD 1.7bn in investment bankers’ pockets, which unfortunately stands as a painful 

contrast to the stock return he provided shareholders (Gara, 2017). As Figure 4.1 demonstrates, 

Jeffrey Immelt almost halved GE’s stock price during his tenure while both the DJIA and 

conglomerate peer Honeywell fared significantly better with returns of 140% and 388%, respectively.  

Figure 4.1 Stock returns 2001-2018 

 
Source: Own work based on data compilations from Capital IQ (2018) 

Disregarding the poor stock performance, Jeffrey Immelt navigated GE through the September 11 

attacks as well as the financial crisis all while he reshaped the business (Gara, 2017). Apart from 

narrowing the business focus, Immelt also invested heavily in digital services and disruptive 

technologies and ensured that data, analytics and technologies became an integral driver across every 

GE division. Despite the many initiatives, GE’s stock declined 36% during his 16 years as CEO, and 

eventually in 2017, he was ‘retired’ from his position by the actions of activist investor, Trian Partners 

(Blank, 2017). As Immelt receives his severance package amounting to USD 112m (Ritcey & Melin, 

2017), he hands over a company that sits on a focused and globalized portfolio, a company vision 

and a strong position to lead in digital and additive manufacturing (Gara, 2017). 

4.2.2. John Flannery and the future of GE 

John Flannery took on the role as CEO of GE on August 1st, 2017, and made it his top priority to 

review the portfolio. He concluded that GE was running too many businesses to do them all justice, 

particularly due to both financial and management bandwidth (GE, 2018a). Flannery is expected to 

narrow down the long-term focus to three segments where GE can make a significant impact for 

customers and drive returns for investors. These segments include aviation, health, and energy - the 

latter covering Renewable Energy, Power and Baker Hughes, a GE Company (Oil & Gas) (GE, 

-100%

0%

100%

200%

300%

400%

500%

Jan-01 Jan-03 Jan-05 Jan-07 Jan-09 Jan-11 Jan-13 Jan-15 Jan-17

P
er

ce
n

ta
ge

 C
h

an
ge

 in
 S

to
ck

 P
ri

ce

General Electric Dow Jones Industrial Average Honeywell Inc.



4 | Framing the analysis 

Page 37 of 157 

2018a). As a part of the turnaround plan, Flannery and his team have identified more than USD 20bn 

in assets for potential exit and they already have 20 dispositions in active discussion.  

 Analyzing GE’s business portfolio over the last decade clearly illustrates the transformative 

nature of the company. As Figure 4.2 depicts, GE Capital is the only business unit that has endured 

in its original structure. However, this division, which in 2008 accounted for 38% of the total revenue, 

has been scaled down significantly and only generated 7% of 2017 revenue, with further divestments 

in the pipeline (GE, 2018a).   

Figure 4.2 GE’s historical revenue split 

 
Source: Own work based on GE annual reports (2008-2017); Note: Diagonal pattern indicates a division splitting up or merging 

The core business units, as defined by Flannery, were originally combined in the Energy and 

Technology Infrastructure divisions that made up 47% of the total revenue in 2008. However, through 

an active restructuring strategy, GE has transformed over the last decade. Most recently, in 2013, the 

Appliances sub-segment was merged into Lighting, and in 2016 GE sold off the remainders of the 

unit. Within the same period, Energy Connections was restructured into the Power division, laying 

the foundation for the anticipated core energy division. In the annual report of 2017, the original two 

infrastructure divisions have been split into six segments; Power, Renewable Energy, Oil & Gas, 

Aviation, Healthcare and Transportation, whereas the latter is considered non-core. The five core 

divisions make up 88% of 2017 revenue, showing that Flannery has selected the business units that 

drive most of GE’s growth to be the core of future operations.  

 Significant changes are also being made at the board and executive levels in terms of size, 

compensation and accountability. A turnaround is incomplete without focus on change management 

and culture, an insight that is highlighted as a key priority in the annual report. For Flannery, 2018 

will be a year of recommitting to the fundamentals and earning back investors trust (GE, 2018a). 
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4.2.3. Corporate governance and ownership structure 

GE’s board of directors (BoD) currently consist of 13 members, two internal and 11 external of which 

six are independent (GE, 2018a). The board’s expertise largely represents GE’s market presence in 

terms of revenue, while smaller divisions, such as Renewable Energy has no representation.  

 GE is widely held with 99.9% free float in shares and just two investors holding more than 5%. 

This is generally a positive sign in terms of governance structure, yet according to Capital IQ, 29% 

of shares are owned by index funds. These funds buy and sell the stock for replication of index and 

rebalancing purposes only and do not exercise their voting rights, reducing shareholder activism. 

 GE scores 0.31 on antitakeover provisions on a 0 to 1 scale. In comparison, GE’s conglomerate 

peers score an average of 0.18 while the wider industrial industry scores 0.21 (Capital IQ, 2018). A 

higher score indicates stronger protection and GE‘s management is thus more protected, eventually 

reducing the efficiency of the market for corporate control. Appendix 3 provides a breakdown of 

ownership structure, activist investors, board composition and antitakeover provisions. 

4.3. GE in a peer perspective: Testing stock performance 

Inspired by (Smith & Schreiner, 1969; Westerfield, 1970; Weston, et al., 1972; Melicher & Rush, 

1973; Mason & Goudzward, 1976) the following empirical test seeks to address GE’s stock 

performance in relation to the market and its peers. The approaches and pitfalls from these studies 

have been synthesized and accounted for in the test. The test applies general and simple statistical 

methods to test for significance in means and follows the statistical methods for data collection and 

random sampling. Method and data collection were presented in section 3.  

 The study compares the return statistics of a random portfolio of industrial and non-industrial 

firms to the actual returns of GE. Refined by Melicher & Rush (1973), this study includes a period of 

economic distress (2007-2012H1) as well as a period of economic advancement (2012H2-2017) 

eluding the study from the pitfalls of (Weston, et al., 1972). Like Mason & Goudzwaard (1976), the 

random portfolio is sampled to match the asset mix of GE.  

 The test will answer how GE’s stock perform, relative to a portfolio of pure-play firms available 

to investors in the market. Stock performance is measured in terms of return but will also be evaluated 

on volatility and thus in a risk-return perspective (Smith & Schreiner, 1969). The purpose is further 

to provide an indication of GE’s diversification efficiency and ability to allocate capital in high return 

projects, as the internal capital markets theory dictates (cf. section 2.1).  
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4.3.1.  Results 

Table 4.2 below summarizes the results from the study. The study finds that the random sampled 

portfolio has monthly returns greater than both GE and the market for each period. The portfolio’s 

return for Period 1 is not significant at any level while Period 2 and Period 3 are significantly greater 

than GE’s mean return at the 99% significance level. The return results indicate that despite Immelt’s 

refocusing efforts, GE has not been able to redeploy capital at high return projects.  

Table 4.2 Return and volatility results 
Average Monthly Return Period 1: 2007 - 2012H1 Period 2: 2012H2 - 2017 Period 3: 2007 - 2017 

Sample Portfolio 0.91% 1.21%*** 1.06%*** 
p-value 0.1077000 0.0005874 0.0044680 

General Electric 0.05% 0.04% 0.05% 
S&P 500 0.08% 1.13% 0.60% 
Standard Deviation       

Sample Portfolio 5.58% 2.81% 4.40% 
General Electric 10.57% 5.35% 8.34% 
S&P 500 5.35% 2.71% 4.25% 
Beta       

Sample Portfolio 0.90 0.71 0.85 
General Electric 1.59 1.04 1.45 
S&P 500 1.00 1.00 1.00 
Sharpe Ratio   

Sample Portfolio 0.11 0.37 0.19 
General Electric -0.02 -0.03 -0.02 
S&P 500 -0.04 0.35 0.09 

Note: *** 99% significance-level 
Source: Own work based on Orbis (2018); Capital IQ (2018); Processed in R Studio 

The results further show that GE has a higher standard deviation and beta than the sample portfolio 

for all three periods, despite lower returns. Indeed, the Sharpe Ratio for GE confirms that the 

company’s risk-adjusted return appears to be significantly worse than both the sampled portfolio as 

well as the market. This indicates that GE is not diversifying with the efficiency of a ‘Markowitz 

(1952) portfolio’.  

4.3.1.1. Discussion of results 

Analyzing the return data for Period 1 the authors find the sample portfolio return to be considerably 

higher than those of both GE and S&P500. This high return might be a result of the upward sample 

bias addressed in section 3, namely the survival bias and the fact that some companies may have been 

a ‘growth’ company initially. GE’s returns, however, are consistently lower throughout all periods. 

S&P500’s returns are also lower than the sample portfolio but follow the actual historical market 

trends. S&P500’s standard deviations are lower than the sampled portfolio but the difference is small 

and confirms Markowitz’ (1952) proposition that 40 companies are well sufficient to create market-

like diversification. The question remains, nonetheless, whether other conglomerates offer returns 
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like GE or like the sampled portfolio. From Table 4.3., it seems that selected conglomerates generally 

perform much better than GE over all three periods. Indeed, Honeywell and Danaher also offer equal 

or higher returns than the sampled portfolio, but also does so with a higher standard deviation, 

indicating that these also suffer from some diversification inefficiency. Interestingly, all four 

conglomerates exhibit a superior Sharpe Ratio in the downturn period relative to GE, but also relative 

to the general market. 

Table 4.3 Return and volatility for selected peers 
Average Monthly Return Period 1: 2007 - 2012H1 Period 2: 2012H2 - 2017 Period 3: 2007 - 2017 
Honeywell International 0.96% 1.79% 1.37% 
Danaher 0.89% 2.25% 1.50% 
Johnson & Johnson (J&J) 0.42% 1.36% 0.89% 
United Technologies Corp. 0.53% 1.25% 0.89% 
Standard Deviation       

Honeywell International 8.54% 3.31% 6.47% 
Danaher 6.16% 6.78% 6.49% 
J&J 4.59% 3.67% 4.16% 
United Technologies Corp. 6.45% 4.69% 5.63% 
Beta       

Honeywell International 1.38 0.86 1.27 
Danaher 0.94 0.94 0.94 
J&J 0.56 0.70 0.60 
United Technologies Corp. 1.05 1.09 1.05 
Sharpe Ratio   

Honeywell International 0.08 0.48 0.18 
Danaher 0.08 0.31 0.20 
J&J 0.03 0.32 0.16 
United Technologies Corp. 0.04 0.23 0.12 

Source: Own work based on Capital IQ (2018) 

4.4. Summary 

The preceding sections frame the analysis by providing an indication on the general valuation of 

conglomerates in the U.S. The findings indicate that unrelated diversification is not a value-adding 

attribute for U.S. companies, thus endorsing a deeper analysis of a U.S. conglomerate and its 

underlying value drivers. The case company of this thesis is GE, the oldest U.S. conglomerate. The 

introduction revealed varying perceptions of this company and its management. Indications of 

earnings management, accounting fraud and significant complexity in the financial reports signal that 

an analysis and valuation of the company should be conducted carefully. Before commencing a large-

scale analysis, the authors sought to confirm whether recent performance of GE is a stand-alone case 

or whether GE’s industries have been significantly underperforming in general. The results suggest 

that GE is a stand-alone case and justifies an in-depth analysis to understand why the company is 

underperforming in general. The initial section of the forthcoming analysis will commence with an 

investigation of where and how GE operates and what the outlook is for GE in these markets.  
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5. Analysis 

To attain a deeper understanding of GE, this section will perform a holistic analysis of the company, 

by scrutinizing strategic, market, governance, accounting and financial statements-related elements. 

The purpose is to determine the underlying drivers that create or destroy value at GE. As the research 

question prescribes, the initial part of the thesis constitutes a condensed valuation of GE, laying the 

foundation for further analysis and discussion of the conglomerate discount and its rationale.  

5.1. Strategic and market analysis 

This section serves to identify essential strategic and market-based value drivers of GE. The section 

will commence with a high-level divisional analysis of GE’s divisions, allocating more space for the 

larger divisions of the conglomerate. GE’s Oil & Gas division is merged with a publicly listed 

company, and is thus valued by applying market values. As such, only minimal pages will be allocated 

to this division, while an in-depth analysis is found in Appendix 4. By analyzing GE at a divisional 

level, the analysis will uncover the dynamics behind the specific value drivers of the company and 

outline key factors that can affect GE’s future performance. The analysis therefore forms the baseline 

understanding of the company and the underlying reasoning for the valuation.  

5.1.1. GE Aviation 

Designs and manufactures aircraft engines, digital components and mechanical aircraft systems for 

commercial and military customers.  

Figure 5.1 GE Aviation revenue split 2017 

 
Source: Own work based on GE (2018a) 

Commercial Engines & Services offers jet engines, turboprops and related maintenance, as well as 

other services to the commercial industry and general aviation segments. Military provides similar 

offerings for military aircrafts such as fighters, bombers, tankers, helicopters and surveillance 

aircrafts. Systems & Other provides systems and services that support both the commercial and 

military segment, while manufacturing a variety of products within additive manufacturing (GE, 

2018a). Aviation’s products and services are subject to numerous regulatory bodies such as U.S. 

Federal Aviation Administration and European Safety Agency. 
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5.1.1.1. Macroeconomic drivers and trends 

GE Aviation has more than 33,000 jet engines in service, making them the world market leader, and 

the crown jewel of GE (GE Aviation, 2017). Aviation’s product portfolio consists of jet engine 

manufacturing and servicing for commercial and military customers. The demand for these products 

is to a large degree influenced by macroeconomic factors, such as world GDP growth, oil prices, 

socio-economic growth, tourism and international trade (MarketLine, 2018). The industry standard 

for measuring the market size is divided into the two general segments of commercial aviation; 

passenger and cargo transport. The two most relevant KPIs for the passenger segment are revenue 

passenger kilometers (RPK) and load factor, which measures capacity utilization and thus gives an 

indication of the market’s operational efficiency (Eurostat, 2015). Industry attractiveness is 

associated with these KPIs, and as can be deducted from Figure 5.2 below, the aviation industry is 

flourishing with a 10-year CAGR in RPK of 5.2% and an increasing load factor of 80.3% as of 2016. 

Figure 5.2 World passenger traffic and load factor        Figure 5.3 Geographical traffic split and growth 

 
Note: RPK development in trillions and load factor.               Note: 2016 RPK geographical split and regional growth. 
Source: Both figures - own work based on the statistical results from ICAO (2017) 

In cargo transportation, freight tonne kilometers (FTK) is the industry standard. In the 2007-2016 

period, World FTK developed at a CAGR of 1.9%, yet, the freight segment jumped in 2017 with a 

growth of 9% in FTK, indicating an increasing attractiveness in this smaller segment (GE, 2018a). 

According to the Global Market Forecast 2017-2036 by Airbus (Airbus, 2017), the global passenger 

and cargo air traffic is expected to grow at 4.4% annually over the 20-year period, with annual 

increase of 4.9% in the first decade and 4.1% in the last decade. This overall trend is particularly 

driven by economic growth in the Asia Pacific, which is anticipated to become the leading 

geographical region in terms of air traffic over the next 20 years. In terms of product types, the Single-

Aisle passenger aircraft is expected to represent the largest segment in terms of projected unit 

demand, accounting for an approximate 71% of all passenger aircrafts by 2036 (MarketLine, 2018). 

GE Aviation’s jet engine for this aircraft type is the LEAP model, which is currently the fastest-
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selling narrowbody engine in history, with more than 14,000 orders, preparing the company well in 

relation to the projections of product demand types (Flannery, 2017).  

 During the last three years, the air traffic industry has experienced considerable growth, as seen 

by the increase in RPK, however, part of this growth can be attributed to the oil price that has 

remained relatively low. Oil prices have a direct impact on airline fuel costs, and with lower costs, 

the airlines have been able to stimulate the market through lower ticket prices, without loss of margins 

(Airbus, 2017). Lower prices entail a higher demand for tickets and as such, increased demand for 

new aircrafts and thus jet engines. Hence, the relatively low oil prices the last three years have been 

strong macroeconomic drivers for world jet engine demand and GE Aviation’s products and services.  

Figure 5.4 Jet fuel and crude oil historical prices         Figure 5.5 Jet fuel and crude oil price changes 

 
Source: Own work based on prices provided by EIA (2018); Note: Jet fuel is Kerosene-Type and prices are spot prices 

As the figures indicate, the oil and jet fuel prices are highly correlated, which has been favorable to 

the aviation industry due to the lower prices. However, oil prices are rather volatile and are influenced 

by the geopolitical environment and politics in intergovernmental organizations such as OPEC. The 

World Bank publishes a list of commodity prices forecasts every six months, and has released a price 

projection of crude oil prices depicting a price point of USD 70 pr. barrel in 2030 (World Bank, 

2017). Such a price increase could have a large impact on the air traffic and thereby cause reductions 

in the demand for GE Aviation’s products and services, and thus hamper its financial performance. 

5.1.1.2. Competitive outlook 

As a global technology and production leader, the GE conglomerate can support GE Aviation through 

the inter-divisional departments, GE Digital and GE Additive, introduced in 2016. GE Aviation’s 

global market share accounts for approximately 2 out of 3 in terms of engines installed in commercial 

aircrafts, with the remainder being absorbed by Pratt & Whitney, IAE and Rolls-Royce (GE Aviation, 

2017). The leadership in the commercial segment primarily stems from a high demand for the LEAP 
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engine. In the military segment, GE Aviation is also the market leader, yet by a smaller margin as 

depicted in Figure 5.7, which shows global OEM market split on military engines. 

Figure 5.6 Global commercial engines split on OEMs      Figure 5.7 Global military engines split on OEMs 

 
Note: In both figures, GE comprises GE Aviation and the JV, CFM International 
Source: Own work based on Brown (2017)                    Source: Own work based on GE Aviation (2017) 

Manufacturing jet engines is a CAPEX-intensive endeavor and the high fixed costs allow only for a 

few players to profitably compete in the industry. As such, in line with Porter (1980), there are high 

entry barriers to the industry, which significantly reduces the probability of new competitors entering 

and acquiring market share from GE. Besides being market leader in terms of share, GE Aviation is 

also moving down the learning curve and realizing efficient cost-reductions in production of the 

LEAP engine with a 20% reduction in 2016, 23% in 2017 and expectedly 23% in 2018 (GE Aviation, 

2017). Being able to capitalize on the investments is what makes GE Aviation truly competitive, and 

as of 2017, this division accounted for 45% of the conglomerate’s profits.  

 In terms of supplier bargaining power, the industry is characterized by the firms integrating 

vertically up into the value chain and as such eliminate many of the suppliers. There are still few 

specialized larger providers, which could potentially affect the industry, however, the sheer size of 

the firms operating within the industry reduces supplier power. Further, jet engine manufacturers 

typically possess sizeable free capital for M&A activity, and it is common to see a manufacturer 

acquiring an upstream supplier – such as GE Additive, a part of Aviation, acquiring the software 

company GeonX in November 2017 (GE, 2018a). In the other end, buyer power may influence the 

industry as the customer landscape is rather consolidated around Boeing and Airbus that account for 

approximately 2/3 of the market share, a trend that is expected to continue with these two buyers 

estimated to account for 76% of the market by 2025 (Aviation Daily, 2016).  
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 Last, it should be noted that the threat of substitute products is effectively non-existing, as jet 

engines are completely essential for an aircraft and are some of the technologically most complex 

parts, making it problematic to substitute. 

5.1.1.3. GE’s performance relative to competitors and peers 

GE Aviation is well positioned within the jet engine industry enabling it to benefit from this growth, 

and as such, the positive outlook for the global market drives demand for GE Aviation’s products and 

services, which facilitates enhancing market share and profits (MarketLine, 2018). Currently, GE 

Aviation generates most of its revenue in the U.S. and Europe, with Asia coming in third, however, 

with the projected geographical demand changes, the company could be threatened by the shift 

towards Asia. Yet, as of today, the growth in the region has facilitated much of the growth in GE 

Aviation and the division is thus aligned favorably (GE, 2018a). Regarding the performance of 

Aviation, it should be noted that GE Aviation’s sales and costs are enhanced by the operations of GE 

Capital, which will be examined at a later point. As such, the performance of Aviation is distorted in 

an upward fashion, relative to its peers. 

Figure 5.8 GE Aviation’s performance relative to competitors 

 
Source: Own work based on data compilations from Capital IQ (2018) 

As illustrated by Figure 5.8, GE has the highest growth rate and profitability within the competitor 

and peer space. Being able to increase revenue at a 5-year CAGR of almost 5.7% - nearly twice the 

rate of Pratt & Whitney and Rolls-Royce – while enhancing its profitability well-above competitor 

margins, certifies GE as the highest performing firm within the industry. Taking market shares into 

account, GE Aviation can surely be established as number one, solidified in GE’s annual report: 

“Every 2 seconds an aircraft powered by GE technology takes off” (GE, 2018a, p. 8). 
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5.1.2. GE Power 

GE Power is one of GE’s larger divisions with 83,500 employees and revenues of USD 36bn in 2017 

(GE, 2018a). Manufactures products and offers services within power generation, mostly to industrial 

and governmental customers. The division operates through five business segments.  

Figure 5.9 GE Power revenue split 2017 

 
Source: Own work based on GE (2018a) 

Gas Power Systems deals with heavy-duty gas turbines as well as a variety of industrial applications 

ranging from smaller parts to extensive plants, while Power Services delivers maintenance and 

upgrade solutions across the entire plant (GE, 2018a). Steam Power Systems offers technology for 

coal and nuclear applications to secure efficient power production. Energy Connections designs and 

implements energy-transporting, -converting and -optimizing technologies that ensure reliable 

electrical power. As of June 2017, this sub-segment was merged into Power (Scott, 2017b).  

5.1.2.1. Macroeconomic drivers and trends 

With 30% of the world’s electricity being generated using GE’s products, GE Power is a global leader 

within power generation, particularly on gas turbines (Flannery, 2017). Through cutting-edge 

technological knowledge, GE manufactures best-in-class gas, steam and nuclear power systems. GE 

Power manufactures the world’s most efficient gas turbine, the H-class, 9HA, which in essence, is 

one of the conglomerates’ crown jewels, and the largest contributor to revenue in the Power division 

(GE Power, 2018). The market for these turbines, and GE Power’s other products, is essentially 

global, and the economic and political environments of each country GE operates in, influence the 

demand. GDP growth is indirectly the most influential factor determining the demand, as impacts the 

energy consumption and thus the demand for energy generating facilities (EIA, 2017). The type of 

fuel used to generate energy has gained more attention in the last few decades, especially since the 

Paris Agreement on climate change, which entered into force November 2016 (IEA, 2017a). GE 

Power is specifically focused on the gas-driven turbines market, yet, the attractiveness of using gas 

as a fuel to generate energy is declining due to increased focus on greenhouse gas emission (GE, 

2018a). Natural gas is the third most polluting fuel type in terms of CO2 emission, trailing coal and 

oil, for which reason application has decreased proportionally, compared to the total energy 

consumption (IEA, 2017a). The absolute consumption of natural gas is growing, yet, its usage as a 

combustion-input for energy production is declining as illustrated by Figure 5.10 
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Figure 5.10 World consumption of gas               Figure 5.11 World energy consumption by type 

 
Note: Energy consumption based on natural gas is declining  Note: Energy consumption based on fossil fuels is declining 
Source: Both - own work based on IEA (2017a) 

As Figure 5.11 depicts, the global consumption shifts away from fossil thermal fuel towards more 

sustainable fuel types. This trend is particularly led by the OECD, emphasizing that as economies 

become increasingly developed, their consumption of thermal fossil fuel declines. The vast majority 

of GE Power’s products and services are related to the fossil thermal fuel types, making this trend a 

threat to the division’s performance. 

 The world’s energy consumption is projected to grow 28% between 2015 and 2040, driven by 

increased power demand from developing economies such as India and China, however, the energy 

mix is changing with renewable energy being the fastest growing energy source (EIA, 2017). The 

change in the global energy mix is influencing GE’s heavy-duty gas turbine segment, which is 

challenged and expected to be further contested in the future. Currently, the production of energy 

through combustion of natural gas is increasing, yet, this development is expected to be adjusted in 

accordance to projections on the global energy mix (EIA, 2017). As illustrated below, forecasts for 

fossil thermal fuels as input for energy generation is declining, despite the total consumption growing. 

Figure 5.12 World energy consumption by fuel type 

 
Note: *BTU: British thermal unit 
Source: Own work based on EIA (2017) section “World total energy consumption by region and fuel” 
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As demand for natural gas shrinks, the production gradually declines and causes a mismatch between 

gas turbine demand and supply. Thus, the market encounters an overcapacity of these products, 

forcing down the industry profitability (GE, 2018a). This is already transpiring, and according to the 

annual report, Power’s declining revenue and profits of 2017 is a result of market overcapacity.  

5.1.2.2. Competitive outlook 

With the advanced H-class gas turbine, GE Power has obtained approximately a 50% share in the 

heavy-duty gas turbine market. This intense market share stems from the efficiency level of the H-

class, 9HA. In 2014, the turbine’s efficiency levels were improved to a world record of 62.2%, and 

market share has increased ever since (GE Power, 2018). Thermal efficiency is measured by the 

amount of energy added that is converted to net output, and as such the most essential KPI in the gas 

turbine industry. Nonetheless, despite Power’s strong competitive position, revenue and profits are 

flattening out due to the declining size and profitability of the market. The declining size is attributed 

to a shift in the global energy mix towards substitute products such as renewable energy. At the same 

time, the reduction in profitability is caused by overcapacity, which grants buyers strong bargaining 

power and the ability to require lower prices, which forces down the margins of all the gas turbine 

manufacturers (GlobalData, 2017). On a positive note, the declining market attractiveness and high 

entry barriers in the form of CAPEX requirements, virtually reduces the probability of new market 

entrants to zero. Yet, being a market leader in a shrinking market is a concern for GE Power, and as 

Figure 5.13 below illustrates, the global orders of large heavy-duty gas turbines have flattened out. 

Figure 5.13 Global heavy-duty gas turbine orders       Figure 5.14 Global gas turbine market size in USDbn 

 
Note: GW: Gigawatt                                Note: Split on gas turbine types, >200MW are heavy-duty 
Source: Own work based on Flannery (2017)                Source: Own work based on GlobalData (2017) 

Figure 5.14 presents the global gas turbine market in USD and depicts historical and projected 

decline, split on gas turbine size-types. The smaller turbine segments are declining faster than the 

turbines larger than 200MW. Over the 10 year period, the three smaller segments are reduced by 

23%
34%

44% 50%

  -

 5

 10

 15

 20

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

G
lo

ba
l 

he
av

y-
du

ty
 g

as
 

tu
rb

in
e

 o
rd

e
rs

 in
 G

W
*

GE Competitors

0.57 0.48 0.49 

3.50 
2.45 2.05 

3.00 

2.90 
2.59 

2.73 

2.66 
2.60 

 -

 2

 4

 6

 8

 10

2011 2016 2021F

M
ar

ke
t 

va
lu

e
 U

SD
b

n

1-30MW 30-120MW 120-200MW >200MW



5 | Analysis 

Page 49 of 157 

14%, 41% and 14%, respectively, whereas the heavy-duty turbines (>200MW) only declined by 5%. 

GE is a leader within the last segment and is as such positioned in the least declining part of the gas 

turbine industry, exposing them to less of a downturn compared to the overall market.  

 Analyzing the general gas turbine market unveils that GE is not only market leader within the 

larger turbine segment, but is also the number one manufacturer overall. The major competitors 

within the gas turbine market are Siemens, Mitsubishi Hitachi, Dongfang Electric and Ansaldo 

Energia, and combined with GE they account for 80% of the total market, as illustrated below. 

Figure 5.15 Global gas turbine market split on OEMs Figure 5.16 Top 5 countries by total energy supply 

 
Note: Measured by USDbn revenue                       Note: Mtoe: Million tonnes oil equivalent 
Source: Own work based on GlobalData (2017)                Source: Own work based on IEA (2017) 

Siemens and Mitsubishi Hitachi are the two closest competitors in terms of size and geographical 

presence. However, of the three, GE is the only firm operating within all top five energy-supplying 

countries, and as such, the most global gas turbine manufacturer (GlobalData, 2017). The main reason 

for GE’s global reach is their specialization in the larger heavy-duty turbines, which require a global 

market to break even. Yet, Siemens, which is the key rival, acknowledges the overcapacity in the gas 

turbine market, and finds the heavy-duty segment to be the most attractive (Samaha, 2017). As a 

response, they are focused on breaking GE’s record-holding heavy-duty gas turbine, the 9HA. In a 

press release, Siemens announced that they are testing a new model, equivalent to the 9HA, which is 

currently on its way to 63% efficiency with a goal of reaching 65% (Siemens, 2017b). This intensifies 

the competition within the industry, and if accomplished, Siemens could pass GE as market leader. 

5.1.2.3. GE’s performance relative to competitors and peers 

GE Power is positioned strongly within the gas turbine industry, being overall market leader, 

specifically within the heavy-duty segment, providing the markets best product. Yet, declining market 

sizes, due to changes in the energy mix and decreasing profitability as a result of overcapacity, reduce 

the industry attractiveness. Despite this negative development, GE has increased their revenue over 

a 5-year period, most obviously by acquiring Alstom, which is evident in the 2016 growth. However, 
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the declining EBIT margin illustrates some industry issues. Alas, it should be noted that recently, 

Power has been under investigation from the SEC regarding their revenue recognition, clouding the 

division’s actual performance. This will be further scrutinized in section 5.2 

Figure 5.17 GE Power’s performance relative to competitors and peers 

 
Note: *Siemens (Power) includes Siemens’ divisions “Power and Gas” and “Energy Management”. GE Power has no revenue growth 
in 2013, as the division was created that year by splitting up Power and Water. The 27% growth in 2016 is largely attributed to the 
acquisition of the French energy company, Alstom which contributed 2016 revenue USDbn 13, to GE Group, of which the majority 
was merged into GE Power. 
Source: Own work based on Capital IQ (2018) 

Despite a declining trend in both performance metrics, GE is still the most profitable company within 

the peer and competitor group, as well as the fastest growing player on a 5-year basis. GE’s 5-year 

CAGR in revenue, of 7.6%, positively separates GE from the rest, with Cummins achieving 4.2% - 

the second highest CAGR of the group. Yet, if GE Power is to maintain its leadership, it needs to 

restructure and descale the business for the projected declining market size. To stay profitable, the 

division must incorporate cost-reduction strategies – an objective that is currently the divisions’ 

highest priority, according to the annual report (GE, 2018a). 

5.1.3. GE Oil & Gas (Baker Hughes, a GE company) 

GE Oil & Gas provides oilfield technology such as integrated oilfield products, digital solutions and 

services to customers in more than 120 countries, through four sub-segments as illustrated below. 

Figure 5.18 GE Oil & Gas revenue split 2017 

 
Source: Own work based on GE (2018a) 

On July 3rd, 2017, GE Oil & Gas and Baker Hughes were merged into a new, listed entity, Baker 

Hughes, a GE company (henceforth, BHGE), in which GE has a 62.5% share (Baker Hughes, 2017). 

BHGE is a fullstream provider, which expands its portfolio with GE’s activities, illustrated in the 
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figure above. TPS is equipment, ranging from smaller appliances to large turnkey solutions, for the 

upstream and downstream segments of the oil and gas industry. OFS provides a wide variety of 

services across the oil and gas industry. OFE facilitates safe and reliable oil-flow from the wellhead 

to the surface, by offering a range of products and services. Digital Solutions digitizes processes for 

a wide range of industries, including oil and gas, aerospace, and transportation.  

 The merger into BHGE renders this division more of a partly owned subsidiary than a division 

of GE. As this subsidiary is publicly listed, performing a valuation is conducted by applying actual 

market values, as presented in section 5.4. The authors have performed a strategic and market analysis 

of GE Oil & Gas, in a similar fashion as for the other divisions. However, since the analysis is of 

lower importance relative to the valuation, and thus the first part of the research question, presenting 

the full-blown analysis is deemed unnecessary. Instead, the key findings will be presented at the end 

of this section, in the SWOT model, together with the analytical conclusions on the other divisions. 

A comprehensive strategic and market analysis of BHGE is available in Appendix 4. 

5.1.4. GE Renewable Energy 

GE Renewable Energy provides a broad range of renewable power sources. Currently, the market is 

influenced by a trend towards renewable ‘green’ energy, correlating demand with government 

incentives. Yet, with strong investments in technical innovation, Renewable Energy is expected to be 

able to compete with other sources of power generation, on a subsidy-free basis (GE, 2018a). 

Figure 5.19 GE Renewable Energy revenue split 2017 

 
Source: Own work based on GE (2018a) 

Onshore Wind optimizes wind resources by providing turbine platforms, hardware, software and 

service support to the onshore wind power industry. The industry is influenced by a surge in 

development and government incentives, which attracts new entrants and thereby increases the 

competitiveness. Hence, customers have a large assortment to choose from, enabling them to select 

suppliers largely based on costs, resulting in a significant pricing pressure on the industry (GE, 

2018a). Offshore Wind’s offering is comparable to the onshore segment, yet focusing on the offshore 

industry. Hydro offers a range of solutions, from design to final assigning, within hydropower.  

 

47% 18% 10% 19% 6%

United States Europe Asia Americas Middle East and Africa

86% 3% 11%

Onshore Wind Offshore Wind Hydro



5 | Analysis 

Page 52 of 157 

5.1.4.1. Macroeconomic drivers and trends 

The global energy mix is changing towards a focus on energy from renewable sources. The changes 

stem, mostly, from government-backed programs and incentives supporting renewable energy 

markets, such as the 2016 Paris Agreement on climate change (IEA, 2017a), and conversely increased 

taxation on the traditional fossil fuel markets, due to environmental impact.  

 According to REN21 (2017a), in 2015, 19.3% of global final energy consumption was fueled by 

renewable energy sources such as biofuel, geothermal, hydro, wind and solar. This amounts to an 

average annual growth rate in the demand for renewables of 2.8% over the past 10 years – an increase, 

which is approximately 40% higher than the growth in global energy demand (REN21, 2017a). Over 

the last decade, the capacity additions of renewable energy account for more than half of all power 

plant additions globally (GE, 2018a), and as Figure 5.20 below illustrates, investments into new 

renewable energy has increased at a 10-year CAGR of 7.9%. Furthermore, as the industry evolves, 

so does its attractiveness, and renewable energy is increasingly being able to compete with fossil fuels 

in terms of cost of electricity. The global market for renewable energy generated total revenues of 

USD 492bn in 2012 but grew at a CAGR of approximately 9% to USD 695bn in 2016. 

Figure 5.20 Global new investments in renewables      Figure 5.21 Global renewable energy consumption 

 
Source: Own work based on REN21 (2017a)                   Source: Own work based on BP (2018) & Smil (2017) 

Figure 5.21 illustrates that the overall growth in modern renewable energy increased its pace around 

year 2000. Modern renewables include modern biofuel, wind, solar and hydropower – the primary 

industries GE Renewable Energy operates within, and as the figure shows, these types of renewable 

energy are growing. Above all, onshore wind is this division’s focus industry with 86% of 2017 

revenue generated here. The wind power industry is the second fastest growing renewable energy 

source in relative terms, just trailing solar power, which is a newer, less developed industry (REN21, 

2017a). The developing countries are accounting for most of the growth in terms of investments in 

renewables, and for eight consecutive years, Asia is the largest regional wind power market, with half 
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the added capacity of 2016 coming from this region – China accounting for the clear majority. 

However, the global wind power growth is highly influenced by uncertainty about possible political 

changes as well as cyclical and policy-related slowdowns (REN21, 2017a). The wind power industry 

differentiates between wind power capacity, typically measured in gigawatt (GW) and actual wind 

power generation, often measured in terawatt hours (TWh). To determine the development of the 

wind power market, it is necessary to analyze both metrics. Figure 5.22 below illustrates the historical 

development of added capacity as well as wind power generated – 97% of total wind capacity and 

generation comes from onshore wind operations. 

Figure 5.22 Historical & projected global wind power  Figure 5.23 Projections of renewable energy’s share 

 
Note: Projections from year 2018 onwards.                Note: IEA projections are from 2005 and 2016 
Source: Own work based on REN21 (2017a; 2017b); BP (2018)    Source: Own work based on REN21 (2017a) 

The development in both capacity and power generated has historically increased at strong two-digit 

annual growth rates, whereas the projections are a bit more conservative. This conservatism can be 

ascribed to the fact that the industry is becoming more mature and that the immense growth rates in 

the historical period stems from a rather small overall market. Nonetheless, a variety of organizations 

believe that these growth projections are highly understated, and that we should expect the wind 

power industry growth to continue at historical levels (REN21, 2017b). Yet, there is much debate 

regarding the future of renewable energy, and as Figure 5.23 illustrates, long-term projections of the 

renewable energy industry are to a large degree speculative due to the novelty of the industry as well 

as the inability to foresee technological developments and political decisions of government support 

(REN21, 2017b). The inability to accurately forecast the development of renewable energy is clearly 

shown by the incoherence between various projections of renewable energy’s share in the global final 

energy consumption, ranging from 50% to 92% in 2050, as depicted in the figure.  

 Despite much uncertainty, the overall market for renewable energy, and in particular wind power, 

is expected to increase at high rates. Renewable Energy thus encounters an interesting and possibly 

lucrative future, given its ability to compete for market shares in this growing market. 
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5.1.4.2. Competitive outlook 

The significant growth in the renewable energy market makes it an attractive industry, yet, for same 

reason the market is becoming increasingly competitive, particularly in onshore wind, which has 

resulted in fierce pricing pressure strategies (GE, 2018a). Innovation is key in this market, as it allows 

for differentiation through superior or specialized products, however, high R&D spending is common 

for all players in the industry. As such, one way to stay afloat is through consolidation, which has 

characterized the wind power market in the last few years. In March 2017, antitrust authorities cleared 

the merger between Siemens and Gamesa and the deal closed in April (Siemens, 2017a). Later in the 

same month, GE’s acquisition of LM Wind Power was completed (GE Newsroom, 2017). The 

consolidation among key players has resulted in an oligopolistic-type market with the top six players 

accounting for 75% of the market in 2016, as illustrated in the figure below.  

Figure 5.24 Global wind turbine OEMs market split          Figure 5.25 Capacity added in 2016 

 
Source: Windpower Monthly (2017); Note: Market share is measured by capacity 

The additional capacity added in 2016 shows how the larger players are getting proportionally larger, 

indicating a consolidating trend. Such consolidation is crucial for the strongest firms to enhance their 

position, as there are potential economies of scale benefits to reap.  

 Recent trends (REN21, 2017a) depict that wind has become the lowest cost option for new power 

generation, and in terms of buyer bargaining power, customers are becoming highly price-sensitive 

as the market’s total product offering increases. As such, the cost of energy is the number one 

parameter, when choosing supplier, for which reason OEMs are trying to develop low-cost turbines, 

something GE has caught up on. While GE is not the biggest player in the market, they do have one 

product, which is winning its segment. In September 2017, GE introduced their new 4.8 MW turbine 
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as such, vastly reduces the cost of energy for customers, making them highly competitive within the 

low to medium wind speed sites, which the turbine is optimal for (GE, 2018a).  

 Suppliers to the OEM’s of the wind power industry are typically smaller providers of specific 

parts to the windmill. As such, these do not exert a major pressure on the OEMs, as GE and its peers’ 

sheer size enable them to take a stronger position than their suppliers. New entrants are possible in 

the industry, yet, as the market is consolidated and the large firms only gain increasingly large market 

shares, it becomes difficult for new entrants to challenge the incumbents’ position. The threat of 

substitute products, however, is more pressurizing as most renewable energy types are in fairly early 

stages of the development and fight for their relevance in the overall market. Nonetheless, wind power 

is the fastest growing type, except for solar, and as such, they are in a rather stable position already. 

5.1.4.3. GE’s performance relative to competitors and peers 

Overall, GE Renewable Energy is a strong division with great growth prospects, both in absolute 

terms but also in a competitive, market share perspective. The most relevant potential force that could 

negatively influence the industry and GE is the governmental and regulative side. The large U.S. tax 

reform debate creates some uncertainty in the U.S. market, however, the latest update preserved the 

Production Tax Credit, which is positive for the wind industry (GE, 2018a). Yet, the value of the tax 

exemption credit is anticipated to decrease over the coming years, which could negatively influence 

GE’s profitability and overall performance (U.S. Department of Energy, 2018). The reason for the 

declining subsidies, however, is an expression of the wind industry developing towards a mature 

state, which is further demonstrated by GE’s announced ability to compete with fossil fuel energy 

types without any type of government-backed subsidies. 

Figure 5.26 GE Renewable Energy’s performance relative to competitors and peers 

 
Note: The 44% growth in 2016 is largely attributed to the acquisition of Alstom, which contributed 2016 revenue USD 13bn to GE 
Group, of which a smaller was merged into GE Renewable Energy. GE Renewable Energy was formed in 2013. 
Source: Own work based on data compilations from Capital IQ (2018) 
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In the beginning of the analyzed period, GE was superior to its peers in terms of profitability, while 

they from 2015 were on par with the Chinese GoldWind and Danish Vestas. Vestas has the largest 

market share in the global wind power market and with a longer track-record than GE (Vestas was 

founded in 1945), they are the undisputed industry leader. This is partly due to path dependency, but 

also due to the favorable conditions of the wind power market in Denmark, where a staggering 70% 

of electricity generation is expected to come from renewables by 2022 – with 94% stemming from 

wind power (IEA, 2017b). Yet, with the U.S. being the second-largest growth market for renewables, 

trailing China, GE has a favorable home market advantage (Ibid.). Whether GE is able to overtake 

Vestas is questionable, but there is definitely some potential in the division. 

5.1.5. GE Healthcare 

Healthcare has expertise in a broad range of services and solutions and provides vital healthcare 

technologies to developed and emerging markets. The main customers are hospitals, pharmaceutical 

and biotechnology companies, medical facilities and research markets (GE, 2018a).  

Figure 5.27 GE Healthcare revenue split 2017 

 
Source: Own work based on GE (2018a) 

Healthcare Systems offers clinical systems and diagnostics imaging such as X-ray, surgical and 

interventional imaging and a wide range of other services and technologies in healthcare. These 

systems are supported by a variety of software, analytics, services and other medical technologies 

provided by Healthcare Digital. Life Sciences primarily delivers solutions and services to the research 

markets, including segments such as biopharmaceutical and drug discovery, to enable scientists in 

discovering new treatment solutions.  

5.1.5.1. The macroeconomic drivers 

Healthcare is widely affected by several macroeconomic factors such as regulation in public 

healthcare, capital expenditures, speed of technological change and demographic trends such as an 

increasing elderly population. Life Sciences is additionally influenced by governmental agencies such 

as the FDA (U.S. Food and Drug Administration) and government backed subsidies (GE, 2018a).  

45% 20% 26% 5% 5%

United States Europe Asia Americas Middle East and Africa

70% 6% 24%

Healthcare Systems Healthcare Digital Life Sciences



5 | Analysis 

Page 57 of 157 

 Analyzing GE Healthcare’s primary markets, U.S. and EU, there are certain distinct differences 

between the two markets. Both absolute and GDP-relative current healthcare expenses (CHE) are 

higher in the U.S. than anywhere in the world, making it one of the most important markets for 

healthcare equipment. As can be seen in Figure 5.28, the U.S. healthcare sector consists of both a 

major private and public sector, whereas in Europe and Asia, the public sector carries a much larger 

weight. The higher spend per capita in the U.S. is driven by a higher amount of diseases per capita 

such as obesity, cancer, cardiovascular and other lifestyle diseases (Deloitte, 2018). According to 

CMS (2018), elderly people in the U.S. are also far more prone to these diseases than Europeans and 

Asians thus the demographic changes in the U.S. positively affect market growth. 

Figure 5.28 Current health expenditure as % of GDP     Figure 5.29 MRI scanners per million population 

 
Source: OECD (2018)                                Source: Statista (2018) 

The higher dependency on private hospitals also makes the U.S. an attractive market as the private 

hospitals have less restrictive budgets compared to public hospitals (Deloitte, 2018). The health 

expenditure in the U.S. is expected to grow at a CAGR of 5.7% towards 2026 (CMS, 2018). However, 

the U.S. is also trailing high in terms of market saturation with one of the highest medical device 

counts per capita. 

 High dependency on public hospitals in Europe is not necessarily unattractive, but the tighter 

budgetary restrictions have had a constraining effect on growth. As can be seen in Figure 5.30 the 

growth in the European markets has seen a slowdown in growth, but shows signs of recovery in recent 

years. The economic upswing and the aging demographic illustrated in Figure 5.31 may have a 

positive impact on European growth going forward. 
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Figure 5.30 Healthcare expenditure growth EU 28      Figure 5.31 Demographic development EU 28 

 
Note: Bars indicate average growth for EU 28    
Source: OECD (2018)                               Source: EC (2018) 

The Asian market, driven primarily by China and Japan, is estimated to account for a more significant 

portion of worldwide healthcare spend in the future and has a growth potential exceeding both Europe 

and U.S. However, the Asian markets are generally characterized by far lower levels of diseases due 

to significantly different lifestyles relative to western countries, and the growth potential discussed 

by experts hinges on the idea that Asian countries are adopting a more disease-prone lifestyle (Li, et 

al., 2016). A recent Harvard study confirms that economic growth and industrialization in China has 

brought more than just prosperity, namely a radical increase in cardiovascular disease that are often 

heavily related to lifestyle choices such as food and tobacco use (Li, et al., 2016).  

5.1.5.2. The competitive outlook 

The market for medical equipment is characterized as an oligopoly whereas GE, Siemens and Philips 

account for a significant portion of the market (Deloitte, 2018). The total addressable market of GE 

Healthcare is approximately USD 83bn and split on the segments, imaging, diagnostics, IT and life 

sciences as illustrated below (GE Healthcare, 2017; Frost & Sullivan, 2016).  

Figure 5.32 GE Healthcare total addressable market     Figure 5.33 Market split of top-3 players (revenue) 

 
Source: Own work based on GE Healthcare (2017)              Source: Own work based on Annual Reports (2017) 
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As Figure 5.33 depicts, the top three players absorb 58% of GE’s total addressable market. These 

three do not have completely overlapping product offerings, yet they are common in regards to 

healthcare systems, in particular imaging, and services being the largest segment. As such, GE is the 

leader within its main segment, yet with close competition from Siemens and Philips.  

 The competition for hospital contracts on medical equipment and services is extremely fierce 

among the largest players, while several specialized firms also contribute significantly to the price 

pressure. Public hospital contracts are typically offered as tender offers with the price point being the 

most important criteria for winning the contract (Deloitte, 2018). With a heavy reliance on public 

hospitals in Europe and Asia, profitability faces additional pressure. For private hospital contracts, 

elements such as service, reputation and goodwill play a more significant role, for which reason the 

larger and more established players win significantly more contracts relative to smaller players. 

 The industry is characterized by significant entry barriers due to two substantial factors, i) 

contracts for medical equipment and services are typically long-term and, ii) the industry is R&D 

intense. The threat of new entrants is therefore limited to small and specialized players that compete 

largely on quality. A new major player in the market is unlikely in the short-term, but recent changes 

in market dynamics have sparked a need for cost-containment in order to retain profits, which is 

leading to consolidation among smaller and medium sized players. Companies such as Toshiba, 

Stryker, Abbott Laboratories and several others are already engaging in acquisitions of competitors 

and smaller companies. In addition, Johnson & Johnson is making serious M&A efforts to boost their 

presence in the market and may very well constitute the next large medical device player (Medical 

Device Network, 2017).  

 Customers’ bargaining power is limited by the high switching costs they face on medical 

equipment. Most systems and devices are often heavily integrated with IT and support, making the 

change of provider more burdensome (Deloitte, 2018). Equipment and services are also sold on long-

term contracts, which locks in the customer with the manufacturer for a fixed period. This allows the 

manufacturer to build better and stronger reputation with the client and potentially renew contracts. 

The customer, however, has several options to choose from, when they are offering new contracts, 

whereas a balance between pricing and quality becomes extremely important for GE. It further places 

a cap on the benefit manufacturers can gain from higher switching costs. As an OEM within medical 

devices, GE manufactures all their products themselves and sources any smaller components required 

in the process (GE, 2018a). GE has immense purchasing power and components are often sourced at 
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smaller firms for whom GE composes a large portion of revenues (GE, 2018a). The power of 

suppliers should therefore be limited, although if they have patents or specialization within certain 

supplies, they may be able to charge a premium, even with GE. While there are no substitute products 

readily available, alternative disease treatments are on the rise, especially within cancer, where people 

are using liquefied HTC as alternative treatment, rather than using the hospital. The legalization of 

cannabis in certain states in the U.S. has contributed to this movement, but the impact remains to be 

measured and is therefore considered to be insignificant (National Cancer Institute, 2018).  

5.1.5.3. GE’s performance relative to competitors and peers 

The medical equipment market consists of several players including large-scale firms operating 

across healthcare segments, SME’s with several product lines in medical equipment and niche players 

focusing solely on selected product lines. While the list of competitors is rather extensive, a selection 

is compared to GE to understand the relative performance between these firms. Siemens Healthcare 

is largely equivalent to GE Healthcare, although a larger part of their focus is on diagnostics, whereas 

GE focuses on imaging and life sciences. Danaher is a large U.S. medical equipment company with 

several product lines, whereas Stryker and Hologic are smaller and more focused imaging device 

providers. As such, the combined group of companies reflects GE’s total product offering. 

Figure 5.34 GE Healthcare’s performance relative to competitors and peers 

 
Source: Own work based on Capital IQ (2018) 

As can be seen from Figure 5.34, GE seems to be outgrown by most of its competitors. By delivering 

a CAGR of 1.2% over the 5-year period, GE is significantly outperformed by peers such as Stryker 

and Hologic. Siemens and Danaher also outperform GE, particularly when accounting for the major 

declines in revenue for Danaher and Siemens in 2014, which stem from spin-offs of product lines.  

However, on a profitability level, GE Healthcare overtakes the competitors with a steady and growing 

EBIT level in excess of 25% over the period. Overall, GE Healthcare delivers a solid performance, 

which is somewhere in between its competitors.   
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5.1.6. GE Transportation 

GE Transportation is a global player within railroad, marine, stationary power, drilling industries and 

mining (GE, 2018a). 

Figure 5.35 GE Transportation revenue split 2017 

 
Source: Own work based on GE (2018a) 

Historically its largest sub-segment, Locomotives, provides a wide range of high-horsepower, diesel-

electric locomotives and rail services to the rail market. By developing partnerships, Services offer 

tailored comprehensive solutions, including advisory, software, repair and upgrade services as well 

as data analytics. Mining offers a portfolio of equipment and services to the mining industry.  

 Accounting for only 3% of GE’s total 2017 revenue, with an 11% revenue decline this year and 

a 21% last year, GE Transportation is the second smallest division of the conglomerate. In both years, 

cost reductions, large restructuring projects and supply chain initiatives have been essential parts of 

the operations, indicating a transformation of the transportation division (GE, 2018a; GE, 2017). 

After being appointed CEO, John Flannery announced that the transportation industry is not part of 

the core operations of GE, and as such, further divestments are expected in the future (Flannery, 

2017). For these reasons, the strategic and market analysis of the division will be brief. 

5.1.6.1. Macroeconomic drivers and trends 

Fueling the American economy from the early 19th century with the Baltimore and Ohio Railroad, 

the railroad and locomotive industry has played a major role in developing the U.S. (Hubbard, 1981). 

Today, however, the lifecycle of the industry is in a declining phase, with little real development in 

the last few decades in the U.S. market, which geographically accounts for more than half of GE 

Transportation’s revenue. Despite environmental benefits of moving freight by rail compared to 

trucks, the U.S. freight-hauling industry is mainly dominated by trucks, which move an estimated 

70% of all tonnage compared to 15% by rails (Value Line, 2018). Figure 5.36 illustrates the flattening 

U.S. rail freight market with a 12-year CAGR at -0.15%.  

 The demand for locomotives and locomotive equipment, GE Transportation’s largest product 

segment, has decreased primarily because of the declining rail industry, as depicted below. Yet, 

service revenues increased in 2017 as railroads are running their locomotives longer and thus require 
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more maintenance (GE, 2018a). Despite contributing to revenue in 2017, this trend does not constitute 

a sustainable business model for the division, as it is a clear indication that the whole industry is 

declining. 

Figure 5.36 U.S. rail freight market development        Figure 5.37 Global mining industry development 

 
Source: Statista (2018)                               Source: Statista (2018) 

Figure 5.37 presents a declining mining industry, which is part of GE Transportation’s target market. 

This industry is a smaller part of the division’s operations, yet the figure is shown to demonstrate that 

neither of GE Transportation’s primary industries are growing, for which reason divestments are 

natural.  

5.1.6.2. Competitive outlook 

Locomotives and their equipment are commonly referred to as rolling stock, which encompasses any 

vehicle that moves on a railway. The total rolling stock market size is about USD 128bn, whereas rail 

operators absorb approximately 25%, and 75% is absorbed by locomotive, equipment and service 

providers (McKinsey, 2016). Hence, a total addressable market of approximately USD 96bn, of 

which the top three manufacturers account for more than half, as illustrated by Figure 5.38. 

Figure 5.38 Global rolling stock OEMs market split        Figure 5.39 Revenue growth in 2017 

 
Source: Own work based on McKinsey (2016); Statista (2018)       Source: Capital IQ (2018) 
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Evident in Figure 5.39, there is no clear correlation between size and growth. However, in the last 

couple of years the industry has been characterized by some consolidation. In 2015, the largest 

manufacturer, CRRC was formed through the merger of China CNR Corporation and CSR 

Corporation Limited, and in 2017, Siemens and Alstom announced their merger, as a response to the 

newly formed Chinese behemoth (Reuters, 2017). As such, the industry is rather competitive, which 

is further enhanced by strong buyer bargaining power. The buyers are freight hauling railroad 

operators, which typically controls large parts of the specific networks they operate within, whereas 

Union Pacific, BNSF and CSX are the largest in the U.S. market (Statista, 2018b). Beside their sheer 

size attributing to bargaining power, a clear market overcapacity further enhances the buyers 

bargaining position relative to manufacturers, such as GE (GE, 2018a). Supplier bargaining power is 

less dominant and the direct threat of new entrants is virtually non-existing, due to declining nature 

of the industry. However, the threat of substitute products is perhaps the essential reason for the 

industry’s harsh competitive conditions and overall declining attractiveness. Freight hauling by trucks 

and by air is gaining ground compared to the partly outdated railroad transportation type. 

5.1.6.3. GE’s performance relative to competitors and peers 

GE Transportation is anticipated to be spun off or at least divested substantially. The division is 

performing poorly compared to GE’s other divisions while in an industry context, GE Transportation 

is actually doing quite well, particularly in terms of profitability as depicted in the Figure 5.40. 

Figure 5.40 GE Transportation’s performance relative to competitors and peers 

 
Note: CRRC was formed in 2015 with the merger of CNR and CSR. Alstom 2013 growth removed, as 2012 financials include the spun 
off energy division, which gives an incomparably large revenue decline in 2013. Siemens division was formed in 2013. 
Source: Own work based on Capital IQ (2018) 

Looking at GE Transportation’s revenue growth, the restructuring and divesting of the division 

becomes clear with a 5-year CAGR of -8.2% in revenue. Reasonable to assume, the plan of divesting 

the division is not completely new, as the revenue also declined, on average, under the CEO 

leadership of Jeff Immelt.  
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5.1.7. GE Lighting 

Previously known as Energy Connections & Lightning and encompassing the Energy Connections 

sub-segment (GE, 2017), which is now combined with the Power division. GE Lighting produces and 

markets consumer lighting applications and efficient energy solutions for commercial and industrial 

customers, mostly in the U.S, which is evident in the geographical revenue split below.  

Figure 5.41 GE Lighting revenue split 2017 

 
Source: Own work based on GE (2018a) 

Current combines electrical infrastructure technology, digital applications and data networks to offer 

efficient energy and productivity solutions. With the last decades’ trend of moving from traditional 

lighting products, such as incandescent and halogen bulbs, to energy-saving LED, GE Lighting has 

correspondingly shifted to focus on the LED market. Here, Lighting offers a broad product portfolio 

consisting of a variety of innovative LED solutions (GE, 2018a). Lighting is currently undergoing 

divestment, for which reason the following sections are brief relative to the other divisions.  

5.1.7.1. Macroeconomic drivers 

The lighting industry is currently undergoing massive transformation by both shifting consumer 

preferences as well as changing regulations in both U.S. and EU, where traditional lighting has been 

banned and is phasing out (EC, 2015). Such drivers spur two trends, a rising adaptation of light-

emitting-diodes (LED) technology and an increasing preference for connected lighting systems 

(smart systems) (BCG, 2016).  

Figure 5.42 Global lighting market size and segment split  

 
Source: Own work based on BCG (2015); Note: Percentages are as of total market share 
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As can be seen in Figure 5.42, the move towards LED and connected lighting systems are creating 

new large markets towards 2020 as homes, offices, cities and institutions all over the world will have 

to replace current lighting points such as halogen and incandescent bulbs for LED’s and increasingly 

adapt smart systems to save energy (BCG, 2016).  

 LED has a lower energy consumption and longer lifespan, relative to previous technologies. 

Combined with additional energy savings of 40% from smart systems, the consumers can save on 

their energy consumption. Yet, this also means that replacements will be less frequent and thereby 

reduce the quantity sold. Combined with declining unit prices for LED points, the industry will face 

significant pressure and therefore possibly some consolidation to maintain margins (BCG, 2016). 

5.1.7.2. The competitive outlook 

GE’s largest market, the light bulb market, is heavily concentrated and dominated by major players 

such as Philips Lighting (previous a part of Koninklijke Philips), OSRAM and GE (OSRAM, 2017). 

During the period illustrated in Figure 5.42, GE’s overall lighting market share declined radically, 

partly due to the shift away from conventional luminaries and partly because of active divestment of 

the division (GE, 2018a). The introduction of LED has also attracted new entrants, which start to 

emerge and penetrate the market. These are primarily semiconductor companies with existing and 

strong brand reputation as well as distribution access, with Samsung being a prime example 

(Samsung, 2015). The threat of new entrants is therefore rather high, which may increase quantities 

provided and thereby put additional downward pressure on prices.  

 With regards to supplier power this should be insignificant in relation to the size of GE’s lighting 

division. Buyer power however, is worth highlighting, as buyers’ switching costs are relatively low. 

The technology across both major and smaller players is uniform, which means that buyers should be 

indifferent between technologies, disregarding brand preferences, and only interested in the price 

quote they receive (BCG, 2016). This may lead to price wars between players in the market. 

 The threat from substitute products should be relatively low as the only substitute products 

(halogen, incandescent and fluorescent bulbs) are by law being prohibited and will by 2025 be phased 

out in all of GE’s major markets (BCG, 2016).   

5.1.7.3. GE’s performance relative to competitors and peers 

Although GE possesses superior technology and has well-known and well-branded product lines 

within lighting, they have decided to pull the plug on this division. The market has been, and will 
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continue to be, under increasing pressure, which is also evident from both GE’s performance, but also 

that of the competitors and peers pictured in Figure 5.43. 

Figure 5.43 GE Lighting’s performance relative to competitors and peers  

 
Source: Own work based on Capital IQ (2018) 

The significant drop in GE Lighting’s revenue for 2016 and 2017 is driven, in part, by divestments 

of overseas divisions. Further, GE’s EBIT margin has also fluctuated, while Fagerhult and Philips 

Lighting consistently improve their profitability. Zumtobel and OSRAM Licht, two major players, 

also seem to be facing pressures on their margins.   

 

5.1.8. GE Capital 

In 2015, GE announced its “GE Capital Exit Plan” to form a simpler, more efficient company by 

selling off most of Capital’s assets and thus reduce the size of GE’s financial service businesses (GE, 

2017). Today, Capital is focused on supporting GE’s industrial divisions, by providing financial 

products and services to customers in those industries. The following sections will be unlike those 

for the previously scrutinized divisions, due to Capital’s unusual operations and position within GE. 

Figure 5.44 GE Capital revenue split 2017 

 
Source: Own work based on GE (2018a) 

GE Capital Aviation Services (GECAS) provides financing, commercial aircraft leasing, consulting 

and other services to customers worldwide. Industrial Finance offers financing solutions for GE’s 

healthcare and additive business activities as well as consulting GE in cash and working capital 

management. Energy Financial Services invests in energy projects all around the globe by offering 

financial solutions and underwriting.  
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 Historically, the success and contribution of GE Capital has been of both negative and positive 

character. Today, GE Capital is almost one tenth of its original size, which historically included 

everything from deposit banking, consumer lending, real estate finance, credit cards, investment 

funds, industrial finance and many other financial services (GE, 2018b). These services have, at 

times, contributed with overwhelming prosperity but have, as a consequence of inadequate risk 

management, also brought GE to the ground (Stewart, 2017). Unfortunately, it has taken a while for 

executives to realize that running a full-scale financial institution requires very specific competencies 

and has a poor fit within an industrial conglomerate, as synergies are limited between credit card 

issuance and turbine manufacturing. However, as of today, and going forward, GE Capital has been 

reduced significantly and preserves only the parts that are enabling business for GE’s industrial 

powerhouses. With that in mind, it does not make sense to analyze GE Capital in a macroeconomic 

and competitive setting as the division is not run as a competitive financial institution, but rather as 

an enabler of GE’s industrial divisions. Instead, it is more relevant to outline and understand how GE 

Capital enables sales and growth, how they advise GE, discuss the consequences of the business 

model as well as examining the internal transactions between GE and GE Capital.  

5.1.8.1. GE Capital: Enabling growth or closing the gap? 

Going forward GE Capital will remain with GECAS, Energy Finance and Industrial Finance (GE, 

2018a). In general, GE Capital enables GE orders by providing direct financing to consumers for a 

GE transaction or by bringing together market participants that will result in a commercial sale (GE, 

2018a). GECAS operates through two platforms, loan origination and leasing solutions. The loan 

origination platform is essentially a value add to customers in GE Aviation, as they help finance large 

CAPEX and thereby distribute the costs over a longer time period, rather than paying a single amount. 

The leasing platform buys fleets with installed GE engines and leases these to airlines, while also 

buying engines and other parts, directly from inventory, from GE Aviation. This is then leased or sold 

to customers (GE, 2018a). Energy Finance is essentially an investment platform participating in 

energy projects that present sales opportunities for GE Power and GE Renewable Energy. Industrial 

Finance advises other industrial firms on technology and capacity investment decisions, leasing and 

tax advising, acquisition models, as well as portfolio optimization and management, while also 

assisting GE with financial improvements through internal transactions. In essence, all three Capital 

units enable, albeit in different ways, sales and growth at GE’s industrial divisions.  
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 Despite the obvious benefits of GE Capital, the business model also poses a number of important 

questions that should be addressed, especially when considering the growth and profitability of GE’s 

industrial divisions. The amount of sales and backlog volume generated because of GE Capital is 

important to highlight. If, for instance, GECAS plays a major role in the total amount of engine sales, 

it is crucial to assess both GE Aviation’s products and ability to grow organically, but also the general 

market conditions and saturation levels. Further, operational performance measures on inventory may 

be artificially high in GE Aviation as inventory is being off-loaded to GE Capital, who leases and 

depreciates the inventory over a longer period. As GE Aviation is a main growth and profitability 

contributor to GE, it is crucial to comprehend how this performance is achieved.  

 In 2019, changes will be made to accounting rules on Capital and Operating leases. With this 

enactment, companies must capitalize operating leases on their balance sheet, which is more 

expensive and less beneficial than regular operating leases that are charged directly as an expense 

and do not appear as a liability (Stewart, 2017). This may very well change the dynamics in the market 

and thereby affect Aviation’s inventory management and ability to grow sales. The same is true for 

GE Power and Renewable Energy. Should access to affordable capital fade with the currently 

increasing interest rates, GE Capital may find it harder to place investments in energy projects and 

bring together market participants, which in turn will affect sales and growth at these divisions, and 

eventually at GE in general. 

 Notwithstanding, when run properly, GE Capital can be a significant growth lever for the 

industrial divisions and contribute significantly to earnings. However, understanding the dynamics, 

influence and consequences of the services it provides, is crucial when evaluating the different 

divisions and the company as a whole.  

 

 

 

 

  



5 | Analysis 

Page 69 of 157 

5.1.9. Summarizing analytical findings 

Key findings from the preceding analysis are summarized in the following table. 

Table 5.1 Key findings of strategic and market analysis 

 

 
Note: 1) In-depth strategic and market analysis on BHGE can be found in Appendix 4 2) Indicates the division’s position in a peer 
group in terms of the multiples selected for valuation (cf. section 5.4), 3) BHGE and Capital are valued different from the other 
divisions, and as such, their indicative trading levels are not relevant 
Sources: Own work 

  

Division Aviation Power Oil  & Gas (BHGE) 1 Renewable Energy

Market attractiveness 

and growth prospects

Degree of competitive 

pressure on GE

GE's market position 

(by market share)

GE's performance 

relative to competitors

· Global leader in jet engines · Global leader in gas turbines · Top-10 global player · Top-3 player on wind turbines

· Best selling narrowbody engine · World's most efficient gas turbine · Increased scope through merger · Cost-efficient mid-market turbine

· GE Digital and Additive · Historically strong margins · Ultra-deepwater capabilities · Ability to compete subsidy-free

· Dependent on low oil prices · Reliance on declining segment · Strong dependence on oil prices · Reliance on political trends

· Less present in growth region · Revenue recognition uncertainty · Largely focused on one segment

· Partly dependent on GE Capital · Need to restructure and descale · Less capable on large turbines

· Growing narrowbody market · Dominate heavy-duty segment · Short-term growth (oil prices) · Changing global energy mix

· Growing demand in U.S. market

· Become mid-market leader

· Oil prices projected to increase · Flattening gas turbine market · Uncertain change in energy mix · Political uncertainty

· Demand shifting to Asia Pacific · Changing global energy mix · Substitute to renewable energy · Chinese home market advantage

· Subject to regulatory changes · Turbulence in global policies · Sensitive to geopolitics · Fierce pricing pressure

Indicative trading level
2

Maximum Minimum n.a.
3

Average

· BHGE merger currently thwarts 

the division's performance

· BHGE qualifies to compete 

effectively with industry leaders

Strengths

Weaknesses

Opportunities

Threats

· Exploit growth region's demand 

for narrowbody engines

· Further cost reductions to return 

to historically high profit margins

Division Healthcare Transportation Lighting Capital

Market attractiveness 

and growth prospects
n.a.

Degree of competitive 

pressure on GE
n.a.

GE's market position 

(by market share)
n.a.

GE's performance 

relative to competitors
n.a.

· Leader in target segments · High profit margins · Relatively strong proit margins · Boosts GE's overall performance

· Strong offering withing imaging · Ongoing despite divestments · Specialized product offering · Supporting Aviation & Power

· Potential in life science segment · Stability in service arm · Historically strong brand · Enables internal capital markets

· Lower expertise in public sector · Clouds industrial's performance

· Focus on saturated segments · Lacks synergies with GE group

· Recent management changes · Outdated product offering · Narrow product offering · Complex and opaque accounting

· Increasing elderly population · Large share in LED segment

· Growth in emerging markets

· Inorganic growth opportunities · Potential of high selling price · Trim operational span further 

· High regulation (such as FDA) · Target markets are declining · Political regulation in U.S. and EU · Current SEC investigations

· Price pressure reducing margins · Trucks as substitute product · Shift in product type demand · Uncertain external risk factors

· New niche player entrants · Large consolidated competitors · Strong entrants & price pressure · Increasing interest rates

Indicative trading level
2

Average Minimum Minimum n.a.
3

Threats

· Increase service revenue from 

maintenance on old lcoomotives

· Limited financial resources 

because of divestment strategy

Strengths

Weaknesses

Opportunities

· Limited financial resources 

because of divestment strategy

· Position for profitable scalability 

to obtain a high selling price

· Enhance accouting & operational 

transparency by disintegration
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5.1.10. Addressing the research question 

This section has thoroughly analyzed each division’s specific macroeconomic value drivers and 

projections of these. On the micro-level, the analysis examined the competitive dynamics surrounding 

each division, thus forming an understanding of GE’s overall market position and performance 

relative to competitors, concluding that, in general, GE comprises certain strong industrial divisions. 

The section addresses the research question by providing a fundamental understanding of GE’s 

competitive advantages, as well as the markets it currently operates in, thereby supporting the 

valuation in section 5.4. 

 Equipped with an understanding of GE’s operational activities and their performance, the thesis 

is positioned to go into depth with elements that are of specific relevance in the case of GE. As such, 

the following section will analyze GE’s governance and accounting standards, with a particular focus 

on managerial behavior, and the quality of accounting methods, attempting to address how these 

affect the conglomerate’s valuation and thus the initial part of the two-pronged research question. 

5.2. Governance and accounting analysis 

This section will deep dive into GE’s governance and accounting standards in relation to accounting 

methodology and managers’ fiduciary duties. As outlined in section 4, accounting misdeeds, earnings 

management and fraudulent activities have historically posed an issue at GE. This has prompted the 

authors to analyze the quality of GE’s governance and accounting before diving into the financial 

reports and accepting these as ‘true’ reality (c.f. section 3).  

5.2.1. One plus one is? – Corporate governance and managerial behavior 

There is an old saying that the winning answer to the question ‘one plus one is?’ is, “What do you 

want it to be”? (Henning, 2018) and historically, this seems to have been the answer GE accounting 

executives have been looking for (Husseini, 1994; Fisher, 2009; Eskow, 2011; Rapoport, 2017b; 

Henning, 2018; Lohr, 2018). During the last 30 years, GE has been under investigation from the SEC 

and the Department of Justice (DoJ) and received numerous charges and critiques. Exotic accounting 

and other misdeeds impede the core of financial markets as investors and analysts expect that one 

plus one is two and that financial reports can be used to accurately assess the company’s earnings 

(Henning, 2018). Many analysts express concerns over GE’s complex accounting and murky 

standards. Analyst Scott Davis from Melius Research states “I can’t really build a quarterly cash 

flow for these guys that has any credibility” (Rapoport, 2017b) and a former SEC official expresses 

that “GE has a reputation for questionable and nontransparent financial reports that play too close 
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to the line (i.e. what is legal) when it comes to accounting” (Egan, 2018). In late 2017, CFO Josh 

Bornstein stepped down and just weeks later a new probe by the SEC was revealed (Samaha, 2017).  

5.2.1.1. Aggressive accounting, market manipulation and bribery 

In 2009 GE settled a case of civil fraud and accounting charges with the SEC for the improper use of 

accounting methods to boost earnings (Henning, 2018). For a decade (1999-2009) GE prolonged their 

record of meeting or exceeding analyst expectations through improper recognition of revenue, after-

the-fact valuation of financial instruments and outright overstatement of earnings (Fisher, 2009). 

 SEC concluded that GE used financial tools available at its ‘opaque hedge fund’ subsidiary GE 

Capital to manipulate the revenues at the locomotive segment, by booking revenue for the sale of 

locomotives that were yet to be sold (Eskow, 2011). The company also “sold” locomotives to other 

financial institutions in contracts that left the risk of ownership in GE’s hands (Fisher, 2009). These 

sales padded revenue in 2003 and 2004 with a total of USD 381m, which was just enough to meet 

expectations (Fisher, 2009). GE was additionally charged with overstating the 2002 net earnings by 

USD 585m for the aircraft engine parts division, achieved through more ‘traditional fraudulent 

activities’ (Eskow, 2011). Further, GE used swaps to hedge against moving interest rates, but these 

instruments were classified after-the-fact as either a hedge or an investment depending on what gave 

a better result (Binali, 2017). Clearly illegal, this scheme increased pre-tax earnings by USD 200m.  

 In 2010 GE was charged with bribing officials from Iran to win healthcare contracts and has been 

convicted for defrauding the U.S. Department of Defense by overcharging the army for battlefield 

computer systems. GE has also pleaded guilty to money laundering and corrupt business practices 

relating to sale of military jet engines and finally helped DeBeers Consolidated Mines rigging the 

industrial diamonds market (Husseini, 1994). 

5.2.1.2. Current SEC investigations 

On the 2017 Q4 earnings call newly appointed CFO notified investors that the SEC had begun a new 

investigation into the company’s accounting practices (Henning, 2018). The case will likely take 

several years to process and may have serious impact on previous years’ financials as well as future 

earnings (Lohr, 2018). The SEC is also investigating whether GE once again has bent the rules of 

revenue recognition on service contracts related to equipment sold and thereby inflated revenues and 

earnings of the struggling Power division. Henning (2018) states, “Revenue recognition related to 

service agreements is an area of concern for the S.E.C. because aggressive accounting can hide a 

deterioration in a business line. Some companies book revenue early, robbing from the future to make 
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the present look better in the hope that things will turn around” and Jeff Sprauge at Vertical Research 

Partners further states that “GE has made overly aggressive assumptions to drive earnings […] The 

burden is on the company to prove otherwise” (Clough & Weinberg, 2018). As Figure 5.45 illustrates, 

GE Power’s earnings have, despite a sluggish market, remained stable up until mid 2017, mainly due 

to GE’s long-term service contracts (Clough & Weinberg, 2018).  

Figure 5.45 GE Power quarterly performance YoY comparison 

 
Source: Own work based on Clough & Weinberg (2018) 

The manner in which GE recognizes revenue from these contracts, however, has for long been a black 

box to many investors and a box the SEC is now looking to unravel (Rulison, 2018). The recognition 

of revenues is based on a number of assumptions and should be recognized when the service is 

delivered, but there appears to be unusual discrepancies between the recognition of revenues and the 

actual receipt of cash. Figure 5.46 illustrates the development in an account called Contract assets, 

which is booked on the balance sheet. Over the past eight years, the account has more than tripled 

(Clough & Weinberg, 2018). This development should be concerning to investors since contract 

assets are best described as the difference between revenue booked and the total cash expected to be 

collected (Clough & Weinberg, 2018). 

Figure 5.46 GE Contract assets 2010-2018 

 
Source: Own work based on Clough & Weinberg (2018) 
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In Q1 2017 GE reported a cash shortfall of USD 1bn of which USD 300m were related to contract 

assets, highlighting how GE has ‘robbed’ revenue from the future to pad the present results (Rulison, 

2018). The service contracts can last years into the future, which leaves analysts and investors 

guessing about the future earning power of GE (Rulison, 2018).  

 The SEC has also expressed concerns about management’s forecasting methods and the guidance 

provided to investors. GE’s profits were down 88% during Q4 2017 due to massive write-offs on 

inventory (Rulison, 2018). The SEC is further investigating the process that led to an unexpected 

USD 9.5bn charge to insurance reserves (Lohr, 2018), a charge further explored in section 5.3 

5.2.1.3. 109 years of KPMG 

At GE, CEOs, controversies and business units come and go, but KPMG is forever (Rapoport, 2018). 

Nonetheless, the agitation with GE’s scrupulous behavior is becoming increasingly evident among 

investors and analysts as they seek to force management to increase the transparency of GE’s 

accounting practices by voting out KPMG after 109 years tenure as GE’s auditor (Gryta & Lublin, 

2018). Top proxy firms also advice shareholders to reject GE’s longtime auditing partner, citing 

independence and performance issues (Narayanan, 2018). However, senior management at GE argues 

that they benefit from KPMGs familiarity with the company and thereby boosts the audit quality 

while saving time and costs of onboarding a new auditor (Egan, 2018). GE, however, once again, 

faces several investigations for dubious and aggressive accounting practices and it may be due time 

for a replacement of their auditor, which commentators say, should have been aware of the insurance 

charge issue and the alleged revenue inflation (Lohr, 2018; Narayanan, 2018). Interestingly, the 

problems arise in a time where KPMG themselves are facing serious scrutiny in the wake of the Wells 

Fargo customer account manipulation scandal and the leak of highly confidential data (Gryta & 

Lublin, 2018; Rapoport, 2018). ISS (Institutional Shareholder Services) argues that the rejection of 

KPMG must be balanced, “against the risk that a long-tenured auditor can become too close to a 

client, and the potential for a new auditor to uncover problems previously unidentified” (Narayanan, 

2018). Steven Harris, member of PCAOB (Public Company Accounting Oversight Board) stated, 

“auditor tenure is an important data point in making their investment decisions and assessing the 

potential risks to the objectivity of the auditor” (Rapoport, 2018).  
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5.2.1.4. Earnings management 

The previous examples can all be categorized as attempts to manage earnings with most of them being 

illegal. There are, nonetheless, also other ‘legal’ methods GE applies to manage earnings, such as 

timing the sale of assets with restructuring charges or adjusting expected pension returns and thereby 

reducing pension costs (Smith, et al., 1994; Fisher, 2009; Rapoport, 2017a; Clough, 2017). Managing 

earnings is not without reason as Wall Street and investors prefer a steady growth in earnings (Easton, 

et al., 2018). As can be seen from Figure 5.47, GE has for long periods delivered at or beat the 

analysts’ EPS consensus forecast and only very rarely missed the estimate. Without any correlation 

analysis there seems to be a positive trend in the stock price, when EPS grows steadily, relative to 

when earnings are fluctuating. This is the essence of earnings management.  

Figure 5.47 GE actual EPS versus consensus forecast (quarterly) 

 
Note: Negative EPS/Consensus estimates are not displayed 
Source: Yahoo Finance (2018); NASDAQ (2018); Capital IQ (2018) 
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GE, the gap between actual EPS and adjusted EPS has been consistent and large for a significant 

amount of time, illustrating that one-offs and non-recurring charges are in fact very recurring at GE 
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and required amount of time spent to understand whether the earnings represent true economic 

performance or not. Scott Lawson from Westwood Holdings Group is fed up with GE’s reporting, 

stating that, “GE’s numbers are so complex (…) as an investor you may find that it is a challenge you 

don’t want to work through” (Clough, 2017). Table 5.2 presents the different metrics GE reports and 

how they are consistently improved, alluding to the fact that GE management attempts to convey a 

more positive impression of the company.  

Table 5.2 GE adjusted non-GAAP metrics versus GAAP metrics 

(USD) Metric '16 Q1 '16 Q2 '16 Q3 '16 Q4 '17 Q1 '17 Q2 '17 Q3 '17 Q4 

Non-GAAP Industrial Operating Earnings  0.16  0.46  0.27  0.40  0.14  0.21  0.26  -0.35 

Non-GAAP Industrial Operating Earnings + Verticals  0.21  0.51  0.32  0.46  0.21  0.28  0.29 -1.23 

Non-GAAP Operating EPS  0.06  0.39  0.27  0.43  0.14  0.19  0.26  -1.11 

GAAP Continuing Operations EPS 0.03 0.36 0.23 0.39 0.10 0.15 0.22 -1.15 

GAAP Net Earnings EPS -0.01 0.30 0.22 0.39 0.07 0.13 0.21 -1.13 

Non-GAAP Industrial Operating Margin 11.3%  13.1% 14.0% 16.8% 12.6% 13.2% 11.8% 11.2% 

GAAP Industrial Margin 6.4% 16.1% 10.0% 12.0% 6.0% 8.5% 7.6% 1.1% 

Note: Green arrow indicates GE’s measure to be better than the reported GAAP 
Source: Own work based on GE quarterly reports (2017-2018)  

Earnings management and non-GAAP metrics is something to beware of, especially with a company 

like GE that has a history of aggressively managing earnings and whose reporting complexity is 

profound, even to professional investors.  

5.2.2. Addressing the research question 

The preceding section has addressed the research question by providing qualitative insight into GE’s 

governance, accounting quality and the behavior of its management. Much of the literature reviewed 

in section 2 focuses on governance, accounting and reporting complexity as well as managerial 

behavior. The analysis has provided insights that will contribute to answering the hypotheses related 

to the before mentioned theoretical topics.  

 The preceding analysis equip the reader with an understanding of GE’s governance and 

accounting standards. The trends are somewhat concerning and evidently, GE has been applying 

some exotic accounting approaches. With this in mind, the thesis proceeds with an analysis of the 

financial statements and reports. The purpose is to understand GE’s performance from a P&L 

perspective as well as addressing any complexities that may arise during such analysis.  
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5.3. Financial statement and reporting analysis 

The previous analysis on GE’s corporate governance and accounting standards revealed concerning 

trends. The analysis also established that GE is operating in certain well-performing markets, yet the 

company has failed to deliver any stock returns. On the backdrop of this information, it is with caution 

that an analysis of the financial statements commences. The analysis initiates with a brief examination 

of GE’s P&L and continues with a deep dive into the complexities of GE’s financial reporting.  

5.3.1. GE’s P&L at a glance 

An analysis of GE’s income statement reveals a number of elements that are important to highlight. 

The first thing to notice is that GE does not report (A) Gross profit or (B) Net operating profit (EBIT) 

which are standard line items on most financial statements. Instead, GE reports only (C) Earnings 

before tax (EBT) and does not distinguish between costs related to sales, operations or financing. 

Thus, the authors have found it necessary to increase the cost transparency by computing the profit 

level in accordance with GAAP rules (Easton, et al., 2018). At first glance, GE’s revenue looks stable 

and growing over the 5-year period, except for a decrease of approximately USD 1.5bn in 2017. The 

same cannot be said for the calculated gross profit that declines by USD 6bn in 2017 as both COGS 

and COSS increased despite declining revenues. EBIT further takes a USD 2bn hit due to increases 

in Other costs and expenses, which is, surprisingly, not explained in Note 25 as indicated by the 

income statement.  

Table 5.3 Consolidated Income Statement (adapted) 

STATEMENT OF EARNINGS (LOSS)     
For the years ended 31st December (In USDm) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Revenues and other income 
Sales of goods   71,873    76,568    74,510    75,414    75,641  
Sales of services   28,669    30,190    31,298    34,976    37,551  
Other income   3,107    778    2,227    4,005    1,625  
GE Capital revenues from services   9,595    9,648    9,350    9,297    7,276  

Total revenues and other income   113,245    117,184    117,386    123,693    122,092  

Costs and expenses (Note 25) 
Cost of goods sold   57,867    61,257    59,905    62,440    64,328  
Cost of services sold   21,974    22,447    22,788    25,043    27,606  

(A) Gross Profit   33,404    33,480    34,693    36,210    30,158  

Selling, general and administrative expenses   17,945    16,848    17,831    18,377    18,280  
Other costs and expenses   828    1,115    2,608    982    3,632  

(B) Net Operating Profit (EBIT)   14,631    15,517    14,254    16,851    8,246  

Interest and other financial charges   2,870    2,723    3,463    5,025    4,869  
Investment contracts, insurance loss and insurance annuity benefit (Note 11)   2,661    2,530    2,605    2,797    12,168  

Total costs and expenses   104,145    106,921    109,200    114,663    130,883  

(C) Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (EBT)   9,100    10,263    8,186    9,030    (8,791)  

Benefit (provision) for income taxes    (1,219)    (773)    (6,485)    464    3,043  

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations   7,881    9,490    1,700    9,494    (5,748)  
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes   5,475    5,855    (7,495)    (954)    (309)  

(D) Net Income (Loss)   13,355    15,345    (5,795)    8,540    (6,056)  

Note: (A) & (B) not reported in original statement 
Source: Own work based on GE (2018a) 
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Strangely, the explanation for the increase in Other costs and expenses, can be found in a discussion 

of restructuring charges preceding the financial statements. Not surprisingly, the increase stems from 

a USD 1.2bn goodwill impairment related to the conversion of the Power division (GE, 2018a, p. 60). 

The costs related to Investment contracts, insurance losses and insurance annuity benefits also make 

up a substantial cost in addition to Interest and other financial charges. As mentioned earlier, and as 

can be seen in Table 5.3, GE took a rather massive hit in 2017, which was due to a failed estimation 

of policy claims on their long-term life and health insurances. A footnote to Note 11 reads, “The 

indicated premium deficiency resulted in a $9,481 million charge to earnings, which included a $398 

million impairment of deferred acquisition costs, a $216 million impairment of present value of future 

profits, and an $8,867 million increase in future policy benefit reserve” (GE, 2018a, p. 152). The 

increase in future policy reserve benefit essentially means that GE has underfunded their policy 

reserves for at least several years. This issue sounds very familiar to Jack Welch’s USD 9.4bn 

underfunding of reinsurance reserves in 1997-2001 (c.f. section 4).  

 There are also significant differences between the results from Earnings of continuing operations 

and (D) Net income (loss) driven by the divestments of both seemingly profitable and unprofitable 

divisions operations. The net income line is the original result from that year but has later been 

reclassified to account for assets divested in later years, a topic that shall be addressed shortly. 

Nonetheless, accounting for the divested operations, GE’s results are rather unsteady for a stalwart 

company of that size.  

5.3.2. Financial statement complexity 

GE’s reporting is significantly more complicated than a non-conglomerate firm and the complexity 

is heavily increased owing to the fact that GE is both a financial institution as well as an industrial 

institution. GE provides two sets of financial statements, a consolidated as seen in Table 5.3, and 

another set distinguishing between GE and GE Capital. GE Capital used to be a separate firm owned 

by GE and therefore reported independently to the SEC. Now, however, GE Capital is merged into 

GE, requiring GE to show statements for both industrial divisions and GE Capital, as GE Capital is a 

financial institution (Easton, et al., 2018).  

 An analyst attempting to understand the underlying drivers of the consolidated statements must 

therefore analyze two separate firms, which requires different analysis methods due to the financial 

and industrial nature of the separate divisions (Easton, et al., 2018). This requires additional 

specialization on behalf of the analyst not to mention the additional time to be invested.  
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 One of the complicated elements in recreating the consolidated statement is the inter-play 

between GE Capital and GE (industrial). As can be seen under Revenues and other income in Table 

5.4 GE reports (A) GE Capital earnings (loss) from continuing operations as a part of their revenue 

and other income, only the numbers do not seem to be transferred from the equivalent line item under 

GE Capital. Instead, they are (mainly) taken from the (B) Earnings (loss) from continuing operations 

attributable to common shareowners. However, there seems to be a discrepancy between GE’s 

reported numbers over the three-year period. For 2017 and 2016 the numbers match as indicated by 

the blue dotted lines, but for 2015 there seems to be a USD 300m difference between the reported 

numbers as indicated by the red dotted lines. A recalculation of the statement confirms that the 

revenue numbers add up ruling out a typo or a miscalculation.  

Table 5.4 Un-consolidated Income Statement (adapted) 

 
Note: cont. ops. attr. = Continuing operations attributable to; Total revenue ex. GE Capital not reported in financial statements 
Source: Own work based on GE (2018a) 

A discrepancy of USD 300m should warrant some investigation of the annual report. Table 5.5 

presents a supplementary table in the annual report preceding the financial statements. The table 

shows GE Capital earnings (loss) from continuing operations and reports the exact numbers 

transferred to GE’s income statement, only these are no longer attributable to common shareowners. 

Oddly, the GE Capital earnings (loss) from continuing operations reported in Table 5.5 do not, in 

any way, match the equivalent Earnings (loss) from continuing operations reported in the income 

statement. The numbers are highlighted and indicated by the purple box. 

For the years ended December 31 (In USDm) 2015 2016 2017 2015 2016 2017

Revenues and other income

Sales of goods  79  115  130   74,565   75,580   75,718 

Sales of services   31,641   35,255   37,761 

Other income   2,165   4,092   1,436 

(A) GE Capital earnings (loss) from continuing operations   (7,672)   (1,251)   (6,765) 

GE Capital revenues from services  10,722  10,790  8,940

Total revenues and other income  10,801  10,905  9,070   100,700   113,676   108,150 

(D) Total revenues and other income (ex. GE Capital loss)   108,371   114,927   114,915 

Total costs and expenses  13,539  12,942  21,703   97,447   103,860   111,072 

Earnings (loss) from cont inuing operat ions before income taxes  (2,739)  (2,037)  (12,633)   3,252   9,815   (2,922) 

Benefit (provision) for income taxes (Note 13)  (4,979)  1,431  6,302   (1,506)   (967)   (3,259) 

Earnings (loss) from cont inuing operat ions  (7,718)  (606)  (6,331)   1,746   8,849   (6,181) 

Earnings (loss) from discont inued operat ions, net  of taxes (Note 2)  (7,485)  (954)  (312)   (7,807)   (952)   (315) 

Net  earnings (loss)  (15,202)  (1,560)  (6,643)   (6,061)   7,896   (6,496) 

Amounts attributable to GE common shareowners:

(A) Earnings (loss) from continuing operations  (7,718)  (606)  (6,331)   1,746   8,849   (6,181) 

Less net earnings (loss) att. to noncontrolling interests, continuing ops.  (64)  (10)  (3)   83   (279)   (274) 

Earnings (loss) from cont inuing ops. att . to the Company  (7,654)  (595)  (6,328)   1,663   9,128   (5,907) 

Preferred stock dividends  (330)  (656)  (436)

(B) Earnings (loss) from cont. ops. att . to GE common shareowners  (7,983)  (1,251)  (6,765)   1,663   9,128   (5,907) 

Earnings (loss) from discont inued operat ions, net  of taxes  (7,485)  (954)  (312)   (7,807)   (952)   (315) 

Less net earnings (loss) att. to noncontrolling interests, discontinued ops.  312  (1)  6

Net  earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareowners  (15,780)  (2,204)  (7,083)   (6,145)   8,176   (6,222) 

GE Capita l GE
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 The authors are well aware that discrepancies of this size would not have gone unnoticed, at least 

they should not, and the reason for the discrepancy should be found somewhere in the 250 page long 

annual report. Nonetheless, this notably illustrates the difficulties and complexities analysts face in 

valuing GE but also expresses an overall carelessness of GE’s reporting, especially as these 

differences are not addressed in the footnotes to the financial statements nor in the accompanying 

notes to the financial statements. 

Table 5.5 Supplemental information GE annual report 

 
Source: Own work based on GE (2018a); Note: The numbers are presented before the financial statements in the annual report 

5.3.2.1. Intercompany transactions 

Adding to the complexity, GE relies on a number of intercompany transactions between GE’s 

industrial divisions and GE Capital. Particularly, GE Capital has for several years paid significant 

dividends to GE (industrial) and these are accounted for, for tax purposes but not for GAAP purposes. 

This transaction therefore, does not appear on the income statement but rather the balance sheet and 

statement of changes in equity at GE industrial. Since dividends from affiliates are tax deductible, 

there is a rather heavy tax effect and such transaction therefore does not balance out in the 

consolidated statements, and should be accounted for accordingly (GE, 2018a). GE Capital and GE 

industrials engage in numerous other transactions including expenses related to pension plans, PPE 

leased between GE and GE Capital, sale-leaseback transactions, various investments, loans and 

allocation of GE corporate overhead costs (GE, 2018a). Intercompany transactions are very difficult 

to track and account for but due to the tax benefits achieved on a consolidated level, they should be 

included in a truly comprehensive valuation (Easton, et al., 2018).  

 The conscious reader also would have noted a significant difference in the sum of reported 

revenues for GE Capital and GE relative to the consolidated revenues. In a consolidated statement, 

all intercompany transactions must be eliminated. As Table 5.6 presents, GE has a significant volume 

of intercompany transactions that are included in the individual statements. When analyzing GE and 

GE Capital individually, any analyst should further be aware of eliminating intercompany 

transactions. There also seems to be both small and large discrepancies between Total industrial 

segment revenue reported in Table 5.6 indicated by (D) and the Total revenue and other income (ex. 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION:

(In USDm) 2015 2016 2017

GE earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (GAAP)   3,252   9,815   (2,922) 

(A) Less: GE Capital earnings (loss) from continuing operations   (7,672)   (1,251)   (6,765) 

Total   10,924   11,066   3,843 

GE PRE-TAX EARNINGS (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS, EXCLUDING GE CAPITAL EARNINGS (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
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GE Capital loss) indicated by (D), in Table 5.4. The discrepancy arises because the un-consolidated 

income statement does not account for GE-GE Capital eliminations (GE, 2018a, p. 96).  

Table 5.6 Intersegment revenues & eliminations (adapted) 

 
Source: Own work based on GE (2018a); Note: A + B = C 

5.3.2.2. Segment opacity 

Analyzing the operating profitability of GE’s industrial divisions is difficult. On a divisional level, 

GE provides very scarce information and presents only revenue, depreciation & amortization and 

segment profit (after tax) (cf. Appendix 6). The scarcity of information disables investors’ ability to 

analyze cost drivers such as COGS, R&D and SG&A and other operating expenses as well as profit 

drivers such as EBIT and EBITDA. Without this information, forecasting on a divisional level is 

limited to simple estimations of EBIT and EBITDA, requiring several assumptions. Such 

assumptions may be significantly different from reality and thus distort the true performance of the 

division, yet these are necessary assumptions, required to perform the valuation of each division. 

A note on divisional EBIT and EBITDA calculations 

To obtain divisional EBIT and EBITDA values the following sections reverse-engineer the reported 

segment profit after tax to EBIT and EBITDA. Since effective tax rates are not reported on a segment 

level, assumptions will have to be made to add back taxes. GE’s consolidated effective tax rate is 

fluctuating significantly due to aforementioned intercompany transactions as well as the massive 

losses at GE in recent years. This thesis adopts an approach of divisional EBIT, which includes an 

add-back of taxes equal to the statutory tax rate of 35%, adjusted for the relative proportion of 

reported net interest and financial charges (for GE’s industrial divisions) related to each division, and 

then an add-back of the net interest and financial charges related to each division. Net interest and 

financial charges are allocated based on a revenue split for each year and it is thus assumed that each 

dollar of revenue across divisions consumes the same amount of financing. The thesis does not, 

however, account for the fact that large parts of the revenue is derived overseas and therefore taxed 

(In USDm) 2015 2016 2017 2015 2016 2017 2015 2016 2017

Aviation  24,242  25,530  26,790  730  418  585  24,660  26,261  27,375

Power  27,328  35,465  34,598  1,330  1,574  1,392  28,903  36,795  35,990

Renewable Energy  6,261  9,022  10,211  11  12  69  6,273  9,033  10,280

Oil & Gas  16,063  12,515  16,584  383  387  646  16,450  12,898  17,231

Healthcare  17,633  18,276  19,098  15  7  18  17,639  18,291  19,116

Transportation  5,932  4,713  4,168  1  1  10  5,933  4,713  4,178

Lighting  8,729  4,795  1,956  28  22  31  8,751  4,823  1,987

(D) Total  industr ial  segment revenues  106,188  110,316  113,406  2,498  2,421  2,751  108,609  112,814  116,157

Capital  9,650  9,617  7,451  1,288  1,151  1,620  10,801  10,905  9,070

Corporate items and eliminations  1,548  3,760  1,236  (3,786)  (3,572)  (4,371)  (2,024)  (26)  (3,135)

Total  117,386  123,693  122,092 - - -  117,386  123,693  122,092

Total  revenues (C)Intersegment revenues (B)External  revenues (A)
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at a different rate. Finally, EBITDA is calculated by adding back depreciation & amortization to 

EBIT. The computations of EBIT and EBITDA thus treat each division as a single entity that would 

pay an individual tax of 35% on their operating profit. Co-insurance and diversification theory 

reviewed in section 2 suggests that interest expenses would be higher for the divisions as stand-alone 

entities, yet the effect here is deemed to be insignificant, due to low interest expenses, and 

assumptions are not made to account for this effect. For computations please refer to Appendix 6. 

5.3.3. Cash flow analysis 

The previous sections have, in various degree, touched upon GE’s troubled cash flows. The cash 

flows have been put under significant pressure due to recent years’ massive M&A transactions and 

aforementioned cash flow issues in GE Power. 

5.3.3.1. Cash conversion cycle 

An analysis of GE’s cash conversion cycle reveals that GE’s working capital management and cash 

flow management have also deteriorated significantly. Big bets in a stagnating power market have, 

among other things, caused inventory to rise disproportionate relative to COGS. Accounts payable 

declines significantly in relation to COGS and may be an expression for suppliers questioning GE’s 

credit quality. Indeed, Moody has cut GE’s credit rating from A1 to A2 due to ‘extreme deterioration’ 

in the power market, back in November, 2017 (Cox, 2017). Accounts receivable, as stated on the 

balance sheet, remains steady during the past 6 years. However, aforementioned contract assets is 

another account on the balance sheet, but is not, by GE, defined as a receivable (c.f. section 5.3). This 

item is, as mentioned, the difference between revenue booked and cash flows received, in other words, 

a de facto receivable.  

Figure 5.48 Accounts receivable                     Figure 5.49 Accounts receivable to total assets 

 
Source: Own work based on GE annual reports (2013-2018)        Blue: Acc. Rec., Purple: Both Acc. Rec. and Contract Assets 
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As the figures above illustrate, contract assets are a rather significant contribution to receivables and 

should be included. The contract assets were introduced in 2014 and were reported separately, and 

one surely understands GE’s disinterest in escalating their accounts receivable. When contract assets 

are included in receivables, the account makes up 12.3% of total assets in 2017 versus 6.5% if they 

were not included. The importance of including contract assets as a receivable is obvious when 

looking at GE’s cash conversion cycle (CCC). CCC, a metric that cannot be observed in the cash flow 

statement, reflects the time span between GE’s disbursement of cash and the collection of cash 

(Easton, et al., 2018). As Figure 5.51 illustrates, CCC at GE has increased drastically, but even more 

so, when contract assets are accounted for as a receivable.  

Figure 5.50 Working capital metrics                  Figure 5.51 Cash conversion cycle 

 
Source: Own work based on GE annual reports (2013-2018) 

While accounts receivable explains most of the worsening in CCC, it seems that GE is indeed 

mismanaging all of their working capital accounts, and thus, tie their cash up much longer than 

previously. The time it takes GE to convert sales into cash has tripled over the period 2012-2017 

when accounting for contract assets, even so, without contract assets the time has doubled. However, 

when contract assets are not included it would appear that GE has been reducing (improving) its CCC 

in the past 2 fiscal years, which is clearly not the case when contract assets are accounted for. 

5.3.3.2. Cash flow from operations 

At this point, the analysis has already touched upon GE’s current cash flow issues and the following 

section will comment on some of the accounts that affect cash flows but also highlight some of the 

important cost drivers that are, to some extent, hidden in generic line items. Table 5.7 below presents 

certain items in the statement of cash flows, particularly those accounts relating to the operating cash 

flows. Among the working capital drivers, changes in current receivables are the largest drivers and 

clearly shows an upward (negative) trend towards 2017. Meanwhile, the line item All other operating 
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activities seem to be the most significant account driving the cash flows. Not surprisingly, GE places 

changes in the aforementioned contract assets under this all-encompassing line item. Contract assets 

is a de facto receivable and should accordingly, given its substantial negative trend, be reported as 

one of the working capital line items. GE also reports other important non-cash cost drivers that 

convey important messages about GE’s operations and viability such as Restructuring and other 

charges, Other (which is essentially other charges related to acquisitions and restructuring), and 

Intangible asset amortization. GE also conveniently reports the massive and recurring insurance 

losses under All other operating activities. The fact that the majority of changes in operating cash 

flows are driven by a single generic line item containing numerous important cost drivers is a 

prominent indicator of GE’s opaque reporting philosophy. 

Table 5.7 Statement of Cash Flows (selected accounts) 

 
(*) All other operating activities sub-categories are retrieved from Notes to the Financial Statements  
(**) Included other non-cash adjustments to net income, such as write-downs of assets and the impacts of acquisition accounting and changes in 
other assets and other liabilities classified as operating activities 
(***) Primarily included non-cash adjustments for insurance-related charges recorded in the fourth quarter of 2017 
- indicates that the number is not reported 

Note: Only selected accounts are displayed; numbers do not add; see Appendix 5 for full statement; cursive indicates that numbers 
are retrieved from Notes to the Financial Statements 
Source: Own work based on GE annual reports (2013-2018) 

5.3.3.3. Restructuring  

The two items Restructuring and other charges and Other are both related to GE’s acquisition and 

divestment of units. Other covers asset write-downs and effects from acquisition accounting. GE 

spends a significant amount of cash and takes significant non-cash charges, which directly affects 

both cash balances and profit margins. Restructuring charges may seem to be a natural part of a 

conglomerates’ engagement in acquisitions and divestments. Yet, by analyzing restructuring charges 

For the years ended December 31 (In USDm) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Cash flows operating activities

Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company            13,057            15,233            (6,126)              8,831            (5,786)

(Earnings) loss from discontinued operations (5,475)           (5,855)           7,495            954               309               

Reconci l iations

Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment         5,202         4,953         4,847         4,997         5,139 

Deferred income taxes (3,540)           (882)              383               814               (4,845)           

Decrease (increase) in GE current receivables           (485)        (1,913)             (52)         1,514         1,551 

Decrease (increase) in inventories (1,368)           (872)              (314)              (1,389)           747               

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable                 442                 565               (541)              1,198               (335)

Increase (decrease) in GE progress collections (unearned revenue)              1,892               (515)               (996)              1,836              1,322 

All other operating activities (*)              4,672              5,318              7,160          (12,655)            13,291 

(Gains) Losses on purchases and sales of business interests - (188)             (1,020)          (3,701)          (656)             

Contract Assets - (1,572)      (1,919)      (3,929)      (3,988)      

Principal Pension Plans - 3,368           4,265           3,071           1,709           

Restructuring and Other Charges - - 637              1,702           3,162           

Other (**) - 260              (2,559)          (2,474)          (562)             

Intangible Asset Amortization - - 1,514       2,011       2,154       

Other (GE Capital) (2,995)          5,073           2,163           (10)               (***)13,237

Cash from (used for) operating activities 28,510      27,709      19,891      (244)          10,426      

General  Electr ic Company and consol idated affi l iates
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of comparable conglomerate peers, it appears that GE consistently has higher costs, as presented in 

Table 5.8. These costs are a natural outcome given GE’s past five years of M&A history, which 

includes more than 160 transactions with GE business units as either the target, acquirer or seller of 

the transaction. See Appendix 7 for a full list of GE’s M&A activity in the period 2013 to 2017. 

Table 5.8 GE and peers restructuring charges to revenue 

Ratio of restructuring charges to revenue 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Average 

GE 1.8% 1.3% 1.4% 2.9% 3.6% 2.2% 

Peer group average 0.3% 0.1% 0.4% 0.3% 0.4% 0.3% 
Peer group median 0.3% 0.0% 0.2% 0.2% 0.3% 0.2% 

Difference (GE - peer group average) 1.5% 1.2% 0.9% 2.6% 3.2% 1.9% 
Difference (GE - peer group median) 1.4% 1.2% 1.2% 2.7% 3.3% 2.0% 

Source: Own work based on GE (2018a); Capital IQ (2018); See Appendix 8 for computations 

5.3.3.4. Pension liability 

The line item Principal pension plan reflects the effects of pension costs and employer contributions. 

The pension plan is currently a significant topic at GE currently showing an unfunded gap of USD 

28.7bn (GE, 2018a). The gap is currently the worst pension plan shortfall in the history of corporate 

America. GE will need to borrow and set aside more cash to fund the portfolio going forward (Clough 

& Kochkodin, 2018).  

5.3.3.5. Changes in net cash and equivalents 

Figure 5.52 below summarizes GE’s cash flow use for operations, investments and financing. 

Expectedly, there seems to be an inverse relationship between investing and financing activities that 

essentially balance each other out. Nonetheless, these extreme fluctuations and the variability in 

operating cash flows give rise to significant instability in the net cash available, which is displayed 

in Figure 5.53. 

Figure 5.52 Changes in cash flows 2013-2017          Figure 5.53 Net change in cash available 2013-2017 

 
Source: Both - own work based on GE annual reports (2013-2018) 

Table 5.9 below places GE’s cash flow in the context of other conglomerates and clearly indicates 

that GE is doing something wrong. The volatility (standard deviation) in their net change in cash 
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hovers at 17% over the 5-year period while the median standard deviation for a group of similar 

conglomerate peers is 2.2%. Among these peers are ABB, Honeywell, Siemens and United 

Technologies Corporation with standard deviations in the range 1.6%-4.2% – significantly below GE.  

Table 5.9 GE and peers net change in cash to revenue 

Ratio of net change in cash to revenue 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Std. Deviation 

GE 10.0% 1.9% -0.1% -34.4% -4.5% 17.0% 
Peer group average n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 2.5% 

Peer group median n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 2.2% 

ABB Ltd -2.0% -1.5% -2.5% -2.7% 2.6% 2.2% 
Honeywell International Inc. 4.6% 1.3% -3.9% 6.1% -1.9% 4.2% 

Siemens Aktiengesellschaft -2.3% -1.7% 2.5% 0.8% -2.7% 2.3% 
United Technologies Corporation -0.4% 1.4% 2.9% 0.1% 3.1% 1.6% 

Source: Own work based on GE (2018a); Capital IQ (2018); See Appendix 9 for computations 

5.3.4. Addressing the research question 

The preceding section addressed the research question by providing insights on GE’s financial 

statements and the complexity of its reports. Much of the literature reviewed in section 2 places an 

emphasis on the complexity of financial reporting in conglomerates but also the benefits of reduced 

cash flow dispersion. The analysis has commented on GE’s P&L performance and cash flow 

management, but more importantly shed light on several of the complexities found in GE’s annual 

reports. Among other things, the analysis of the interplay between GE’s and GE Capital’s income 

statements and the discrepancies in these are a major contributor to answering the hypotheses from 

the theoretical framework. 

 On the backdrop of the preceding analyses the thesis continues with the valuation of GE. Also 

addressed in section 3, the thesis does not apply the theoretical and traditional DCF analysis. The 

governance and accounting practices as well as the complexities explored in the two previous sections 

have been major contributors in the decision, to apply a more simplistic and less assumption based 

valuation approach. As such, the thesis continues with a valuation of GE that will seek to answer the 

first part of the research question, whether GE’s market value as of March 2nd, 2018, indicates that 

GE is valued at a discount.   
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5.4. Valuation analysis 

To determine whether GE is trading at a conglomerate discount or premium, this section will estimate 

a fair value of the company. The results and approach are compared to those of GE-specialized equity 

analysts. GE is valued as of March 2nd, 2018, which enables utilizing the latest annual report that 

includes 2017 financial year figures. The data in all following sections has been compiled with the 

limitation of not going beyond the valuation date, March 2nd, 2018, except for the analyst reports. 

 As accounted for in the methodology section, this thesis applies a multiples analysis valuation 

based on public company comparables and precedent transactions, also known as public comps and 

transaction comps, respectively. Compiling the valuation multiples by more than one method enables 

triangulating the results by analyzing the differences in the outcome and thus testing their plausibility. 

5.4.1. Multiples analyses of GE 

The multiples analyses do not include the divisions, Oil & Gas and GE Capital. Oil & Gas is merged 

into BHGE, a publicly listed company. As such, the valuation of this division is performed using 

market values and conducted at a later point. Capital is also valued at a later point.  

 To value each of GE’s remaining industrial divisions through multiples analyses, it is necessary 

to prepare each division’s financials for such analyses. First, each division’s profitability measures, 

EBIT and EBITDA, are established, as well as their historical development. See Appendix 6 for 

computations. Next, the average sales growth rate over the analyzed period and the average 

profitability margins are computed. These figures are applied to compare the performance of GE’s 

divisions with their potential peers. Table 5.10 highlights these financials. 
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Table 5.10 GE divisional sales growth and profitability 2013-2017 

 
Source: Own work based on GE annual reports (2013-2018) and Appendix 6 

5.4.1.1. Public company comparables and comparability characteristics 

This is a relative valuation technique where the company is valued based on its valuation multiples 

compared to those of its publicly listed peers. The peer group is defined through the most commonly 

applied comparability characteristics: Industry, geography and financials. First, the peer company 

should operate within an industry that the GE division operates in. As GE’s division are rather broad 

in terms of operating activities, the peers have been selected with the intention of, to some degree, 

spanning across GE’s product offering and value chain location. Second, in terms of geography, GE 

is a multinational corporation and so are all the divisions. As such, the peer group consists of 

companies from all around the world. Third, the peers are all above USD 1bn in market cap (with one 

exception) to ensure a certain comparability in size. GE’s divisions are larger than this, however, in 

a trade-off between financial size and comparability in industry, the latter is more important. Last, 

profitability and growth have been weighed when determining the fit of a potential peer. Appendix 

10 provides an overview of potential peers and illustrates the selection process of these.  

 Having followed this procedure and rejected certain potential peers based on financially and 

performance-wise fundamental differences, a complete list of each division’s public company 

comparables peer group is presented in Table 5.11. 

Average Average

Divisions (In USDm) 2013         2014         2015         2016         2017         growth margin

Aviation
Sales 21,911          23,990          24,660          26,261          27,375          5.8%
EBITDA 7,601            8,752            9,680            10,738          11,799          37.2%
EBIT 6,924            7,928            8,825            9,838            10,820          33.9%

Power
Sales 26,884          28,149          28,903          36,795          35,990          8.1%
EBITDA 7,545            7,789            8,789            9,984            6,435            28.3%
EBIT 6,952            7,226            7,754            8,435            5,077            25.4%

Renewable Energy
Sales 4,824            6,399            6,273            9,033            10,280          22.1%
EBITDA 872               1,255            869               1,217            1,603            16.6%
EBIT 799               1,142            753               1,034            1,344            14.9%

Healthcare
Sales 18,200          18,299          17,639          18,291          19,116          1.3%
EBITDA 5,749            5,742            5,485            5,948            6,531            31.6%
EBIT 4,888            4,899            4,686            5,163            5,725            27.1%

Transportation
Sales 5,885            5,650            5,933            4,713            4,178            -7.7%
EBITDA 2,024            1,973            2,231            1,882            1,495            36.2%
EBIT 1,858            1,804            2,043            1,714            1,360            33.2%

Lighting
Sales 8,338            8,242            8,751            4,823            1,987            -24.7%
EBITDA 977               1,167            1,265            558               273               12.7%
EBIT 677               903               1,162            385               187               9.7%
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Table 5.11 Public company comparables peer groups for each GE industrial division 

 
Source: Own work based on Capital IQ (2018) 

The table presents each peer’s EV/EBITDA and EV/EBIT multiples, sales growth, margins and each 

division’s peer group averages. The actual multiples applied in the valuation are determined by a 

comparative performance assessment between each division and the peer group. This evaluation is 

supported by the preceding analyses, with particular focus on the strategic and market analysis and 

the indicative trading level provided in the extended SWOT model (cf. section 5, Table 5.1). 

 The crown jewel of GE, the Aviation division, is an industry leader and exceeds its peer group 

in terms of sales growth and profitability margins. Therefore, the highest multiple is chosen for the 

valuation. Power exceeds its peer group as well, however, as outlined in section 5.2, these figures 

may be highly overstated, for which reason the authors do not find it credible to take them at face 

value. When reducing the sales growth equivalent to the amount added by the acquisition of Alstom, 

and by factoring in the growth of its target segment, heavy-duty gas turbines, which was flat in 2017, 

the division ends up inferior to its peers, for which reason the minimum multiple is applied. 

Divisions

2013-2017 Average
Revenue growth (%) EBITDA EBIT

Aviation
Triumph Group, Inc. 6.0x 6.6x (1.0%) 12.5% 11.2%

Rolls-Royce Holdings plc 8.8x 13.2x (1.6%) 10.7% 7.1%

Safran SA 9.9x 12.8x 1.4% 20.6% 15.9%

BAE Systems plc 10.7x 12.1x (2.4%) 9.9% 8.7%

Average 8.8x 11.2x (0.9%) 13.4% 10.7%

Power
Cummins Inc. 10.3x 13.2x 4.7% 12.6% 9.8%

Schneider Electric S.E. 10.8x 12.4x (1.5%) 16.0% 14.0%

Sumitomo Heavy Industries 8.0x 11.3x (0.4%) 10.2% 7.2%

SPIE SA 11.1x 15.1x 5.3% 6.9% 5.1%

Average 10.0x 13.0x 2.0% 11.4% 9.0%

Renewable Energy
Vestas Wind Systems A/S 5.8x 6.9x 9.5% 15.1% 12.6%

Nordex SE 5.3x 11.9x 17.8% 6.4% 2.9%

Suzlon Energy Limited 8.3x 9.4x (6.3%) 16.0% 14.1%

Average 6.5x 9.4x 7.0% 12.5% 9.9%

Healthcare
Danaher Corporation 17.4x 24.2x 2.0% 24.1% 17.4%

Medtronic plc 13.1x 19.2x 16.8% 31.0% 21.2%

Stryker Corporation 19.0x 23.4x 8.4% 27.4% 22.2%

Hologic, Inc. 13.1x 23.4x 3.0% 36.7% 20.5%

Getinge AB 8.8x 17.4x (8.2%) 21.6% 10.9%

Quest Diagnostics Inc. 11.1x 13.4x 1.9% 20.2% 16.7%

Average 13.7x 20.2x 4.0% 26.8% 18.1%

Transportation
Alstom SA 11.5x 14.6x 0.7% 7.1% 5.6%

The Greenbrier Company 4.8x 6.0x 6.9% 14.6% 11.6%

Talgo, S.A. 10.9x 12.5x 2.2% 17.6% 15.4%

CRRC Corporation Limited 15.1x 22.9x (3.0%) 8.6% 5.6%

Average 10.6x 14.0x 1.7% 12.0% 9.5%

Lighting
Philips Lighting N.V. 7.1x 10.7x (3.5%) 9.6% 6.4%

OSRAM Licht AG 9.6x 15.0x (6.6%) 14.5% 9.2%

Hubbell Incorporated 12.3x 14.4x 3.6% 17.1% 14.6%

Zumtobel Group AG 5.2x 8.2x (3.1%) 8.8% 5.6%

Average 8.5x 12.1x (2.4%) 12.5% 8.9%

 Multiples analysis  Consensus financial  performance 

2017 margin
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Renewable Energy beats the peers as well, yet again, the strong sales growth in 2016 is mostly due 

to the addition of Alstom’s renewable energy unit. Vestas is still the clear industry leader but GE has 

shown some potential, making the median multiple the reasonable choice. The broad industry span 

of GE Healthcare (imaging, life sciences, software, analytics and hospital systems) renders it difficult 

to find accurate peers. Instead, the peer group consists of firms that in combination somewhat match 

GE’s offering. Usually, it is wrong to apply the average of a peer group, but in this specific case, it 

makes sense, especially when taking the sales growth and profitability margins into account. It is 

anticipated that Transportation and Lighting will be spun off and both divisions are subject to much 

divestment, which is evident in the negative growth rates. As such, the minimum multiples from each 

peer group are selected for valuation purposes. 

 The table below presents the range for each multiples types on a divisional level. The applied 

valuation multiples are highlighted in the first two tables and listed in the last two columns. The final 

valuation through public company comparables will be computed using these multiples.  

Table 5.12 Public company comparables valuation multiples 

  
Source: Own work based on Capital IQ (2018) 

5.4.1.2. Precedent transactions and comparability characteristics 

Precedent transaction analysis is to some degree similar to public comps, in the sense that the same 

multiples are typically used and that somewhat similar comparability characteristics define the peer 

group. Yet, in public comps the multiples are based on peers’ traded market values, whereas the 

multiples in transaction comps are based on the price paid by the buyer in an M&A deal (Koller, et 

al., 2010). The same peer group characteristics recur in this analysis with the addition of a time aspect. 

As market conditions such as business cycle, scarcity of the targeted asset and competitiveness of the 

M&A environment, at the time of the transaction, can have substantial impact on the company 

valuation, the precedent transactions applied in the valuation are all within the last two years. 

Furthermore, the analysis only includes deals where the buyer acquires a 100% stake in the company 

(with one exception) to ensure consistency. The reason for this is that in these deals, the acquirer 

becomes the sole owner, which enables full control over the acquired company. In order to get such 

control, the acquirer typically pays a control premium – the purchase price is higher than it would be 

Divisions Min. Max. Median Average Min. Max. Median Average Appl ied EV/EBITDA EV/EBIT

Aviation 6.0x 10.7x 9.3x 8.8x 6.6x 13.2x 12.5x 11.2x Max. 10.7x 13.2x
Power 8.0x 11.1x 10.5x 10.0x 11.3x 15.1x 12.8x 13.0x Min. 8.0x 11.3x
Renewable Energy 5.3x 8.3x 5.8x 6.5x 6.9x 11.9x 9.4x 9.4x Median 5.8x 9.4x
Healthcare 8.8x 19.0x 13.1x 13.7x 13.4x 24.2x 21.3x 20.2x Average 13.7x 20.2x
Transportation 4.8x 15.1x 11.2x 10.6x 6.0x 22.9x 13.5x 14.0x Min. 4.8x 6.0x
Lighting 5.2x 12.3x 8.3x 8.5x 8.2x 15.0x 12.6x 12.1x Min. 5.2x 8.2x

EV/EBITDA multiples EV/EBIT multiples Valuation multiples
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if there were multiple equity holders. Due to this, precedent transaction multiples are often higher 

than those found in public comps. To account for this inconsistency, the thesis addresses the control 

premium by deducting a discount to the precedent transaction multiples when applied in valuing the 

GE divisions. This control premium discount is set to 14%, which is consistent with Dyck and 

Zingales (2004) findings on an international average control premium. Without such discount, the 

multiples from precedent transaction analysis would grossly overstate the value of GE. Appendix 11 

presents an overview of potential precedent transactions and selection of these. 

 Rejecting transactions due to financially or operationally fundamental differences relative to the 

specific GE division, a complete list of each division’s transactions comps peer group is presented: 

Table 5.13 Precedent transactions peer groups for each GE industrial division 

 
Note: Following company names were shortened in the table; 1) China Ming Yang Wind Power Group Limited; 2) Ningxia Jiangnan 
Integration Technology Co., Ltd.; 3) Guangdong Huazhiyuan Information Engineering Co. Ltd.; 4) Triton Partners only acquired a 75% 
stake in Glamox AS, yet, it is enough to excess bona fide control, and multiples are computed on the full (100%) values;  
5) Guangdong Sunfly Electronics Holding Co., Ltd.; 6) Shandong Luyitong Intelligent Electric Plc. 
Source: Own work based on Mergermarket (2018) 

Division

Acquisition target Acquir ing firm (buyer)
EBITDA EBIT

Aviation
Shenyang Aircraft Corp. Zhonghang Heibao Co., Ltd. 6.6x 7.6x 3.7% 3.2%

Sichuan Ande Technology Jiangxi Huawu Brake Co., Ltd. 19.0x 20.1x 33.4% 31.6%

B/E Aerospace, Inc. Rockwell Collins, Inc. 15.3x 18.2x 19.7% 16.6%

Doosan DST Co., Ltd. Hanwha Techwin Co., Ltd. 11.6x 14.1x 7.2% 5.9%

Average 13.1x 15.0x 16.0% 14.3%

Power
Brammer Plc Advent International Corporation 8.2x 10.2x 5.9% 4.7%

SL Industries, Inc. Handy & Harman Ltd. 7.4x 9.0x 10.9% 9.0%

Clarke Energy Limited Kohler Co., Inc. 11.5x 13.9x 9.0% 7.4%

Average 9.0x 11.0x 8.6% 7.1%

Renewable Energy
Avanti Wind Systems A/S Alimak Group AB 9.4x 10.7x 9.9% 8.8%

China Ming Yang
1 Mr. Chuanwei Zhang 4.6x 5.7x 5.7% 4.6%

Ningxia2 Suzhou Hailu Heavy Industry, Ltd. 11.1x 11.2x 13.5% 13.4%

Average 8.4x 9.2x 9.7% 8.9%

Healthcare
Source BioScience Limited North Atlantic Value LLP 21.9x 29.0x 24.6% 18.6%

BSN Medical GmbH Svenska Cellulosa Aktiebolaget 13.0x 19.1x 23.3% 15.9%

Biotest AG Creat Group Corporation 14.6x 19.8x 15.7% 11.6%

Marken Limited United Parcel Service, Inc. 22.2x 26.2x 15.0% 12.7%

WebMD, LLC Internet Brands, Inc. 17.4x 20.6x 28.3% 23.9%

Average 17.8x 22.9x 21.4% 16.5%

Transportation
EuroMaint AB Orlando Management AG 6.3x 8.3x 5.6% 4.3%

Guangdong3 PCI-Suntek Technology Co., Ltd. 10.8x 10.8x 20.9% 20.8%

Sungshin Co., Ltd. SPG Co., Ltd. 7.4x 9.4x 4.8% 3.8%

Average 8.1x 9.5x 10.4% 9.6%

Lighting
LED Linear GmbH AB Fagerhult 14.1x 16.1x 21.0% 18.4%

Glamox AS
4 Triton Partners 11.8x 14.2x 12.6% 10.5%

Guangdong5 Shandong6 9.5x 9.6x 21.9% 21.8%

Atlas Lighting Products, Inc. LSI Industries Inc. 10.1x 11.1x 17.2% 15.6%

Average 11.4x 12.7x 18.2% 16.5%

Valuation multiples

EV/EBITDA EV/EBIT
Margin at deal

21.9x

13.0x

14.6x

22.2x

17.4x

17.8x

29.0x

19.1x

19.8x

26.2x

20.6x

22.9x

6.3x

10.8x

7.4x

8.1x

8.3x

10.8x

9.4x

9.5x

16.1x

14.2x

9.6x

11.1x

12.7x

14.1x

11.8x

9.5x

10.1x

11.4x

9.4x

4.6x

11.1x

8.4x

10.7x

5.7x

11.2x

9.2x

7.6x

20.1x

18.2x

14.1x

15.0x

6.6x

19.0x

15.3x

11.6x

13.1x

8.2x

7.4x

11.5x

9.0x

10.2x

9.0x

13.9x

11.0x

Positive NegativeAverage
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 Besides giving a second benchmark that enables triangulating the results of the public comps, 

the valuation gains a specific benefit from this second multiples analysis. The precedent transactions 

are actual real life cases of sold firms (or divisions) and as such, this multiples analysis greatly adds 

to understanding the value of spinning off a division of GE.  

 For consistency and comparability purposes, it would be optimal to apply multiples from the 

same category (min., max., median, average) for the valuation as the ones that were selected in the 

public comps analysis. However, this is only feasible for Power, Healthcare and Transportation. Due 

to scarcity of relevant and comparable transactions within the divisions; Aviation, Renewable Energy 

and Lighting, the selected valuation multiples for these divisions is the simple average of the 

corresponding peer group. This has been conducted using same reasoning as with Healthcare in the 

public multiples, namely that the peers in the group do not cover all of the GE division’s product 

offering, but only does so when combined with the other peers in the group. This decision was a 

trade-off between firmly sticking to traditional methodology or adjusting to the challenges of data 

scarcity. The authors chose the latter.  

 The table below presents an overview of the multiples where the specific multiples applied in the 

valuation are highlighted and listed in the last two columns. 

Table 5.14 Precedent transactions valuation multiples 

  
Source: Own work based on Capital IQ (2018) 

 

5.4.2. Sum-of-the-parts valuation 

The following sections will combine the results from previous analyses and complete the valuation. 

First, the multiples analyses are applied to compute a valuation of the six industrial divisions 

scrutinized in those analyses. The two last divisions, BHGE and GE Capital will be addressed and a 

total consolidated valuation is presented. Last, the results are compared to those of equity analysts. 

 

 

Divisions Min. Max. Median Average Min. Max. Median Average Appl ied EV/EBITDA EV/EBIT

Aviation 6.6x 19.0x 13.5x 13.1x 7.6x 20.1x 16.2x 15.0x Average 13.1x 15.0x
Power 7.4x 11.5x 8.2x 9.0x 9.0x 13.9x 10.2x 11.0x Min. 7.4x 9.0x
Renewable Energy 4.6x 11.1x 9.4x 8.4x 5.7x 11.2x 10.7x 9.2x Average 8.4x 9.2x
Healthcare 13.0x 22.2x 17.4x 17.8x 19.1x 29.0x 20.6x 22.9x Average 17.8x 22.9x
Transportation 6.3x 10.8x 7.4x 8.1x 8.3x 10.8x 9.4x 9.5x Average 8.1x 9.5x
Lighting 9.5x 14.1x 10.9x 11.4x 9.6x 16.1x 12.6x 12.7x Min. 9.5x 9.6x

EV/EBITDA multiples EV/EBIT multiples Valuation multiples
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5.4.2.1. Relative multiples valuation 

The enterprise value of each of GE’s divisions is computed by multiplying the multiples mentioned 

in Table 5.12 and 5.14 with each division’s corresponding profitability numerator, EBIT and 

EBITDA. Subsequently, the EV of each division are summed to provide the total EV of GE’s 

industrial divisions, excluding BHGE. Table 5.15 summarizes these computations for both multiples 

analyses applying EBIT and EBITDA. Notice the control premium adjustment for the precedent 

transaction multiples. 

Table 5.15 Aggregated multiples valuation for the six industrial divisions  

 
Source: Own work based on Capital IQ (2018); Note: Multiples are rounded and computations contain more decimals 

As the table illustrates, the range of the total EV of the six industrial divisions is between USD 

282.4bn and 338.2bn, with the lowest value stemming from the EV/EBITDA multiple of transaction 

comps and the highest from the EV/EBIT multiple of public comps. Evident in the table, most of the 

total value comes from the Aviation division whereas Transportation and Lighting contributes least. 

This is consistent with the strategic and market analysis of these divisions as well as GE’s general 

strategic plan of focusing on three core areas and divesting what is not core (GE, 2018a).   

5.4.2.2. Value of BHGE 

As a public company, the simplest method of obtaining its value is by compiling the market 

capitalization of BHGE as of March 2nd, 2018, and deducting the value of the shares that GE do not 

own. Notice that as such, the authors assume the market value of BHGE to resemble the intrinsic 

value of the company. As the thesis tests conglomerate theory and not general valuation methodology, 

a longer assessment of BHGE’s actual intrinsic value is deemed outside the scope of the thesis. From 

Capital IQ, the total market value has been found to be USD 11.6bn. Notice that this is the market 

equity value of the firm and not the enterprise value. To compute the EV, a few adjustments must be 

made. First, BHGE’s interest bearing debt and cash and cash equivalents must be subtracted from 

GE’s balance sheets to eliminate the financial impact of BHGE on GE. Table 5.16 presents these 

Divisions EV/EBITDA EV/EBIT EV/EBITDA EV/EBIT EBITDA EBIT EV/EBITDA EV/EBIT EV/EBITDA EV/EBIT

Aviation 10.7x 13.2x 13.1x 15.0x 11,799  10,820 125,743       142,900       154,922       162,341       
Power 8.0x 11.3x 7.4x 9.0x 6,435    5,077   51,354         57,509         47,824         45,534         
Renewable Energy 5.8x 9.4x 8.4x 9.2x 1,603    1,344   9,247           12,588         13,424         12,365         
Healthcare 13.7x 20.2x 17.8x 22.9x 6,531    5,725   89,761         115,455       116,322       131,270       
Transportation 4.8x 6.0x 8.1x 9.5x 1,495    1,360   7,177           8,225           12,154         12,910         
Lighting 5.2x 8.2x 9.5x 9.6x 273       187      1,413           1,540           2,586           1,785           

Total 284,695   338,218   347,232   366,206   

Adjusted for control  premium (14%) 298,619   314,937   

Transaction comps Publ ic comps
Valuation multiples

Publ ic comps GE 2017 (USDm)
Estimated enterprise value (USDm)

Transaction comps
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accounts. The value contribution of BHGE is computed in the right-hand table by dividing BHGE’s 

market value of equity by the number of GE shares outstanding, both as of March 2nd, 2018.   

Table 5.16 BHGE net interest bearing debt and value contribution 

 
Source: BHGE (2018); Market values and GE shares outstanding from Capital IQ (2018) 

5.4.2.3. Value of GE Capital 

Usually, when valuing a financial institution, the straight method would entail a multiples analysis 

based on equity multiples such as Price-to-Book-Value (Koller, et al., 2010). However, GE Capital 

is a special case that requires a tailored alternative approach. As argued in the preceding analyses, 

GE Capital is an alternative type of financial institution that in its current form does not directly 

compete with other banks. Instead, its primary objective is to support the industrial divisions of GE 

through financial advisory and financing. As such, GE Capital is, in essence, a sales and growth 

enhancer of GE’s industrial divisions and thus embedded into the GE conglomerate. The performance 

of GE’s industrial divisions is directly influenced by the operations of GE Capital, for which reason 

this division should not be valued on a stand-alone basis. Instead, the value contributed by GE Capital 

is already embedded in the performance of the industrial divisions and thus in their valuation. As 

such, GE Capital – on a stand-alone basis – does not add any direct value to the valuation. However, 

as its balance sheet items are used to generate value for the other divisions, these accounts should be 

adjusted for, when computing the consolidated conglomerate valuation. Due to GE Capital’s 

embeddedness into GE industrial’s performance, the debt of GE Capital is added back to the total GE 

group numbers. The authors are aware that the type of debt GE Capital has on its balance sheet is 

atypical debt, as it is a financial institution, however, it would distort the equity value of GE upwards 

in a grossly manner, if it was not accounted for in the consolidated valuation of GE. 

5.4.2.4. Consolidated valuation 

To compute the implied market value of equity from the enterprise value, the interest bearing debt of 

GE Capital is subtracted given the aforementioned reasoning. The same goes for the net interest 

bearing debt of BHGE. The critical USD 28.7bn unfunded pension liability is also deducted from the 

EV as it represents another long-term funding source of GE. Minority interests of USD 21.1bn are 

In USDm December 31, 2017 March 2, 2018

Less: Market value of equity (USDm) 11,600              

Short-term borrowings (1,398)               GE shares outstanding (m) 8,681                

Current portion of long-term debt (639)                  Market value of BHGE per GE share 1.34             

Long-term debt (6,225)               

Capital leases (87)                    

BHGE Interest bearing debt (8,349)               

BHGE Cash and cash equivalents 7,023                

BHGE Net interest bearing debt (1,326)          

Selected BHGE balance sheet accounts Value contr ibution of BHGE
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subtracted from the EV as they represent non-equity claims on GE’s operations. Lastly, preferred 

stock is deducted to ensure that the implied equity value is only what is attributable to the common 

stock investors. Table 5.17 presents the divisional EV’s and the computations from EV to GE’s 

implied market value of equity. By dividing this value with the total number of outstanding GE shares 

and adding the market value of BHGE per GE share, this valuation finally arrives at the implied per 

share price. 

Table 5.17 Consolidated valuation of GE 

 
Note: See Appendix 12 for an elaboration on book and market values of interest bearing debt, minority interest and preferred stock  
Source: Own work based on GE (2018a) and its notes; GE shares outstanding and market share price from Capital IQ (2018) 

The consolidated valuation results in an implied per share price range of USD 14.45 (EV/EBITDA) 

to USD 20.62 (EV/EBIT) for the public comparables multiples and USD 16.06 (EV/EBITDA) to 

USD 17.94 (EV/EBIT) for the precedent transaction multiples. Noticeably, for both multiples 

analyses, the EV/EBIT multiples yield higher values for GE than the EV/EBITDA multiples. This 

result could suggest that GE is less capital intensive compared to the selected public peers and peers 

from precedent transactions, as EBIT reflects capital intensity through the D&A account. 

 

 

Relative SOTP valuation (USDm)

Multiple type EV/EBITDA EV/EBIT EV/EBITDA EV/EBIT

Estimated enterprise values

Aviation 125,743                   142,900                   154,922                   162,341                   

Power 51,354                     57,509                     47,824                     45,534                     

Renewable Energy 9,247                       12,588                     13,424                     12,365                     

Healthcare 89,761                     115,455                   116,322                   131,270                   

Transportation 7,177                       8,225                       12,154                     12,910                     

Lighting 1,413                       1,540                       2,586                       1,785                       

Total  EV for the six industr ial  divisions 284,695             338,218             347,232                   366,206                   

Total  EV adjusted for control  premium (14%)  -                       -                      298,619             314,937             

Consol idated equity valuation (USDm)

Less:

Interest bearing debt (GE Capital) (92,847)                   (92,847)                   (92,847)                   (92,847)                   

Interest bearing debt (GE industrial) (41,744)                   (41,744)                   (41,744)                   (41,744)                   

Cash and cash equivalents (GE group) 18,211                     18,211                     18,211                     18,211                     

Net interest bearing debt (GE group) (116,380)                 (116,380)                 (116,380)                 (116,380)                 

Less: Net interest bearing debt (BHGE) (1,326)                     (1,326)                     (1,326)                     (1,326)                     

Consolidated net interest bearing debt (115,054)                 (115,054)                 (115,054)                 (115,054)                 

Unfunded pension liability (28,703)                   (28,703)                   (28,703)                   (28,703)                   

Minority interest (21,122)                   (21,122)                   (21,122)                   (21,122)                   

Preferred stock (5,944)                     (5,944)                     (5,944)                     (5,944)                     

Impl ied market value of equity 113,872             167,395             127,796             144,114             

GE shares outstanding (m) 8,681                       8,681                       8,681                       8,681                       

Impl ied value of equity per share (USD) 13.12                19.28                14.72                16.60                

Add: Market value of BHGE per GE share 1.34                         1.34                         1.34                         1.34                         

Impl ied per share price (USD) 14.45                20.62                16.06                17.94                

Precedent transactions valuationPubl ic comparables valuation
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5.4.3. Valuation approach of equity analysts 

The following section scrutinizes the valuations and valuation approaches of GE, conducted by equity 

analysts specialized in covering the GE stock. Figure 5.54 illustrates the weekly grouped equity 

analysts’ target price of GE’s share and the actual market price on a weekly average. The authors 

acknowledge the mismatch between the thesis’ valuation date and the dates of the equity analysts’ 

reports, as stated in the methodology section. Yet, analysis of these reports is still expected to provide 

critical insights in valuing GE. 

Figure 5.54 GE share target price from equity analyst reports covering week 4 to 16 of 2018 

 
Source: Own work based on 46 equity analyst reports compiled from Thomson Research; GE market price per share Capital IQ (2018) 

As depicted by the figure, there is a wide range between the minimum and maximum target prices 

provided by analysts, grouped on a weekly basis. This range demonstrates that equity analysts do not 

agree unanimously on one price, while also representing the fact that these analysts apply different 

valuation techniques and that their underlying assumptions differ across the sample. The 46 reports 

are published at various dates between week 4 and 16 of 2018 and stem from 10 different equity 

research institutes. In these reports, most analysts perform a group level DCF valuation typically 

using earnings per share (EPS) as the free cash flow (FCF). To this valuation, certain analysts add a 

value of GE Capital computed through a book-based multiple, while other analysts adopt the same 

line of thinking as in this thesis, and assume that the value of GE Capital is embedded in the value of 

the industrial divisions. These top-down group level DCF models appear grossly negligent in terms 

of the specificities of each GE division and their performance, but as VP of Westwood Holding 

Group, Scott Lawson puts it, “GE’s numbers are so complex […] you may find that is a challenge 

you don’t want to work through” (Clough, 2017). Four selected analyst reports are further examined 

below, with the first one being an example on how most of the analysts build their valuations.  
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 Keith Schoonmaker from Morningstar splits the conglomerate into industrials and GE Capital. 

GE Capital is valued through forwarded book-value multiples based on quite optimistic projections 

of the division, despite Schoonmaker applauding GE for attempting to separate GE Capital from the 

conglomerate (Schoonmaker, 2018). The industrial divisions are lumped together to perform a DCF 

valuation, where the cash flows and earnings are projected for 24 months and then average CAGR’s 

are applied for the following five years. The cash flows are discounted by a group-level WACC of 

7.2% with no comments as to how this WACC is computed. The result of the valuation is a fair value 

estimate of USD 23.50 per share, benchmarked on public comps with a peer group consisting of other 

conglomerates.   

 In a similar manner, Steven Winoker from UBS estimates GE’s target price based on a 24 months 

projection of cash flows and earnings. However, by applying a blend of five different valuation 

methods, Winoker (2018) benchmarks his findings to a larger degree and ends up at a price target of 

USD 16.00 per share. The valuation methods include DCF, FCF Yield, P/E, EV/EBITDA and a SOTP 

to triangulate the results. 

 Of the 46 reports, only one included a divisional SOTP DCF method. The valuation scrutinizes 

each division briefly, and uses rather generally estimated financials as input for the DCF model. 

Nonetheless, the valuation model values the GE stock at USD 18.75 whereas zero value stems from 

GE Capital (Trefis, 2018). Note that Trefis is not a typical equity research firm but a specialized 

provider of modeling and data driven valuation reports.  

 From Deutsche Bank, John G. Inch computes his valuation of GE in a fashion much similar to 

this thesis. Through a relative SOTP valuation with EV/EBITDA multiples, Inch (2018) values each 

of the six industrial divisions (excluding BHGE) using a public comps peer group. Further, Inch 

deducts similar accounts from the EV, including the unfunded pension liability, and adds the value 

of BHGE to the final consolidated per share price. Similarly, the valuation emphasizes the direct 

value contribution of GE Capital to be zero, and as such provides a final target share price of USD 

13.00 (Inch, 2018). Benchmarking this lower per share price to this thesis’ results, there are three 

profound differences between the otherwise similar models. First, Inch applies public comps only, 

whereas this paper’s valuation uses transactions comps as well. The latter provided the highest value 

in terms of the EV/EBITDA multiple, adding to the explanation of the difference in Inch’s and this 

thesis’ valuation. Second, while there are many similarities between this paper’s valuation and Inch’s, 

Inch applies forward multiples, which appear to entail declining profitability for some of the peers, 
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resulting in lower multiples and thus a lower SOTP value. Third, Inch (2018) applies only an 

EV/EBITDA multiple, whereas this thesis’ valuation is based on both EV/EBITDA and EV/EBIT. 

As the EV/EBIT yields a much higher result in this thesis’ valuation, the difference in the share price 

range and Inch’s estimate is largely explained by the appliance of different types of multiples. The 

following table summarizes above findings. 

Table 5.18 Selected equity report findings 

 
Source: Own work based on Inch (2018); Schoonmaker (2018); Trefis (2018); Winoker (2018) 

Morningstar, UBS and Trefis all estimate the price of GE’s stock above its market price and within 

this thesis’ valuation range. Despite doing so, neither of these three reports mention a conglomerate 

discount. However, as the forecast appreciation price shows how much the target price exceeds the 

market price, this metric is an indication of a potential discount. In the table, three of the four reports 

indicate a discount, whereas seven out of ten of all the equity research providers, on average during 

week 4 to 16, indicate a discount, as presented in Appendix 13.  

 The Deutsche Bank report does not indicate a discount, however, the analyst comments that 

“Upside risks include GE successfully executing on its asset sales beyond expectations and limited to 

no action taken by the SEC” (Inch, 2018, p. 1). Hence, divestments and lack of legal action are 

potential value drivers for GE, whereas the former is an indirect indication that deconglomeration 

could create value for GE and contrary that conglomeration destroys value. 

5.4.4. Addressing the research question 

This section conducted a valuation of GE and as such, prepared the stage for answering the first part 

of the research question, namely whether GE is trading at a discount. Equity analysts’ approach to 

valuing GE triangulate this thesis’ valuation approach and its results, as well as stress the complexity 

of the company. The following section will commence by determining whether GE is trading at a 

discount, and continue by testing the seven hypotheses by applying the findings of the analysis and 

thereby address the second part of the research question. 

  

Reserach contributor Date Valuation method

Target 

price

Market price 

(given date)

Forecast price 

appreciation

Morningstar, Inc. 22/03/2018 DCF (Industrial) and P/B multiple (Capital) 23.50 13.35 76.0%

UBS Investment bank 16/04/2018 FCF Yield, P/E, EV/EBITDA, DCF, SOTP 16.00 13.49 18.6%

Trefis 16/03/2018 Divisional DCF 18.75 14.31 31.0%

Deutsche Bank AG 08/02/2018 Relative SOTP valuation (EV/EBITDA) 13.00 15.27 -14.9%
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6. Findings 

The strategic and market analysis of GE demonstrates the conglomerate’s wide-spanning business 

activities and show that certain parts of the company, such as GE Aviation, appears to outperform the 

industry while other divisions lack behind. The governance and accounting analysis emphasized the 

lower quality of GE’s governance and accounting standards, thus indicating that the company’s 

financial reports cannot be readily accepted as ‘true reality’. The financial statement and reporting 

analysis further demonstrated how challenging it is to thoroughly scrutinize the actual performance 

of GE and its divisions, due to the complexity and opacity of the financial reports. These 

circumstances incapacitate the prospect of establishing reliable forecasts for a DCF model, for which 

reason the thesis conducts an alternative valuation. By applying public comps and precedent 

transactions multiples, a SOTP valuation combined with alternative approaches for BHGE and GE 

Capital, provides a consolidated valuation range of USD 14.45 to USD 20.62 per GE share.  

 With these findings, the following sections will now answer the research question, by initially 

comparing the valuation range to the actual market price of GE’s share on March 2nd, 2018. 

Subsequently, the findings from the analysis will be applied in testing the seven hypotheses 

formulated in section 2.2. As such, these tests address the second part of the research question. 

6.1. Addressing the first part of the research question 

The many different approaches to the valuation adopted by the equity analysts in 5.4 demonstrate the 

strong degree of uncertainty that is inherent when valuing a firm, and in particular a conglomerate. 

To account for the uncertainty, this thesis adopted two multiples analyses models with two multiple 

types each, and provided a valuation range rather than a single definitive value. The valuation range 

of the consolidated valuation is between USD 14.45 to USD 20.62 per share. This per share range is 

above GE’s actual market share price of USD 14.12 on March 2nd, 2018. Thus, according to this 

thesis’ consolidated valuation, General Electric is valued at a conglomerate discount. This 

discount is in the range of 2.4% to 46.0% given by the public comps, with the precedent transactions 

comps implying a discount from 13.7% to 27.0%, as depicted in Figure 6.1. 
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Figure 6.1 GE’s implied share price and discount given the consolidated valuation 

 
Source: Own work 

Comparing these findings with those of equity analysts, this thesis finds that a variety of valuation 

approaches based on different assumptions yield diverse outcomes and that there appears to be no 

concrete consensus on the value of GE amongst these analysts. The analyst reports reveal that the 

conglomerate’s complexity hinders the analysts in conducting thorough strategic and financial 

analyses and instead adhere to grossly general top-down valuation models, such as the group DCF 

applying one single WACC. Yet, the majority of these analysts provides a target price that is higher 

than the current market price at the time, indicating that GE is valued at a discount, supporting the 

finding of the valuation analysis.  

 To ascertain why GE is valued at a discount and whether this is in fact a conglomerate discount, 

the following sections will test the initial hypotheses by using the findings of the analysis. 

 

6.2. Discount-related hypotheses 

Following sections test hypotheses H1 through H4, as outlined in section 2, by applying findings 

from the thesis’ analysis. 

6.2.1. Conglomerate discount due to complexity of the conglomerate structure 

H1:  GE is valued at a conglomerate discount due to operational unpredictability and 

poor financial transparency. 

The conglomerate as an institution is by nature a complex one. The complexity, let alone the size, of 

conglomerates decreases the predictability of its operations and often significantly reduces the 

financial transparency in external reporting. Unpredictability often shows in the form of one-off costs 

such as restructuring, merger and write-down costs but is also a result of erroneous and ambiguous 

communication from management. Poor financial transparency may further contribute to the 

USD 14.45 

USD 20.62 

USD 16.06 
USD 17.94 

EV/EBITDA EV/EBIT EV/EBITDA EV/EBIT

Public company comparables Precedent transactions

Market price
(02/03/2018)

Implied discount 2.4% 46.0% 13.7% 27.0% 

USD 14.12
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unpredictability of earnings. The fundamental inability to predict earnings accurately should warrant 

a discount on the price of the company. Reduced financial transparency also increases the complexity 

of reporting and therefore the time and resource commitment required to fully understand the 

company. Financial transparency is found to be rewarded by investors and it is reasonable to assume 

that the reverse is true for lack of transparency  (Linn & Rozeff, 1984). 

 Section 5.2 and 5.3 deep dives into the managerial behavior and the financial reports of GE to 

uncover elements that may materially affect the prediction of earnings and thereby the valuation of 

the firm. Section 5.2 further attempts to evaluate the financial transparency by scrutinizing financials, 

statements, and notes and addresses the difficulty of comprehending these. The authors are aware of 

their limitations within the field of accounting, yet present numerous arguments that point towards 

unreasonable operational unpredictability and particularly poor financial transparency.  

 The analysis reveals several issues in the accounting practices at GE spanning from currently 

ongoing SEC investigations of violation of revenue recognition standards, inflation of profits, to 

several historical settlements with SEC and DoJ for accounting fraud. Both investors and former SEC 

employees comment that GE plays too close to the line with their exotic accounting practices and 

makes it difficult to, “[…] build a quarterly cash flow [...] that has any credibility” (Rapoport, 

2017b). An analysis of GE’s balance sheet reveals a significant increase in Contract assets. GE does 

not classify this asset as a receivable despite being described as the discrepancy between revenue 

booked and cash collected, in other words, a receivable. GE also does not distinguish between long-

term and short-term assets on their balance sheet, essentially leaving the investor guessing when cash 

flows from contract assets will arrive. The non-transparent reporting on this asset is further illustrated 

by analyzing the notes to the cash flow statements. A significant part of changes to operating cash 

flows are driven by the account All other operating assets in which GE ‘hides’ Changes in contract 

assets. Unless noticed and scrutinized, this account may drive significant discrepancies between 

future cash flow expectations and actual results. An analysis of GE’s WC and CCC illustrates the 

type of gaps that arise, some definitely being of material character. In fact, GE’s CCC increases by 

more than 50 days when Contract assets are included in the equation. This structure of GE’s balance 

sheet and cash flow statement requires the investor to have a significant understanding of GE’s 

operating models in is different industries. Without a proper strategic analysis of each industrial 

division, this finding would not have been uncovered. 
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 The Contract assets are primarily related to the Power division. A unit in which management has 

been placing significant bets in recent years. The data presented in the strategic analysis for the Power 

division clearly reveals a market in decline. Despite competitors announcing conservative approaches 

to the Power market, the executive team at GE continued their, admittedly, overly optimistic 

interpretation of the market and did manage to maintain revenue growth in a market with overcapacity 

for a considerable amount of time. That is, until 2017 where GE suddenly reported operating income 

declines of -51% and -88% in Q3 and Q4 after reporting a 67% increase in Q1 (c.f. section 5.2). Not 

surprisingly, these declines were driven by loss of revenue, write-offs of inventory and increases in 

allowances for doubtful accounts on Contract assets. This suggest that the conglomerate structure is 

too complex making investors overly dependent on management to make sound estimates and 

transparent reporting. Second, the complexity of the conglomerate structure reduces financial 

transparency to such an extent that it allows executives to manage earnings and thereby reduce the 

operational predictability. Alluringly, GE’s management over-invested in a stagnating market and 

consequently resorted to managing their earnings through increased recognition of revenue from 

service contracts, hoping that the market would turn around. This is also what many investors and 

watchdogs, including the SEC, are suggesting, and given the murky history of accounting fraud and 

significant earnings management, not to mention the 109-year-old relationship with KPMG, it seems 

reasonable to assume. Admittedly, and contributing to the next hypothesis, investors could have 

discovered these issues, or at least recognized warning signs, through a comprehensive analysis of 

GE’s value drivers. 

 An analysis of GE’s income statements also reveals important findings that contribute to reduced 

financial transparency. GE does not report two of the most common profit measures in a financial 

statement: Gross profit and EBIT. Instead, they consolidate revenue and costs from GE Capital and 

GE and report only EBT without distinguishing between costs. An adaption of the income statement 

to include aforementioned profit measures reveals some curious patterns, warranting investigation. 

Analyzing the notes to the financial statements shows that GE has underfunded their policy reserves 

related to long-term life insurance policies and thereby likely inflated profits for the past years. Under 

Jack Welch, GE was charged by the SEC for underfunding their reinsurance reserved and thus inflated 

revenues from 1997-2001.  

 Understanding the consolidated income statement requires a thorough analysis of the individual 

income statements reported for GE and GE Capital in the annual report. An analysis of the individual 

statements reveals some peculiar discrepancies in the reporting of Earnings (loss) from continuing 
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operations for GE Capital. Essentially, the Earnings (loss) from continuing operations are reported 

differently two places in the annual report. Recalculating the revenue and costs, the discrepancies are 

not explained and the accompanying notes do little to shed light on the difference. The authors are 

well aware that such discrepancies do not go unnoticed and that the explanation is to be found 

somewhere in the 250-page annual report, but the lack of transparency makes it hard to track the 

calculation flows and therefore complicates the operational predictability. GE also relies on a 

significant number of intercompany transactions, which evidently have a significant impact on the 

consolidated revenues. These transactions are included in the individual statements but eliminated in 

the consolidated statement. An analysis of the notes to eliminations further reveals unexplained 

discrepancies between the reported numbers. 

 Other issues also significantly influence the analysis of GE. First, GE does not provide an income 

breakdown of each individual division. A hallmark of any valuation is the ability to break down and 

analyze costs to drive the valuation. Instead, investors are left to make numerous and significant 

assumptions on the operational performance. Second, GE consists of both a financial institution and 

a group of industrial firms both requiring distinct and time-consuming analyses. Essentially, it also 

requires investors to understand both financial and industrial firms, let alone how they affect each 

other when they are merged. Third, and last, the recurring acquisitions and divestments cause GE to 

take significant one-off costs. Despite the recurrence at GE, such costs are hard to predict both in size 

and shape (cash vs. non-cash). The multitude of transactions also has another frustrating effect. For 

every acquisition or divestment that leaves YoY numbers incomparable, GE is prompted by the SEC 

to reclassify their historical financial statements two years back in time. This process takes several 

months, creating a time gap in which investors have little to no ability in predicting the future. All 

annual reports since 2000 have been reclassified in a material manner, which essentially means that 

none of the historical data points are significantly comparable. 

 The analysis has uncovered numerous, significant issues in GE’s financial reporting and pointed 

out how these, and the conglomerate structure, clearly influence the operational predictability. 

Despite the lack of any statistically data-driven test, there are several qualitative arguments to support 

the hypothesis that GE is valued at a discount due to operational unpredictability and lack of financial 

transparency.  
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H2:  GE is valued at a conglomerate discount to account for the risk of ‘hidden’ negative 

surprises in the analyst reports, which are of lower quality due to the mismatch 

between GE’s activities and equity analysts’ expertise. 

The primary function of equity analysts is to reduce the information asymmetries between managers 

and investors, thus, analysts have a significant influence on share price development (Feldman, et al., 

2014). GE’s operations span across 12 different industries at the 3-digit SIC level, requiring an analyst 

covering GE to specialize in all 12 different areas in terms strategic and market factors, as well as 

accounting, financing and valuation metrics. This is difficult for one person, yet, the examination of 

analysts reveals that each equity research institute only has one analyst covering GE, indicating a 

mismatch between GE’s activities and the analysts’ expertise (Gilson, et al., 2001). The lack of 

expertise reduces the quality of the analyst reports, which do not fully dissect the performance of GE 

in a detailed and divisional manner. The opacity and complexity of GE’s reporting further makes it a 

time consuming and costly endeavor to gather enough information to perform a deliberate and 

accurate valuation of the company. As such, the clear majority of equity analysts adhere to general 

GE metrics when conducting their valuations, typically by splitting GE into industrials, valued 

through a single DCF, and GE Capital, valued through a book-based multiple. These methods are 

grossly simplified compared to the complexity of the conglomerate’s operations and financials, which 

leaves the reader with little confidence as to whether the analyst has assessed the company thoroughly 

enough to uncover all observable irregularities of GE. Despite the analysts not publicly manifesting 

their lacking expertise, investors are aware of the issue, and as one investor puts it “GE’s numbers 

are so complex […] you may find that is a challenge you don’t want to work through” (Clough, 2017). 

 It is difficult to prove an empirical correlation between analysts’ lacking expertise and the 

presence of a conglomerate discount, due to limited available data. Potentially, this could be tested 

by comparing the reports’ varying 2018 estimates for smaller divisions, as these indicate a deeper 

level of analysis. However, only a limited amount of the reports actually addresses other divisions 

than Aviation, Power, Healthcare and Capital and even fewer reports provide projections on the 

smaller divisions. As such, the lack of divisional analysis beyond the three larger divisions is a proof 

by itself that analysts neglect parts of GE, either due to the lack of expertise or because of time 

constraints. The majority of the reports thus only report group level performance, which according to 

valuation theory is an inaccurately harsh simplification of such a complex company (Koller, et al., 

2010). While it is not possible to substantially support or reject the hypothesis on a data-driven 

foundation, the above argumentation supports the hypothesis on a qualitative basis.  
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6.2.2. Conglomerate discount due to corporate governance and managerial behavior 

H3:  GE is valued at a conglomerate discount to account for its unrelated diversification, 

which increases the risk of shareholder value destroying empire building. 

Jensen (1986) argues that the availability of excess funds compels managers to overinvest in low 

return projects, typically through M&A, beyond what is optimal for shareholders (Chen, et al., 2011). 

This is known as empire building, and in the case of conglomerates, it has been suggested that 

increased business diversification enhances the risk of empire building (Rotemberg & Saloner, 1994). 

The rationale is that managers’ opportunistic behavior mostly affects their own division and not the 

entire firm and thus not substantially influences the stock price, which is what drives the incentive-

based equity compensation. GE has a long history of high M&A activity with Jeffrey Immelt 

completing an average of 46 transactions annually during his tenure, which almost halved GE’s stock 

price while indices and peers were thriving. After 16 years of service, he retired with a severance 

package amounting to USD 116m, despite the inferior returns GE provided shareholders under his 

management . Over the last five years alone, GE has engaged in 160 transactions while sales, profits 

and stock return has plummeted, signifying that these M&A activities are not shareholder value 

maximizing as such. This indicates that different motives are driving the significant inorganic growth 

strategies of GE, whereas the notion of empire building stands as the managerial school’s theoretical 

response. 

 While it has not possible to measure or conclude the direct effect of empire building on the 

conglomerate discount, significant evidence supports the hypothesis and its underlying theoretical 

argumentation. However, while opportunistic behavior ought to be punished through incentive-based 

compensation and thereby prevent empire building, the manager’s ability to remain in his position 

despite destroying shareholder value, particularly in the case of Immelt, calls for a different analytical 

approach. Thus, the following hypothesis addresses GE’s corporate governance and the market for 

corporate control.  

H4:  GE is valued at a conglomerate discount due to inefficient corporate governance. 

According to agency theory (Shleifer & Vishny, 1997), sound corporate governance can mitigate the 

agency costs associated with conglomerates and thereby directly reduce the conglomerate discount 

(Weiner, 2005). On the contrary, firms that lack efficient corporate governance mechanisms, and in 

particular firms with strong antitakeover provisions, suffer from a reduced effect of the market for 
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corporate control and are thus more likely to engage in M&A solely for empire building purposes 

(Masulis, et al., 2007). As such, Ammann et al. (2012) present an empirical study where they 

demonstrate that in general, the conglomerate discount is reduced by 16-21% when controlling for 

governance mechanisms. This paper’s findings indicate to some extent a sound corporate governance 

of GE in terms of board size, independency and ownership structure. However, when it comes to 

antitakeover provisions, GE scores a much higher score on Capital IQ’s takeover defense score 

compared to its peers, which indicates stronger takeover defenses, particularly three distinct defense 

mechanisms (cf. Appendix 3). Further, GE has a corporate governance mechanism dictating that 

directors can only be removed from the board by cause, meaning that a director can only be fired for 

fraudulent acts or grossly breach of duty, providing them with much leeway. 

 The critical accounting analysis finds that, during the tenure of the last two CEOs, and now John 

Flannery, GE has been under investigation from the SEC and DoJ for fraud and accounting misdeeds. 

GE has previously settled multiple cases of fraudulent activities with the SEC and is currently under 

investigation regarding the revenue recognition on service contracts. As such, GE is continuously 

operating in a grey-zone regarding accounting misdemeanors, which is a behavior that should not be 

tolerated by the external auditor, KPMG. Yet, the findings show that KPMG has been GE’s auditor 

for 109 years, making KPMG a close partner rather than an independent auditor. Clearly, GE should 

replace KPMG, however, the BoD and the independent audit committee is not pushing for its 

replacement. This move, or lack thereof, demonstrates a breakdown of the audit committee as a 

corporate governance mechanism (Kershaw, 2012). Ascertaining these findings in the light of the 

empire building hypothesis and its supporting argumentation clearly demonstrates that GE is facing 

a detrimental corporate governance issue. However, whether these issues are causing the company to 

be valued at a discount requires further proof.  

 The examination of equity analyst reports provides an interesting insight on the outcome of these 

particular corporate governance breaches. The Deutsche Bank analyst, John G. Inch presents, “[…] 

limited to no action taken by the SEC” (Inch, 2018, p. 1) as a specific value driver of GE’s stock price, 

and vice versa. Hence, GE’s accounting misdeeds and fraudulent activities, which give rise to the 

SEC investigations, are distinct reasons for Inch to lower the target price of GE and thus value it at a 

conglomerate discount. As the lack of sound corporate governance enables GE managers to pursue 

fraudulent behavior, this thesis draws an indirect relation between corporate governance 

inefficiencies and GE being valued at a conglomerate discount. As such, the hypothesis is supported. 
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6.3. Premium-related hypotheses 

The valuation found that GE is valued at a discount, which indicates that the hypotheses building on 

a conglomerate premium can be rejected. However, relevant findings relating to the premium 

hypotheses were revealed in the thesis’ analysis. Addressing these findings can further emphasize 

why GE is not valued at a premium and as such, why the following hypotheses are rejected. 

H5:  GE is valued at a conglomerate premium as investors receive high returns with lower 

risk relative to pure-play firms. 

The rationale behind the portfolio theory outlined by Markowitz (1952), implies that conglomerates, 

by eliminating unique risk, can reduce risk and maintain high returns. Despite investors’ ability to 

achieve such diversification on their own (Bodie, et al., 2014), this argument has inarguably driven a 

lot of managers’ decision to expand into unrelated product streams. Yet, the transaction costs incurred 

by investors replicating the portfolio is almost certainly insignificant relative to the transaction costs 

incurred by a conglomerate in expanding into unrelated markets through M&A (Sudarsanam, 2003).  

 Based on several studies (Lev & Mandelker, 1972; Weston, et al., 1972; Melicher & Rush, 1973; 

Mason & Goudzward, 1976) reviewed in section 2, the analysis attempted to determine whether GE 

has been achieving higher returns at a lower risk, relative to a randomly sampled portfolio matching 

the asset composition of GE. The analysis established that the portfolio achieved a higher return than 

GE over a downturn period, and a statistically significant higher return over an upswing and full 

economic cycle. Although not significant, the portfolio also achieves a lower standard deviation than 

GE over all three periods and therefore also a better risk-adjusted return as measured by Sharpe Ratio. 

The study further compares GE’s returns to those of other similar conglomerates and finds that these 

conglomerates drive significantly better risk-adjusted returns than GE. This finding arguably points 

towards GE and its management in determining the source of the poor returns, rather than general 

conglomerate discount theory pointing to corporate structure. 

 The authors are cautious in underlining any conclusions as the statistical test suffers from several 

issues discussed in section 3. Arguably, the return performance of the randomly sampled portfolio 

may have an upward bias due to the sampling method, data availability and data quality. The sample 

for example, include only surviving firms and does not take into account the changing asset 

distribution at GE nor at the individual pure-play firms. A larger independent study is required, in 

order to draw any firm conclusions. Nonetheless, it seems reasonable to indicate that GE is not 

delivering risk reduction and high returns relative to the sample of pure-play firms and the findings 

therefore do not seem to support this hypothesis, but partially reject it. 
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H6:  GE is valued at a conglomerate premium as it uses internal capital markets to pursue 

a winner-picking strategy. 

The optimal product of internal capital markets is the ability to raise capital internally and then pursue 

a winner-picking strategy, where resources are reallocated from divisions with inferior investment 

opportunities to those with superior (Stein, 1997). An initial benefit of this ability is to mitigate the 

problems of cyclicality and thus outperform in stressed market conditions where capital is restrained. 

The performance test reveals that between GE, S&P500 and a random pure-play portfolio, GE has 

the lowest average monthly return and highest standard deviation, and thus lowest Sharpe Ratio, 

during a financially distressed period. As such, the mitigation of cyclicality benefit can be firmly 

rejected by the performance test.  

 The historical revenue split demonstrates how GE is constantly changing the divisional structure 

and its areas of operation. Certain segments have remained since the company’s foundation in the 

late 19th century, yet their size and importance have been transformed drastically over time. GE 

Capital, which accounted for more than 60% of profits in 2008, has a much smaller and supportive 

role in today’s GE. These radical changes indicate that path dependency does not explain GE’s current 

business portfolio composition, conversely, it is the result of active selection and capital management. 

While it has obviously not been possible to obtain data on GE’s specific project-investment strategy 

or capital allocation, it is rational to conclude that the resource allocation decisions made, during the 

period analyzed in the accounting analysis, have not led to improved sales, profitability or investor 

return, which should be the definitive measurement of efficient internal capital markets. Despite 

active capital management, evident in the high M&A activity, GE keeps missing the target in terms 

of investing in the right markets. The inaccurate market forecast in GE Power led to the recent 

aggressive inventory buildup in a market that is already experiencing overcapacity, causing massive 

write-downs. The point is that currently, GE bets on the wrong markets, which the internal capital 

enables them to do. This has become a comprehensive issue and investors as well as analysts are 

yearning for divestments in multiple business areas. Quoting the Deutsche Bank analyst, Inch, 

regarding potential value-enhancers of the GE share price, “Upside risks include GE successfully 

executing on its asset sales beyond expectations […]” (Inch, 2018, p. 1). As such, the hypothesis of 

a premium caused by internal capital markets can be rejected and instead, it is suggested that GE is 

trading at a discount due to inefficient internal capital markets, as argued by scholars adhering to the 

conglomerate discount theory (Heuskel, et al., 2006; Wulf, 2009).  
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H7:  GE is valued at a conglomerate premium due to coinsurance from its imperfectly 

correlated divisional cash flows that ensure an overall lowered cash flow volatility, 

enabling GE to obtain capital at a discount. 

Originating from portfolio theory, the concept of coinsurance suggests that a conglomerate, which 

operates in unrelated areas of business, has imperfectly correlated divisional cash flows, which results 

in a reduction in the conglomerate’s overall cash flow volatility (Lewellen, 1971). This entails a 

lowered default risk of the conglomerate, enabling it to obtain debt capital at a discount compared to 

specialized firms. The discounted cost of capital should, in theory, cause the conglomerate to be 

valued at a premium compared to its focused peers (Servaes, 1996).  

 In the case of GE, the lack of divisional reporting on cash flows hinders an analysis of the 

correlation between divisional cash flows, yet, from the accounting analysis, this paper finds that GE 

has exceedingly unstable overall cash flows. GE’s net change in cash to revenue ratio has been 

historically higher than the conglomerate peer group with a standard deviation of 17% over the period. 

The variability comes from fluctuations in both investing, financing and operating cash flows, where 

a deteriorating operating cash flow, over the period, has caused a notably negative net change in cash. 

The general performance at certain divisions has declined, causing a net cash outflow. A recent 

example of this were the miscalculated projections of demand for GE Power’s products and the 

inventory buildup and ensuing write-downs, which evidently caused a credit rating downgrade from 

A1 to A2 by Moody’s (Cox, 2017). At the same time, GE’s working capital management has 

worsened and especially their ability to collect cash from service contracts (contract assets) has 

caused the adjusted CCC to escalate. Beside these operational aspects, GE’s new investments have 

underperformed, despite large resource allocation. During the 2013-2017 period, GE has engaged in 

more than 160 M&A transactions, which all incur restructuring charges, some more than others. The 

USD 13bn acquisition of Alstom and the huge merger between Baker Hughes and GE Oil & Gas are 

heavyweights requiring immense cash injections to fully restructure and integrate.  

 The GE conglomerate currently has a variety of activities that influence the overall cash flow 

and pull the net change in cash in a negative direction. Expectations of GE’s future cash flows are 

also characterized by uncertainty regarding the USD 28.7bn pension liability, Flannery’s 

restructuring strategy of refocusing the whole organization to the three core areas, Aviation, Power 

and Healthcare, and the uncertainty of future cash collection from the growing services contracts at 

especially GE Power. The instability of GE’s overall cash flow is in stark contrast to the theoretical 

arguments of coinsurance and the general deteriorating nature of GE’s cash management should, 
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contrary to the conglomerate premium theory, compel creditors to demand higher interest rates on 

their loans, entailing a higher cost of debt capital to GE. This paper does not go into detail with GE’s 

capital structure and the nature of its debt, partly due to the complex influence of GE Capital and 

GE’s 887 different types of fixed income securities. However, such analysis is deemed redundant, as 

the conglomerate premium theory clearly states reduced overall cash flow volatility as the foundation 

of the coinsurance argument and the driver of discounted debt prices (Lewellen, 1971). As such, the 

case of GE presents an inconsistency between the theoretical arguments supporting the conglomerate 

premium and an actual case study. Evidently, the hypothesis is rejected. 

6.4. Addressing the second part of the research question 

Having tested the seven hypotheses from the theoretical framework, the preceding section addressed 

the second part of the research question. Table 6.1 presents the key findings relating to each of the 

hypotheses proposed as well as a conclusion on whether it is supported or rejected. 

Table 6.1 Overview of hypotheses’ key findings and conclusions 

 
Source: Own work 

No. Hypothesis Key findings Conclusion

H1

GE is valued at a conglomerate discount 

due to operational unpredictability and poor 

financial transparency.

· Manipulation of earnings significantly reduces operational 

predictability.

· Lack of transparency complicates re-creating financial statements.

· Lack of divisional reporting incapacitates cost-driven forecasts.

· Supported

H2

GE is valued at a conglomerate discount to 

account for the risk of 'hidden' negative 

surprises in the analyst reports, which are 

of lower quality due to the mismatch 

between GE’s activities and equity analysts’ 

expertise.

· The majority of analysts value GE at a group level, grossly 

simplifying the multifacted operations of the conglomerate.

· Few analysts even address the smaller divisions of GE.

· Supported

H3

GE is valued at a conglomerate discount to 

account for its unrelated diversification, 

which increases the risk of shareholder 

value destroying empire building.

· High M&A activity despite lack of value-creation indicates empire 

building motives for continuous inorganic growth.
· Partly supported

H4
GE is valued at a conglomerate discount 

due to inefficient corporate governance.

· Weak governance mechanisms and inactive shareholders.

· SEC investigations of GE during tenure of the last 3 CEOs.

· Biased auditor and breakdown of independent audit committee.

· Supported 

H5

GE is valued at a conglomerate premium as 

investors receive high returns with lower 

risk relative to pure-play firms.

· Randomly sampled portfolio, the market and peers deliver 

statistically significant higher returns and a superior Sharpe Ratio, 

compared to GE.

· Potential upward bias due to sampling method and data.

· Partly rejected

H6

GE is valued at a conglomerate premium as 

it uses internal capital markets to pursue a 

winner-picking strategy.

· GE's lowest Sharpe Ratio is during distressed market conditions.

· Internal capital markets allow GE to bet on the wrong markets, 

causing declining performance.

· Rejected

H7

GE is valued at a conglomerate premium 

due to coinsurance from its imperfectly 

correlated divisional cash flows that ensure 

an overall lowered cash flow volatility, 

enabling GE to obtain capital at a discount.

· GE has exceedingly unstable overall cash flows.

· Heavy deterioration in working capital management and CCC.

· Uncertain future cash requirements due to high M&A activity.

· Rejected
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The findings support several of the discount-related hypotheses and therefore underlying rationales 

for GE’s conglomerate discount, while rejecting the premium-related hypotheses formulated. As 

such, the findings section concludes on the research question by establishing that GE is valued at a 

conglomerate discount, caused by the underlying rationales presented in Table 6.1, with emphasis on 

financial complexity and opacity, lacking analyst expertise and inefficient corporate governance.  

 On the backdrop of these findings, the thesis will now proceed with a discussion of the 

implications for management and investors, as well as ascertain the raison d’être of the conglomerate 

corporate structure.  
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7. Discussion 

The research question prepared the stage for an analysis and subsequent valuation of GE. The purpose 

was to determine whether GE is currently valued at a discount but more importantly to explore the 

rationales driving the discount. Rooted in a comprehensive literature review, the hypotheses set forth 

in the theoretical framework (cf. section 2.2) guided the analysis and supported the process of 

uncovering several findings that addressed the discount and premium theories. Testing the findings 

of the analysis on these hypotheses finally revealed the underlying rationales for GE’s discount, 

which were found to be in line with contemporary literature.  

 Guided by the hypotheses and their conclusions, the following section asks the question, what 

are the implications? The discussion will address the perspectives of managers and investors, and 

how, if at all, these stakeholders can tackle and mitigate the costs of GE’s conglomerate structure. 

Finally, the section concludes by discussing the justification for the conglomerate’s existence – its 

raison d’être.  

7.1. Implications for management and investors 

The over-arching impression, based on the thesis’ findings, is that GE is a substandard conglomerate, 

especially as other conglomerates are able to leverage synergies and benefits from unrelated 

diversification and thus drive significant returns to investors. This implies that there is either 

something inherently wrong with the particularities of GE’s conglomerate structure or that 

management is incapable of overseeing the conglomerate. As such, this thesis finds various 

substantial implications for GE’s management, and even more so for investors.  

7.1.1. The drivers of GE’s value destruction 

Despite GE’s prevalent success as a conglomerate during Jack Welch’s tenure, none of the findings 

in this thesis indicate that subsequent management have had any success in managing a conglomerate. 

While the hypotheses contribute to the explanation of why GE is valued at a discount, they do not 

explore how GE ended in such a condition. The following sections will discuss the fundamental 

justifications for GE’s discount and how these drove GE into the shadow of their heydays.  

7.1.1.1. GE Capital  

Jack Welch’s aggressive expansion and subsequent failure to ensure adequate risk protocols at GE 

Capital has had delayed effects and been a source of significant frustration for analysts and 

shareholders. When Jeffrey Immelt took over, GE Capital had grown into one of the largest financial 
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firms in the world with a product-palette disconnected from the division’s original intent. The 

financial crisis, however, revealed that GE and its management lacked necessary competencies to 

oversee a financial institution and little seems to have changed on that end. Naturally, this prompts 

the question of why GE’s senior management has insisted on preserving the financial arm for so long. 

Especially considered in the light of the additional complexity the division causes for analysts and 

investors to unravel. 

 Undoubtedly, inadequate risk management at GE Capital has been a root cause of massive and 

consistent losses as well as serious SEC probes. Despite heavy reductions in the division, negative 

surprises keep emerging from under the rug with an unexpected USD 9.5bn loss related to insurance 

policies as the most recent example. However, while lack of competencies may explain a significant 

portion of GE Capital’s poor performance, it appears that management has systematically abused the 

opportunities rooted in a financial institution. In other words, a write-off amounting to USD 9.5bn 

due to a premium deficiency seems like an implausible amount to explain away as lack of 

competencies. Rather, it suggests that GE Capital has been exploited and its continued existence 

centers around an executive urge to manage and boost earnings in times of hardship. Only naïve 

investors could believe that a manager, hired to manage insurance policies, is capable of 

misestimating premium payouts in an amount larger than the division’s total revenue.  

 The loan origination capabilities also provide managers access to unusually cheap capital in 

volumes difficult to amass elsewhere. This feature seems to have destroyed management’s ability to 

steer capital investments in a lucrative direction. Several investments have been made in seemingly 

unattractive markets with the recent USD 13bn acquisition of Alstom’s power division being a prime 

example. As theory would prescribe, this empire building behavior is not surprising, but regrettably 

contributes to the deterioration of the internal capital markets – the most prominent argument for a 

premium conglomerate. As such, GE Capital drives significant cash flow volatility both directly and 

indirectly. 

7.1.1.2. Operational complexity and misaligned managerial behavior 

Financial reporting has undoubtedly been a recurring theme throughout this thesis and not without 

reason. For investors, GE’s financial reporting is a problematic issue and it has, at best, been imperfect 

during both Welch’s and Immelt’s tenures. Knowing that theoretically, analysts place a discount on 

the company’s price due to insufficient transparency, it seems unclear why management has done 

nothing to make the analysts’ job any easier.  
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 Regardless of management’s efforts, the complex asset mix at GE contributes to the low quality 

of GE’s financial reports. Nonetheless, with reference to the high returns, other conglomerates seem 

to fare much better in terms of financial reporting and transparency, alluding to the fact that 

carelessness and managerial ignorance, rather than the asset mix, are the real drivers of GE’s reporting 

quality. This perspective is certainly emphasized given managements heavy reliance on adjusted 

metrics, management of earnings and even outright accounting fraud. It seems plausible that such 

behavior would discourage most analysts from spending the necessary time to fully comprehend the 

company’s operations, as such behavior makes it difficult to perform any credible estimations.  

 However, an interesting yet unexplored perspective remains, namely whether the complexity 

drives behavior, or whether the behavior drives complexity. Admittedly, the combination of a 

financial institution and seven industrial firms under one roof creates natural complexities that are 

hard for accountants and auditors to simplify, especially considering the consistent acquisitions and 

divestments that constantly change the picture. Obviously, this contributes to analysts’ inability to 

credibly predict GE’s earnings. Nonetheless, GE’s exotic interpretation of revenue recognition from 

service contracts certainly alludes to the fact that complexity allow managers to operate outside the 

scope of shareholder welfare and in disconnect with their fiduciary duties. Either way, these issues 

have contributed significantly to the hollowing of GE’s value.  

7.1.1.3. Ailing governance structure and inefficient market for corporate control 

At this point, it remains unclear how an executive with multiple SEC charges on his desk has 

remained in office for 16 years, delivering anything but shareholder returns. From a principal agent 

perspective, this begs the question, why neither the owners nor the board of directors made any 

attempts to remove Immelt from his position as CEO and Chairman of the Board, any sooner. Clearly, 

there is, and has been, a massive breach and even outright ignorance, in the governing body of GE. 

This inevitably sparks the ceaseless discussion of where and why the governance failed. 

 According to multiple sources (Crooks & Fortado, 2017; Blank, 2017; Cheng, 2017), 

shareholders had a real interest in replacing Immelt, but simply lacked the power to influence the 

decision. With substantial antitakeover provisions, GE is essentially limiting the market for corporate 

control and investors thereby hinge on the board of directors to honor its fiduciary duties. This 

governance deficiency is prominent in the U.S. where corporate laws favor management over 

shareholders (Kershaw, 2012). Only strong shareholder activism may hold the potential of breaking 

these corporate veils and exercise influence on managers. However, shareholder activism comes with 
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a substantial price tag illustrated by Trian Partner’s USD 2.5bn investment in GE stock. Since Trian 

Partners’ investment, GE’s stock has almost halved, emphasizing the risk activist investors are taking 

and why such investments might be discouraged (Kosman, 2018). The 29% shares held by index 

funds further contributes to a reduction of the market for corporate control. Fortunately, for investors, 

Trian Partners exercised enough influence to eventually retire Jeffrey Immelt and cause a stock price 

increase of 4%. 

 The inefficiency of GE’s corporate governance is deeply manifested in the company’s long 

history of murky accounting, poor financial reporting and inadequate results. Lack of disciplinary 

action on behalf of the board of directors is arguably a sign of significant incompetence or at worst, 

an ignorant attitude towards the directors’ fiduciary duties, that is, their job to represent and protect 

shareholders. The fact that the audit committee has neither disciplined management nor terminated a 

109-year-old auditor relationship with KPMG, certainly emphasizes this point.  

7.1.2. What are investors and managers’ options to turn GE around? 

Empirical evidence, scrutinized in section 2, indicates that divestments can enhance the value of a 

conglomerate, and divisional spin-offs may therefore be an efficient strategy to reduce the 

conglomerate discount. Specifically, Khorana et al. (2011) present that companies completing spin-

offs significantly improved their enterprise value in the period 2001-2010. The increased value stems 

from improved financial transparency for the parent company, enhancing analyst coverage and 

increasing the quality and accuracy of their reports, thus directly addressing the conglomerate 

discounts in hypothesis one and two. In Veld and Veld-Merkoulova’s (2009) review of empirical 

studies on value creation through spin-offs, they find that investors can earn excess abnormal returns, 

following the announcement of a spin-off. The median and mean abnormal return for U.S. stocks is, 

3.23% and 3.21%, respectively, as illustrated in section 2. The review subsequently addresses the 

long-term stock performance of the parent firm and subsidiary involved in the spin-offs and conclude 

that over the course of three years, these abnormal returns increase annually (ibid.). 

7.1.2.1. Not another restructuring plan 

Recent press releases and investor presentations outline John Flannery’s goals and strategy for the 

future. Flannery will seek to reduce complexity and improve financial transparency by divesting non-

core assets and refocusing GE into three core areas; Aviation, Power (plus Renewable Energy), Oil 

& Gas and Healthcare, while preserving parts of GE Capital (Flannery, 2017). This strategy jogs the 
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memory back to Welch’s management approach and the original core capabilities he developed, only 

this time, with an even tighter focus.  

 However, after 16 years of failed refocusing strategy, John Flannery will likely have to bring 

something more radical to the table if he wishes to spark any upward stock price movements. At the 

least, the lack of optimism in the market is a signal to Flannery that he will need more than words 

and strategies to rebuild trust with investors. In fact, investors yearn action, results, more fundamental 

changes and not another restructuring plan. 

7.1.2.2. Bringing GE back to prosperity 

So far, the discussion clearly highlights that GE is not an easy fix, in fact, it will take significant 

changes to bring GE back on the right track. Staying true to the empirical evidence and the theoretical 

framework outlined, the following section will discuss how GE can reduce its discount and essentially 

bring about shareholder returns.  

 By now, it should be clear that GE Capital has contributed with significant headaches for both 

management and investors and it appears unclear why management insists on maintaining this 

business division. One answer may be that GE Capital’s lending and leasing platform in fact drives 

too much revenue and growth for the industrial firms, to consider divesting it. Not surprisingly, GE’s 

financial reporting does not present the proportion of revenue attributable to GE Capital’s value-

adding services. Obviously, this provokes the trade-off question of maintaining revenue and revenue 

growth or improving financial transparency and operational predictability. In light of GE Capital’s 

performance and earnings ‘support’ role, the arguments for divesting the division are not difficult to 

come by. The most prominent argument being that distinct management competencies are necessary 

to navigate a financial institution – something GE has mostly failed to do. Even with competent 

management, true synergies between GE’s industrial divisions and GE Capital can hardly be argued 

for and the benefits of cheap capital seems to have an overall negative impact on GE.  

 Thus, it might be reasonable to liberate investors from GE Capital with solutions ranging from 

spin-off, carve-out or an outright closure of the division. As this thesis’ valuation demonstrates, the 

value of GE Capital is presumed to be zero, supported by analysts, questioning the obtainable sales 

price. Nonetheless, a divestment would significantly reduce the complexity of GE’s operations, 

enabling a premium benefit that could possibly outweigh the consequences of foregone revenue. 

However, a divestment could include an exclusivity-agreement to continue the existing services 

towards GE’s industrial customers and thereby provide potential buyers with a valuable asset and 
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even allow GE’s preservation of revenue and value proposition. The important thing for GE is to 

remove the complexity on their books and in their operations, one way or the other, but it does not 

necessarily have to entail a significant loss of revenue. The history of GE Capital, however, makes it 

an extremely difficult sale, with the risk of negative surprises, not to mention the quality of 

management resources, likely scaring away potential buyers or as a minimum command a significant 

discount in the price. Shutting down operations therefore might save GE the time and pain of divesting 

GE Capital. While this might seem as an extreme solution, there are significant numbers of 

Commercial & Industrial banks in the U.S. that might be interested in providing GE the same service 

as GE Capital does. 

 Regardless, GE could ideally move towards a premium conglomerate if they removed GE Capital 

completely from their books and operations. The removal would narrow the operational focus to firms 

with visible and plausible synergy potentials. It would further contribute to a stronger, more 

transparent and less complex financial profile but also significantly reduce the volatility in cash flows 

and thereby help GE harvest the benefits of coinsurance. Theory, at least, would suggest that the 

divestment of GE capital could reduce GE’s discount and even justify a premium valuation.    

 Divesting GE Capital, however, will not on its own, solve all of the problems. In fact, the reason 

GE Capital is still in existence is likely due to another, more fundamental problem, namely GE’s 

ailing corporate governance. Years of poor management performance and misaligned behavior have 

been left unpunished and only when an activist investor proclaimed that ‘enough was enough’ did 

changes occur. Everything that is inherently wrong with GE seems to be driven by a significant breach 

of fiduciary duties from management and the board of directors. Thus, bringing back GE to its 

prosperous days might require central changes to the governing structures of management and the 

board. There are potential governance improvements that could be pursued, yet this discussion shall 

not attempt to address them all without corresponding theory and literature review. However, 

changes, such as the removal of antitakeover provisions and revision of managers’ incentive schemes, 

are things that could be potential game changers (Kershaw, 2012). The reestablishment of GE’s 

exposure to the market for corporate control, is essential, and will ensure that financial forces in the 

market can efficiently discipline both GE’s board of directors as well as the management (Kershaw, 

2012).   
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 This amendment would further inhibit executives’ ability to pursue opportunistic behavior and, 

without any insinuation, mitigate and reduce the empire building that has been a significant part of 

GE’s legacy. Proper governance and control is a foundation for every shareholder investment and 

without it, GE will face difficulty in driving value and reducing its conglomerate discount. 

Nevertheless, the ownership structure, previously described, makes it seemingly difficult to address 

any of the existing governance issues, let alone straightening them out. The changes have to come 

from within GE’s executive halls and that may very well be wishful thinking. Only the future will tell 

whether Flannery eventually recognizes what investors really are looking for.  

7.2. The conglomerate’s raison d’être? 

Extending on the preceding discussion, the diverging beliefs amongst neo-classical and managerial 

schools on whether mergers and conglomerates occur due to shareholder value maximization or 

empire building motives, seem relevant to address. Empirical studies addressed in this thesis alludes 

to the conclusion that conglomerates are generally valued at a discount and the findings of this thesis 

support such studies. Yet, there are still conglomerates in existence today that perform incredibly well 

(c.f. section 4.3) and manage to leverage the benefits from unrelated diversification. This obviously 

challenges the proposition that a conglomerate is an inferior corporate structure and warrants further 

research to explore the management approaches applied.  

7.2.1. General Electric and its conglomerate peers 

In the stock return test in section 4.3, peers were evaluated to assess whether GE was a stand-alone 

case or an indication of a general trend. The findings of the test showed that all four peers, Honeywell 

International, Danaher, United Technologies and Johnson & Johnson (J&J), delivered superior 

returns compared to GE and S&P500 in both distressed and prosperous market conditions as well as 

over the full cycle. The test demonstrates that these conglomerates outperform the market, and 

therefore must do something different and superior, compared to GE and the market. The peers have 

been found to excel in their coherence in, i) applying few core capabilities throughout the whole 

organization, and ii) creating synergies from diversification, other than scale, while avoiding the 

added complexity and unnecessary costs (Leinwand & Mainardi, 2012). As an example, J&J has 

gathered all 120,000 employees in a single HR database, a system that has enabled them to create a 

well functioning ‘internal labor market’ (Fry, 2016). The theory of internal labor markets is somewhat 

similar to the internal capital market, only fixating on labor resources rather than capital resources, 

and may be a topic to explore in further studies (Tate & Yang, 2015). Much differently, Danaher is 
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less centralized and allows each business to control its own operations with the only requirement that 

these divisions adhere to a distinctive lean production system. A strategy that has been particularly 

successful in transforming new acquisitions into profitable businesses (Leinwand & Mainardi, 2012).  

 The question remains, is the conglomerate structure truly a shareholder value maximizing 

strategy or simply a result of opportunistic managers’ actions? In the case of GE, the evidence is quite 

clear – the current corporate structure and the complexity, financial opacity and outright fraudulent 

behavior it gives rise to, calls for GE to break away from its historical conglomerate composition. 

The broad empirical evidence would validate such transformation, although, certain companies, albeit 

few, have endured and flourished as conglomerates. Thus, while GE’s performance challenges the 

rationales of the conglomerate, diverging peer evidence substantiates the raison d’être of the 

conglomerate structure, leaving the discussion with a question mark. 
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8. Conclusion 

This thesis’ two-pronged research question sought to determine whether GE’s share price as of March 

2nd, 2018, indicates that the market values the conglomerate at a discount, and to establish the 

underlying rationales behind such a valuation. To address this comprehensively, the thesis conducted 

an extensive range of analyses, which were guided in an organized manner through methodological 

considerations and the application of a theoretical hypotheses-driven framework. The framework was 

based on an in-depth assessment of literature relating to the conglomerate structure and its valuation.  

 The case company and its relevance was accounted for by empirical statistical investigations 

validating that, i) conglomerates in the U.S. are in general valued at a discount relative to specialized 

firms, and ii) GE’ stock has performed inferior compared to a randomly sampled portfolio, the market 

and its conglomerate peers. Having established the relevance, the thesis went on to the analysis. 

 From a strategic and market analysis, the performance of GE’s industrial divisions indicated that 

certain parts of the conglomerate exceed its competitors in terms of market share and profitability. 

This analysis concluded that overall, GE consists of strong industrial market players. Yet, the analysis 

was followed by an examination of GE’s governance and accounting standards, which concluded a 

variety of issues, such as empire building, inefficient corporate governance mechanisms and exotic 

accounting approaches, leading to SEC investigations. These findings were substantiated by the 

financial statement analysis, uncovering the unpredictability of GE’s earnings and the conglomerate’s 

lack of financial transparency, which are primarily caused by reporting opacity and an 

incomprehensible interplay between GE and its financial institution, GE Capital. 

 These complexities compelled the authors to conduct an alternative valuation of the company 

based on multiples analysis, supported by the approach and results of equity analysts. The valuation 

concluded that GE, as of March 2nd, 2018, is valued at a conglomerate discount in the range of 2.4% 

to 46.0%, thus answering the first part of the research question and setting the stage for the second. 

 Applying the findings of the analysis to test the hypotheses, the thesis concluded that the discount 

valuation of GE is, to a large degree, driven by conglomerate-theoretical rationales such as financial 

complexity and opacity, lacking analyst expertise and inefficient corporate governance. The 

implications of these findings were discussed from a management and investor perspective, 

concluding that GE Capital and the absent disciplining of management serve as the fundamental 

justifications for GE’s conglomerate discount. Ultimately, the thesis questioned the conglomerate 

structure’s raison d’être – signifying that a definitive conclusion requires further empirical research.  
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8.1. Further research 

By thoroughly scrutinizing and testing contemporary underlying theoretical rationales regarding 

conglomerate valuation, this thesis has addressed the gap in existing literature, presented in the 

introduction. As such, this thesis contributes to the contemporary literature as a linkage between 

theoretical and empirical findings and practical case-based conglomerate valuations, such as the study 

by Severinsen and Gundersen (2014). 

 The thesis concludes on most of its findings, however, the authors deem that certain findings are 

outside the scope of this thesis to conclude on, and as such, they pave the way for further research to 

be conducted. 

  As presented in the introduction, there is a gap in the existing academic literature regarding the 

linkage between theoretical and empirical findings and practice. This thesis has addressed this gap 

through an in-depth case study that revealed the specific underlying theoretical rationales for the case 

company’s discount valuation. However, adding to the understanding of the conglomerate and in 

particular its raison d’être, requires empirical proof. As such, this thesis lays out a foundational 

baseline for statistical empirical studies on the specific theoretical justifications of the conglomerate 

structure, namely the discount and premium theories. The authors admit that such studies are difficult 

to structure, due to lacking existence and availability of data. As argued in the thesis, the complexity 

of reports and financial opacity are typical conglomerate characteristics, which admittedly do not 

simplify the process of conducting large-scale data collections for empirical tests on conglomerates.  

 Presented in section 2, certain recent studies attempt to conduct research in line with the tests 

mentioned above (Gilson, et al., 2001; Ammann, et al., 2012; Matvos & Seru, 2014; Kuppuswamy 

& Villalonga, 2016). However, the authors still find gaps in the literature, and as such, deem that 

there is room for further research, in particular regarding the effect of, i) financial transparency, ii) 

reporting complexity, and iii) empire building on the conglomerate discount. With the results of such 

studies, it might be possible to definitively establish the conglomerate’s raison d’être, or lack thereof.  
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Appendices 

Appendix 1: RStudio code strings 

Tobin’s Q 

The following code relates to the test of unrelated diversification in the U.S. Data is loaded from file 

and the standard linear model formula lm(x) is used to for the linear regressions. Model 1 is the 

continuous variable SIC_CODE. Model 2 is the binary variable Conglomerate.  

Appendix: Code string 1 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
## Data load & summary statistics 

 
tobinsq <- read.table("tobinsq.csv", sep = ",", header = TRUE, skip = 0, stringsAsFactors = FALSE) 
 
summary(tobinsq) 
 
## Model 1 (continuous variable) 
 
TQModel.1 <- lm(TOBINS_Q ~ SIC_CODE, tobinsq) 
 
summary(TQModel.1) 
 
plot(tobinsq$SIC_CODE, tobinsq$TOBINS_Q, main = "Tobins Q Plot", xlab = "SIC Codes", ylab = "Tobins 
Q") 
 
abline(TQModel.1, col = "red") 
 
## Model 2 (binary variable) 
 
TQModel.2 <- lm(formula = TOBINS_Q ~ Conglomerate, data = tobinsq) 
 
summary(TQModel.2) 
 
boxplot(TOBINS_Q~Conglomerate, data = tobinsq, main = "Tobins Q by type", xlab = "Conglomerate or non-
conglomerate", ylab = "Tobins Q") 
 
## Data presentation 
 
stargazer(TQModel.1, TQModel.2, type = "text", ci = TRUE) 
 
tobinsqmodel <- stargazer(TQModel.1, TQModel.2, type = "text", ci = TRUE) 
 
write.table(tobinsqmodel, file = "tobinsqmodels.txt", sep = ",", quote = FALSE, row.names = F) 

 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Source: Own work 
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Return test 

The following code relates to the return test of the random sampled portfolio against GE’s returns. 

Data is loaded from two separate files and the standard t.test(x) is used to calculate the t-values. The 

t-test is made against the mean return of GE’s stock for Period 1, Period 2 and Period 3.  

Appendix: Code string 2 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
## Data load & summary statistics (Period 1 & Period 2) 
 
Period1&2 <- read.table("period1&2.csv", sep = ",", header = TRUE, skip = 0, stringsAsFactors = FALSE) 
 
Period1&2_summary <- summary(Period1&2) 
 
write.table(Period1&2_summary, file = "Period1&2summary.txt", sep =",", quote = FALSE, row.names = F) 
 
## Data load & summary statistics (Period 3) 
 
Period3 <- read.table("period3.csv", sep = ",", header = TRUE, skip = 0, stringsAsFactors = FALSE) 
 
Period3_summary <- summary(Period3) 
 
write.table(Period3_summary, file = "Period3.txt", sep = ",", quote = FALSE, row.names = F) 
 
## Manual t-test 
 
head(Period1&2) 
 
mean(Period1&2$Return_1) 
 
mean.return1 <- mean(Period1&2$Return_1) 
 
sd.return1 <- sd(Period1&2$Return_1) 
 
n <- length(Period1&2$Return_1) 
 
t.val <- (mean.return1 - 0) / (sd.return1 / sqrt(n)) 
 
print(t.val) 
 
## t-test 
 
t.test(Period1&2$Return_1, mu = 0.000545, alternative = "greater") 
 
t.test(Period1&2$Return_2, mu = 0.000373, alternative = "greater") 
 
t.test(Period3$Return_3, mu = 0.000459, alternative = "greater") 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 
Source: Own work  
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Appendix 2: Return test sample firms and computations 

Sample portfolio companies 

Appendix table: Sample Portfolio Summary Statistics 

 
Source: own work based on Yahoo Finance (2018) 
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Computations 

AMR = Average Monthly Return 

MR = Monthly Return 

P = Price 

r  = return 

Market = S&P500 Stock Index 

First, the MR is calculated for each entry for the period 31/12/2016 – 31/12/2017. 

𝑀𝑅𝑆𝑡𝑜𝑐𝑘 = (
𝑃𝑡

𝑃𝑡−1

) − 1 

Second, the MR is calculated for the portfolio by taking the average of the MRs for each stock. It is 

assumed that the portfolio is re-weighted every month.  

𝑀𝑅𝑃𝑜𝑟𝑡𝑓𝑜𝑙𝑖𝑜 =
∑ 𝑀𝑅𝑆𝑡𝑜𝑐𝑘

𝑛
 

Third, the AMR is calculated for the portfolio and is given by: 

𝐴𝑀𝑅𝑃𝑜𝑟𝑡𝑓𝑜𝑙𝑖𝑜 =
∑ 𝑀𝑅𝑃𝑜𝑟𝑡𝑓𝑜𝑙𝑖𝑜

𝑛
 

The standard deviation for the portfolio is computed for each period and is given by: 

𝜎 = √
1

𝑁
∑(𝑀𝑅𝑖 − 𝜇𝑝𝑜𝑟𝑡𝑓𝑜𝑙𝑖𝑜)

2
𝑁

𝑖=1

 

Beta for the portfolio is computed for each period and given by: 

𝛽 =
𝐶𝑜𝑣𝑎𝑟𝑖𝑎𝑛𝑐𝑒(𝐴𝑀𝑅𝑝𝑜𝑟𝑡𝑓𝑜𝑙𝑖𝑜, 𝑟𝑚𝑎𝑟𝑘𝑒𝑡)

𝑉𝑎𝑟𝑖𝑎𝑛𝑐𝑒(𝑟𝑚𝑎𝑟𝑘𝑒𝑡)
 

The Sharpe Ratio for the portfolio is computed for each period and given by: 

𝑆ℎ𝑎𝑟𝑝𝑒 𝑅𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑜 =
𝐴𝑀𝑅𝑝𝑜𝑟𝑡𝑓𝑜𝑙𝑖𝑜 − 𝑟𝑓

𝜎𝑝𝑜𝑟𝑡𝑓𝑜𝑙𝑖𝑜
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The computation flow is illustrated in the table 

Appendix table: Computation flow return test 

 

Source: own work based on Yahoo Finance (2018) 

 

The risk-free rate for the computation of Sharpe Ratio is based on U.S. 10-Year Treasury Rate.  

Appendix table: U.S. 10-Year Treasury Rate 

 

Source: Yahoo Finance (2018) 
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Appendix 3: GE’s corporate governance and ownership structure 

Composition of GE’s board of directors 

Appendix table: GE board of directors 

 

Source: Own work based on Capital IQ (2018); Note: Years refers to number of years on the board, 0 indicates appointment in 2018 

Ownership structure 

Appendix table: GE’s ownership structure illustrated by top holders of GE shares 

 

Source: Own work based on Capital IQ (2018) 

Active investors 

Capital IQ further presents data on active investors, by compiling investors that have run campaigns 

to influence the executive levels at GE. 

Appendix table: Active owners of GE share 

 

Source: Own work based on Capital IQ (2018) 

Notice that Trian has sold off some of their shares, subsequent to the campaign of removing Immelt.  

Name Title Role Years Experience Area of expertise

Flannery, John L. Chairman & CEO Internal 1 Prveious CEO/Chairman of GE Healthcare Healthcare

Laxer, Richard Alan Chairman & CEO GE Capital Internal 2 Previous Chairman of GE Capital Financial

Brennan, John Joseph Lead Independent Director External 6 Director at Rockefeller Capital and associated with Vanguard Financial

Mulva, James J. Director External 10 Previous CEO/Chairman of ConocoPhillips (Oil & gas company) Oil & Gas

Bazin, Sébastien M. Director External 2 Previous CEO/Chairman of Accor (Hotel chain) Hotels

Beattie, William GeoffreyIndependent Director External 9 Lead director at Baker Hughes and Chairman of GE Audit Committee Oil & Gas

Culp Jr., H. Lawrence Independent Director External 0 Senior advisor at Danaher Healthcare

D'Souza, Francisco Independent Director External 5 Previous CEO of Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation IT Consulting

Garden, Edward Patrick Director External 1 Founding partner of Trian Fund Management (Activist shareholder) Financial

Horton, Thomas W. Independent Director External 0 Previous CEO at American Airlines (Aviation) Aviation

Lavizzo-Mourey, Risa J. Director External 1 Previous CEO at Robert Wood Johson Foundation (Healthcare) Healthcare

Seidman, Leslie F. Independent Director External 0 Previous Director of Moody's Corporation, associated with FASB & SEC Accounting

Tisch, James S. Director External 8 Previous CEO at Loews Corporation (US Conglomerate) Conglomerate

Investor name Investor type Position % of shares

The Vanguard Group, Inc. Traditional Investment Managers 613,678,452     7.1%

BlackRock, Inc. (NYSE:BLK) Traditional Investment Managers 531,732,530     6.1%

State Street Global Advisors, Inc. Traditional Investment Managers 337,665,872     3.9%

Capital Research and Management Company Traditional Investment Managers 279,347,293     3.2%

Franklin Resources, Inc. (NYSE:BEN) Traditional Investment Managers 179,140,629     2.1%

Northern Trust Global Investments Traditional Investment Managers 109,490,981     1.3%

Geode Capital Management, LLC Traditional Investment Managers 87,849,199       1.0%

BNY Mellon Asset Management Traditional Investment Managers 82,006,771       0.9%

Norges Bank Investment Management Government Pension Sponsors 77,222,914       0.9%

Harris Associates L.P. Traditional Investment Managers 75,625,367       0.9%

Investor name Campagins Position % of shares

Trian Fund Management, L.P.  15 70,851,055 0.82%

Citadel LLC  1 19,820,465 0.23%

Southeastern Asset Management, Inc.  6 11,320,435 0.13%
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Antitakeover provision score 

GE scores 0.31 on antitakeover provision, reflecting stronger provisions than the conglomerate peers 

average and the industrials industry average.  

Appendix figure: Antitakeover provision scores                    Appendix table: Peer scores and the average 

 

Source: Own work based on Capital IQ (2018) 

Three antitakeover provisions mainly drive GE’s score: 

1) Blank check preferred stock 

2) Corporate sponsored fair price provision 

3) Secret ballot voting 

From the peer analysis, 100% of the conglomerate peers have the first provision established as well. 

However, 40% use the second provision and only 20% apply the third provision, leading to GE’s 

relatively higher score. 

  

Peers Score

Honeywell International Inc. (NYSE:HON) 0.27

ABB Ltd (SWX:ABBN) 0.12

3M Company (NYSE:MMM) 0.18

Siemens Aktiengesellschaft (DB:SIE) 0.12

Hitachi, Ltd. (TSE:6501) 0.04

Mitsubishi Corporation (TSE:8058) 0.00

Danaher Corporation (NYSE:DHR) 0.22

United Technologies Corporation (NYSE:UTX) 0.37

Johnson & Johnson (NYSE:JNJ) 0.18

Koninklijke Philips N.V. (ENXTAM:PHIA) 0.33

Average 0.1830.00 0.10 0.20 0.30 0.40

General Electric

Conglomerate peers

Primary Industry: Industrials
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Appendix 4: Strategic and market analysis of GE Oil & Gas (BHGE) 

This appendix presents a strategic and market analysis of GE Oil & Gas, or BHGE, which is the name 

of the publicly listed subsidiary, in which GE owns a 62.5% stake. 

Macroeconomic drivers and trends 

Baker Hughes, a GE company, is one of the world’s largest providers to the oil and gas industry, 

offering products and services ranging across upstream, midstream, downstream and industrial 

segments of the value chain (BHGE, 2018a). As such, the division is a fullstream supplier, which 

complicates defining one specific target segment, besides coining the industry as oil and gas service 

providers and products manufacturers. The firm’s target market is truly global and demand is 

influenced by macroeconomic and political events in each country they operate in. The most direct 

macroeconomic value driver is the crude oil price and demand for energy, which are rather correlated 

(EIA, 2018a). BHGE is not directly influenced by the oil price, however, the oil price is the best 

indicator in terms of determining the number of active oil rigs, which is what truly determines demand 

for BHGE’s products and services. The first figure below shows the correlation between crude oil 

prices and number of active rigs on a global scale. The second figure indexes the annual average 

crude oil price and BHGE’s annual revenue to illustrate their correlation.  

Appendix figure: Global active oil rigs & avg. oil price    Appendix figure: Indexed BHGE revenue & oil price 

 
Note: “Active” rig is on location and currently drilling           Reported: 2012-13 from BHGE, 2014-2017 from GE Oil & Gas 
Source: Own work based on World Bank (2017)              Source: Annual reports (2012-2017); World Bank (2017) 

As depicted by the figures, the market declines greatly during 2015 but is back on an upward trend. 

The market movements are clearly manifested in the top-line performance of BHGE, which illustrates 

the oil price as a macroeconomic value driver. The oil price, however, is to some degree exogenously 

determined through decisions made by governments and organizations such as OPEC. Correlated 

with the oil prices, the global market for oil and gas equipment decreased in 2015 but has been 

growing strongly since mid-2016. The forecast for 2018 and beyond calls for positive projections, 
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yet the growth rates flat out compared to the early 00s, and the market becomes more stabilized by 

the end of the forecast, in 2020, as depicted in the first figure below. 

Appendix figure: Oil & gas equipment market           Appendix figure: Equipment & services forecast 

 
Source: Own work based on Statista (2018)                   Source: Own work based on Grand View Research (2017) 

The second figure includes market projections for oilfield services, which is a large part of BHGE’s 

operations, accounting for 1/3 of revenue. The total global market for oil and gas equipment and 

oilfield services is expected to reach USD 304bn in 2018, and is to a large degree the total addressable 

market of BHGE (Grand View Research, 2017). The growing market size and the increasing oil prices 

provide a variety of opportunities and indicate a thriving oil industry, on a short-term perspective. 

 The changing global energy mix, however, is expected to significantly impact the oil and gas 

industry over the long run. Oil is the second most polluting energy fuel type (IEA, 2017a), and its use 

for energy production has for this reason declined over the last decades, as depicted below. 

Appendix figure: World primary energy supply by fuel      Appendix figure: Emission by sector (2010) 

 
Source: Own work based on IEA (2017)                       Source: Own work based on Barros & Field (2015) 

Energy production, which primarily comes from burning of coal, oil and natural gas is still the single 

largest source of global greenhouse gas emission, as illustrated by the diagram to the right. As a result, 

various organizations push towards a green future, which is evident in the energy mix developments. 

Transportation is a significant sector in relation to the oil industry and  greenhouse gas emission, as 
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95% of the world’s energy used in transportation comes from fuels based on oil (Sims, et al., 2015). 

The strong trend towards electrical cars is therefore of particular interest in terms of the oil industry. 

According to the International Energy Agency, increased infrastructure and political focus support a 

rapid expansion in the global electric car fleet, which approaches 50 million by 2025 and 900 million 

by 2040 (IEA, 2017c). The significant growth in electrical-fueled engines and the changes in the 

global energy mix are some of the oil industry’s long-term challenges. 

Competitive outlook 

In the shorter term, the oil and gas industry is a growing and lucrative industry, in which BHGE 

competes on a variety of markets. The projected global increase in the oil and gas equipment market 

is largely driven by fundamental changes in the demand for U.S. products. More specifically, the U.S. 

OEMs have advanced into highly competent producers, specialized in unconventional and ultra-

deepwater resources (ITA, 2017). GE is at the forefront of this market and has developed a broad 

range of products and services for the ultra-deepwater segment. By seizing the first-mover advantage 

GE is expanding across borders with this new technology and, in collaboration with the London-

based, Noble Corporation, recently launched the world’s first digital rig operating in this field (GE 

Power Conversion, 2018). Yet, as a fullstream provider, BHGE competes in a variety of spaces within 

industry, and as such, they are the market leader in certain segments, yet not in all areas.  

Appendix figure: Global oil & gas equipment & services market split on OEMs, and their 2016-17 growth rate 

 
Source: Both figures are own work based on data compilations from Capital IQ (2018); Statista (2018) 

As the figure illustrates, BHGE is the seventh largest player in the industry, measured by 2017 

revenue. Nonetheless, BHGE delivered the highest top-line growth of all the competitors, signifying 

a possible change in the ranking of these seven firms. It should be noted that a large part of BHGE’s 

growth stems from the merger between Baker Hughes and GE Oil & Gas. However, as inorganic 
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growth is a central part of GE’s growth strategy, and typical for this industry as a whole, such growth 

should not necessarily be normalized when comparing performance, despite usual methodology. 

 Regarding the seven largest firms, all but Schlumberger achieved two-digit top-line growth 

within the last year, despite a much more conservative overall market growth of 5.2% (cf. the figure 

on Oil & gas services and equipment market). This trend indicates market consolidation around the 

largest players, which is emphasized by the remaining “other” firms, that decreased from a 27% 

market share in 2016 to 16% in 2017. The increasing concentration could potentially give rise to 

oligopoly-like market characteristics, which is enhanced by the large initial investment required to 

enter the market, thus creating strong entry barriers and reduces the threat of new entrants. Further, 

immense economies of scale are achieved when moving down the learning curve, and as such, the 

current players are anticipated to increase their market shares (Cabral, 2000). In such a market form, 

players compete fiercely according to game theoretical assumptions, which could potentially reduce 

the profitability of the industry. However, from GE’s perspective, an oligopolistic market form can 

be perceived as an opportunity rather than a threat, as the conglomerate is experienced in competing 

in consolidated markets, such as the market for commercial and military engines and the gas turbine 

market.  

 Looking at the buyer bargaining power, BHGE and the industry in general could be negatively 

influenced by the immense size of these players. The buyer field is characterized by the “Big Oil” or 

“Supermajors” (Reuters, 2008), as these giant oil and gas companies have been referred to as. The 

ranking of these changes from time to time, yet corporations such as Saudi Aramco, Gazprom, BP, 

Sinopec, ExxonMobil and Royal Dutch Shell are typically part of the top ten, measured in barrels per 

day production (Forbes, 2016). These giants exhibit strong buyer bargaining power, and it is as such 

essential to sustain long-lasting contractual relations with them, to maintain profitability.  

 Yet, on the other end of the value chain, the suppliers of the industry are less powerful, as most 

of the players in the industry integrate vertically upwards in the chain. As a fullstream supplier, BHGE 

is an example of this. Lastly, regarding substitute products, there are no specific direct substitutes to 

the majority of BHGEs and its peers’ product offerings. However, the changing global energy mix is 

an influential factor, which pushes towards indirect substitute products for the end consumer, in terms 

of fuel used for generating energy, which is moving towards renewables (IEA, 2017a) 
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GE’s performance relative to competitors and peers 

A major challenge is fully integrating Baker Hughes into GE while sustaining the current market 

position. BHGE is smaller than its nearest competitors, however, with a high growth rate and an 

increasing market size, it should be possible for GE to improve the revenue and performance of this 

division, despite the projected changes in the global energy mix. Performance of the most comparable 

competitors and peers is depicted below, with Halliburton and Schlumberger as competitors and 

National Oilwell Varco and TechnipFMC as peers.  

Appendix table: GE Oil & Gas’ performance relative to competitors and peers 

 
Note: In 2014, National Oilwell Varco spun off Now Inc., which had revenues of USD 4.3 bn.  
Source: Own work based on Capital IQ (2018) 

The fluctuating revenue generation has been an industry-wide issue, and as such, not necessarily due 

to declining performance. As demonstrated in previous sections, the market growth is on an upward 

sloping trend, which is also illustrated in the 2017 revenue growth of the peer group. GE has been 

historically superior to the peers in terms of profitability but the integration process of BHGE has 

reduced the division’s margins. However, the merger enables BHGE to effectively compete with 

industry leaders, which is anticipated to largely influence the 2018 financials in a positive direction 

(GE, 2018). Despite the positive outlook, an overall forecast of BHGE is difficult to establish due to 

movements in both the macro- and microeconomic environment, although at the moment, BHGE is 

definitely located at the top of the peer group.  
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Appendix 5: Selected financial statements 

GE’s Consolidated Income Statement 

Appendix table: Consolidated Income Statement (2013-2017) 

 
Source: GE annual reports (2013-2018) 

Deloitte  

 

 General Electric Company and consolidated affiliates 

For the years ended December 31 (USDm) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017       
Revenues and other income      
Sales of goods   71,873    76,568    74,510    75,414    75,641  
Sales of services   28,669    30,190    31,298    34,976    37,551  
Other income (Note 17)   3,107    778    2,227    4,005    1,625  
GE Capital earnings (loss) from continuing operations      
GE Capital revenues from services   9,595    9,648    9,350    9,297    7,276  

Total revenues and other income   113,245    117,184    117,386    123,693    122,092        
Costs and expenses (Note 25)      
Cost of goods sold   57,867    61,257    59,905    62,440    64,328  
Cost of services sold   21,974    22,447    22,788    25,043    27,606  
Selling, general and administrative expenses   17,945    16,848    17,831    18,377    18,280  
Interest and other financial charges   2,870    2,723    3,463    5,025    4,869  
Investment contracts, insurance losses and insurance annuity 
benefits   2,661    2,530    2,605    2,797    12,168  
Other costs and expenses   828    1,115    2,608    982    3,632  

Total costs and expenses   104,145    106,921    109,200    114,663    130,883        
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes   9,100    10,263    8,186    9,030    (8,791)  
Benefit (provision) for income taxes (Note 13)   (1,219)    (773)    (6,485)    464    3,043  

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations   7,881    9,490    1,700    9,494    (5,748)  
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes (Note 
2)   5,475    5,855    (7,495)    (954)    (309)  

Net earnings (loss)   13,355    15,345    (5,795)    8,540    (6,056)  
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests   298    112    332    (291)    (270)  

Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company   13,057    15,233    (6,126)    8,831    (5,786)  
Preferred stock dividends - -   (18)    (656)    (436)  

Net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareowners   13,057    15,233    (6,145)    8,176    (6,222)        
Amounts attributable to GE common shareowners      
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations   7,881    9,490    1,700   (6,145)  8,176 

Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests, 
continuing operations   262    (45)    19    (290)    (277)  

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to the 
Company   7,618    9,535    1,681    9,784    (5,471)  
Preferred stock dividends - -   (18)    (656)    (436)  

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to GE 
common shareowners   7,618    9,535    1,663    9,128    (5,907)  
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes   5,475    5,855    (7,495)    (954)    (309)  
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests, 
discontinued operations   36    157    312    (1)    6  

Net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareowners   13,057    15,233    (6,145)    8,176    (6,222)  
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GE’s Divisional Income Statement 

Appendix table: Divisional Income Statement (2015-2017) 

 
Source: GE annual reports (2013-2018) 

  

Deloitte  

 

 GE Capital GE 

For the years ended December 31 (USDm) 2015 2016 2017 2015 2016 2017        
Revenues and other income       
Sales of goods 79 115 130 74,565 75,580 75,718 
Sales of services    31,641 35,255 37,761 
Other income (Note 17)    2,165 4,092 1,436 
GE Capital earnings (loss) from continuing operations    (7,672) (1,251) (6,765) 
GE Capital revenues from services 10,722 10,790 8,940    
Total revenues and other income 10,801 10,905 9,070 100,700 113,676 108,150        
Costs and expenses (Note 25)       
Cost of goods sold 69 93 102 59,970 62,628 64,433 
Cost of services sold 2,273 2,238 2,196 20,858 23,084 25,619 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 3,512 2,947 1,676 14,914 16,123 17,103 
Interest and other financial charges 2,301 3,790 3,145 1,706 2,026 2,753 
Investm. contracts, insurance losses and insur. annuity benefits 2,737 2,861 12,213    
Other costs and expenses 2,647 1,013 2,371   1,165 

Total costs and expenses 13,539 12,942 21,703 97,447 103,860 111,072        
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (2,739) (2,037) (12,633) 3,252 9,815 (2,922) 
Benefit (provision) for income taxes (Note 13) (4,979) 1,431 6,302 (1,506) (967) (3,259) 

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations (7,718) (606) (6,331) 1,746 8,849 (6,181) 
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes (Note 2) (7,485) (954) (312) (7,807) (952) (315) 

Net earnings (loss) (15,202) (1,560) (6,643) (6,061) 7,896 (6,496) 
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests 248 (12) 4 83 (279) (274) 

Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company (15,450) (1,548) (6,647) (6,145) 8,176 (6,222) 
Preferred stock dividends (330) (656) (436)    
Net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareowners (15,780) (2,204) (7,083) (6,145) 8,176 (6,222)        
Amounts attributable to GE common shareowners:       
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations (7,718) (606) (6,331) 1,746 8,849 (6,181) 
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests, 
continuing operations (64) (10) (3) 83 (279) (274) 

Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attr. to the company (7,654) (595) (6,328) 1,663 9,128 (5,907) 
Preferred stock dividends (330) (656) (436)    
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations attributable to GE 
common shareowners (7,983) (1,251) (6,765) 1,663 9,128 (5,907) 
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operations, net of taxes (7,485) (954) (312) (7,807) (952) (315) 
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests, 
discontinued operations 312 (1) 6    
Net earnings (loss) attributable to GE common shareowners (15,780) (2,204) (7,083) (6,145) 8,176 (6,222) 
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GE’s Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow 

Appendix table: Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (2013-2017) 

 
Source: GE annual reports (2013-2018) 

  

Deloitte  

 

 General Electric Company and consolidated affiliates 

For the years ended December 31 (USDm) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017       
Cash flows operating activities      
Net earnings (loss)   13,355    15,345    (5,795)    8,540    (6,056)  
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests   298    112    332    (291)    (270)  

Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company   13,057    15,233    (6,126)    8,831    (5,786)  
(Earnings) loss from discontinued operations   (5,475)    (5,855)    7,495    954    309  
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings attributable to the 
Company to cash provided from operating activities:      
Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment   5,202    4,953    4,847    4,997    5,139  
(Earnings) loss from continuing operations retained by GE Capital - -    
Deferred income taxes   (3,540)    (882)    383    814    (4,845)  
Decrease (increase) in GE current receivables   (485)    (1,913)    (52)    1,514    1,551  
Decrease (increase) in inventories   (1,368)    (872)    (314)    (1,389)    747  
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable   442    565    (541)    1,198    (335)  
Increase (decrease) in GE progress collections   1,892    (515)    (996)    1,836    1,322  
All other operating activities   4,672    5,318    7,160    (12,655)    13,291  

Cash from (used for) operating activities   continuing operations   14,398    16,033    11,856    6,099    11,394  
Cash from (used for) operating activities   discontinued operations   14,112    11,676    8,034    (6,343)    (968)  

Cash from (used for) operating activities   28,510    27,709    19,891    (244)    10,426        
Cash flows investing activities      
Additions to property, plant and equipment   (6,754)    (7,134)    (7,309)    (7,199)    (7,371)  
Dispositions of property, plant and equipment   2,716    2,923    3,020    4,424    5,746  
Additions to internal-use software   2,151    1,260    (778)    (749)    (549)  
Net decrease (increase) in GE Capital financing receivables   528    232    1,043    200    805  
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations   1,818    630    79,615    59,890    1,464  
Proceeds from principal business dispositions   16,699  -   2,283    5,357    3,228  
Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased   (8,026)    (2,091)    (12,027)    (2,271)    (6,087)  
All other investing activities   35,027    23,410    (4,235)    2,960    6,704  

Cash from (used for) investing activities   continuing operations   44,159    19,229    61,613    62,613    3,940  
Cash from (used for) investing activities   discontinued operations   (15,042)    (24,263)    (2,125)    (13,412)    (1,618)  

Cash from (used for) investing activities   29,117    (5,034)    59,488    49,202    2,322        
Cash flows financing activities      
Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or 
less)   (14,048)    (6,409)    (24,459)    (1,135)    1,794  
Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)   38,356    14,629    13,951    1,492    14,876  
Repayments and other reductions (maturities longer than 90 
days)   (53,624)    (38,410)    (47,038)    (58,768)    (25,622)  
Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury   (9,278)    (1,218)    (1,099)    (21,429)    (2,550)  
Dividends paid to shareowners   (7,821)    (8,852)    (9,295)    (8,806)    (8,650)  
All other financing activities   (1,388)    (652)    (1,605)    (1,274)    (903)  

Cash from (used for) financing activities   continuing operations   (46,813)    (40,912)    (69,547)    (89,920)    (21,055)  
Cash from (used for) financing activities   discontinued operations   1,238    23,956    (6,507)    789    1,909  

Cash from (used for) financing activities   (45,575)    (16,956)    (76,054)    (89,131)    (19,146)  

Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash and equivalents   (795)    (3,492)    (3,464)    (1,146)    891  

Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents   11,258    2,224    (138)    (41,319)    (5,507)  
Cash and equivalents at beginning of year   77,533    88,792    91,017    90,879    49,558  

Cash and equivalents at end of year   88,792    91,017    90,879    49,558    44,051  
Less cash and equivalents of discontinued operations at end of 
year   9,617    20,991    20,395    1,429    752  

Cash and equivalents of continuing operations at end of year   79,173    70,025    70,483    48,129    43,299  

Supplemental disclosure of cash flows information      
Cash paid during the year for interest   (8,988)    (9,560)    (8,764)    (5,779)    (5,049)  
Cash recovered (paid) during the year for income taxes   (2,487)    (2,955)    (2,486)    (7,469)    (2,436)  
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GE’s Divisional Statement of Cash Flow 

Appendix table: Divisional Statement of Cash Flow (2015-2017) 

 
Source: GE annual reports (2013-2018) 

Deloitte  

 

 GE Capital GE 

For the years ended December 31 (USDm) 2015 2016 2017 2015 2016 2017 

        
Cash flows operating activities        
Net earnings (loss)   (15,202)    (1,560)    (6,643)    (6,061)    7,896    (6,496)  
Less net earnings (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests   248    (12)    4    83    (279)    (274)  

Net earnings (loss) attributable to the Company   (15,450)    (1,548)    (6,647)    (6,145)    8,176    (6,222)  
(Earnings) loss from discontinued operations   7,485    954    312    7,807    952    315  
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings attributable to the 
Company to cash provided from operating activities:        
Depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment   2,436    2,384    2,277    2,473    2,597    2,857  
(Earnings) loss from continuing operations retained by GE 
Capital(b)      12,284    21,345    10,781  
Deferred income taxes   2,183    (293)    (5,294)    (1,800)    1,107    449  
Decrease (increase) in GE current receivables      666    929    297  
Decrease (increase) in inventories   (14)    (10)    (2)    (282)    (1,337)    764  
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable   (189)    17    (75)    276    1,716    (370)  
Increase (decrease) in GE progress collections      (1,010)    1,913    1,349  
All other operating activities   5,087    (3,054)    11,802    2,083    (7,438)    822  

Cash from (used for) operating activities   continuing operations   1,537    (1,552)    2,374    16,354    29,960    11,040  
Cash from (used for) operating activities   discontinued 
operations   8,046    (6,253)    (968)    (12)    (90)    (1)  

Cash from (used for) operating activities   9,583    (7,805)    1,407    16,342    29,870    11,039  

        
Cash flows investing activities        
Additions to property, plant and equipment   (4,237)    (3,769)    (3,680)    (3,785)    (3,758)    (4,132)  
Dispositions of property, plant and equipment   2,526    3,637    4,579    939    1,080    1,401  
Additions to internal-use software   (23)    (8)    (31)    (755)    (740)    (518)  
Net decrease (increase) in GE Capital financing receivables   226    (1,279)    2,897      
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations   79,615    59,890    1,464      
Proceeds from principal business dispositions   532      1,725    5,357    3,106  
Net cash from (payments for) principal businesses purchased   (1,677)    (10,350)    (2,271)    (6,087)  
All other investing activities   (4,667)    1,647    3,052    (553)    (1,652)    (2,097)  

Cash from (used for) investing activities   continuing operations   72,295    60,118    8,282  (12,779)    (1,984)    (8,328)  
Cash from (used for) investing activities   discontinued operations   (2,137)    (13,501)    (1,618)    12    90    1  

Cash from (used for) investing activities   70,158    46,617    6,664    (12,767)    (1,894)    (8,327)  

        
Cash flows financing activities        
Net increase (decrease) in borrowings (maturities of 90 days or 
less)   (24,834)    (1,655)    69    603    1,595    1,680  
Newly issued debt (maturities longer than 90 days)   10,391    1,174    1,909    3,560    5,307    20,264  
Repayments and other reductions (maturities longer than 90 
days)   (44,848)    (58,285)    (21,007)    (2,190)    (4,156)    (5,981)  
Net dispositions (purchases) of GE shares for treasury      (1,099)    (21,429)    (2,550)  
Dividends paid to shareowners   (4,620)    (20,427)    (4,311)    (9,289)    (8,474)    (8,355)  
All other financing activities   (1,362)    (1,127)    (280)    203    (273)    (528)  

Cash from (used for) financing activities   continuing operations   (65,273)    (80,320)    (23,619)    (8,211)    (27,430)    4,530  
Cash from (used for) financing activities   discontinued operations   (6,507)    789    1,909        

Cash from (used for) financing activities   (71,780)    (79,531)    (21,710)    (8,211)    (27,430)    4,530  

Effect of currency exchange rate changes on cash and 
equivalents   (2,556)    (754)    447    (908)    (392)    444  

Increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents   5,406    (41,473)    (13,193)    (5,544)    153    7,686  
Cash and equivalents at beginning of year   75,100    80,506    39,033    15,916    10,372    10,525  

Cash and equivalents at end of year   80,506    39,033    25,840    10,372    10,525    18,211  
Less cash and equivalents of discontinued operations at end of 
year   20,395    1,429    752        

Cash and equivalents of continuing operations at end of year   60,111    37,604    25,088    10,372    10,525    18,211  

Supplemental disclosure of cash flows information        
Cash paid during the year for interest   (8,047)    (4,982)    (2,793)    (1,327)    (1,753)    (2,256)  
Cash recovered (paid) during the year for income taxes   (850)    (4,857)    264    (1,636)    (2,612)    (2,700)  
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Appendix 6: Divisional EBIT and EBITDA computations 

To compute EBIT and EBITDA for GE’s divisions, following approach is applied: 

 

First, the revenue distribution based on total industrial revenue is computed. Next, the tax (35%) is 

added back to reported net operating profit after tax. Then, interest expenses are added back, based 

on the revenue distribution, assuming that each division costs the same in financing. This flow yields 

EBIT. To compute EBITDA depreciation & amortization is added back to the EBIT.  

 

The following tables show the approach in chronological order. (Reported) indicates that the figures 

are from GE’s annual reports. (Computed) indicates that these figures are computed by the authors.  

 

Divisional revenue split 

Appendix table: Segments revenue (reported) 

 General Electric Company and consolidated affiliates 

(USDm) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Revenue      
Aviation   21,911    23,990    24,660    26,261    27,375  
Power   26,770    27,746    28,903    36,795    35,990  
Renewable Energy   4,824    6,399    6,273    9,033    10,280  
Oil & Gas   17,341    19,085    16,450    12,898    17,231  
Healthcare   18,200    18,299    17,639    18,291    19,116  
Transportation   5,885    5,650    5,933    4,713    4,178  
Lighting   8,338    8,404    8,751    4,823    1,987  

Total industrial segment revenues   103,269    109,574    108,609    112,814    116,157  

Source: GE annual reports (2013-2018) 

 

Appendix table: Divisional revenue distribution (computed) 

 General Electric Company and consolidated affiliates 

(USDm) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Revenue distribution      
Aviation 21.22% 21.89% 22.71% 23.28% 23.57% 
Power 25.92% 25.32% 26.61% 32.62% 30.98% 
Renewable Energy 4.67% 5.84% 5.78% 8.01% 8.85% 
Oil & Gas 16.79% 17.42% 15.15% 11.43% 14.83% 
Healthcare 17.62% 16.70% 16.24% 16.21% 16.46% 
Transportation 5.70% 5.16% 5.46% 4.18% 3.60% 
Lighting 8.07% 7.67% 8.06% 4.28% 1.71% 

Source: Own work 
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Divisional EBIT 

Appendix table: Segment operating profit after tax (reported) 

 General Electric Company and consolidated affiliates 

(USDm) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

Segment profit      
Aviation   4,345    4,973    5,507    6,115    6,642  
Power   4,437    4,731    4,772    5,091    2,786  
Renewable Energy   485    694    431    576    727  
Oil & Gas   2,357    2,758    2,427    1,392    220  
Healthcare   3,048    3,047    2,882    3,161    3,448  
Transportation   1,166    1,130    1,273    1,064    824  
Lighting   381    431    674    199    93  

Total industrial segment profit   16,220    17,764    17,966    17,598    14,740  

Source: GE annual reports (2013-2018) 

 

Appendix table: Net interest expense & statutory tax rate (reported) 

 General Electric Company and consolidated affiliates 

(USDm) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 
      

Net Interest Expense (1,333) (1,579) (1,706) (2,026) (2,753) 
Statutory Tax Rate 35% 35% 35% 35% 35% 

Source: GE annual reports (2013-2018) 

 

Appendix table: Earnings before interest and tax (computed) 

 General Electric Company and consolidated affiliates 

(USDm) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

EBIT      

Aviation 6,924 7,928 8,825 9,838 10,820 

Power 6,952 7,226 7,754 8,435 5,077 

Renewable Energy 799 1,142 753 1,034 1,344 

Oil & Gas 3,815 4,463 3,969 2,353 717 

Healthcare 4,888 4,899 4,686 5,163 5,725 

Transportation 1,858 1,804 2,043 1,714 1,356 

Lighting 677 903 1,162 385 187 
 

Source: Own work 
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Divisional EBITDA 

Appendix table: Segment depreciation & amortization (reported) 
  General Electric Company and consolidated affiliates 

(USDm) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

D&A      

Aviation 677 824 855 900 979 

Power 593 563 1,035 1,549 1,358 

Renewable Energy 73 113 116 183 259 

Oil & Gas 481 585 596 529 1,026 

Healthcare 861 843 799 785 806 

Transportation 166 169 188 168 135 

Lighting 300 263 103 173 86 
 

Source: GE (2013-2018) 

 

Appendix table: Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation & amortization (computed) 

 General Electric Company and consolidated affiliates 

(USDm) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

EBITDA      

Aviation 7,601 8,752 9,680 10,738 11,799 

Renewable Energy 872 1,255 869 1,217 1,603 

Oil & Gas 4,296 5,048 4,565 2,881 1,743 
Power 7,545 7,789 8,789 9,984 6,435 

Healthcare 5,749 5,742 5,485 5,948 6,531 

Transportation 2,024 1,973 2,231 1,882 1,495 

Lighting 977 1,167 1,265 558 273 
 

Source: Own work 
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Appendix 7: GE’s M&A activity in the 2013-2017 period 

In the following 160 transactions, GE acted as either target, acquirer or seller of the transaction.  

Appendix table: GE’s M&A activity in the 2013-2017 period 

Completed date Target company Acquirer company EV (USDm) 

26/01/2018 Arcam AB (23% Stake) General Electric Company 985  

16/11/2017 GeonX S.A. GE Additive  -  

07/11/2017 Markbygden ETT wind farm GE Energy Financial Services Inc. -  

24/10/2017 Caradigm USA LLC (Identity and access management business) Imprivata, Inc. -  

04/10/2017 Microsoft Ireland Energy Limited Microsoft Corporation -  

07/09/2017 Penske Truck Leasing Co., L.P. (5.5% Stake) Penske Automotive Group, Inc. -  

02/08/2017 General Electric Philippines Meter  Aclara Technologies LLC -  

31/07/2017 IQP Corporation General Electric Company 40  

15/12/2017 GE Capital Business Processes Management Services Ltd.  The Carlyle Group -  

31/08/2017 Dharmacon Inc. Horizon Discovery Group Plc 85  

10/07/2017 Novia Strategies, Inc. GE Healthcare Limited -  

03/07/2017 Pipeline Integrity International Group Ltd (50% Stake) Baker Hughes Incorporated -  

30/06/2017 GE Masoneilan Sales and Services operations Setpoint Integrated Solutions, Inc. -  

29/06/2017 Sepset Constructions Limited (49% Stake) GE Energy Financial Services Inc. -  

29/06/2017 Yarrow Infrastructure Limited (49% Stake) GE Energy Financial Services Inc. -  

29/06/2017 RattanIndia Solar 2 Private Limited (49% Stake) GE Energy Financial Services Inc. -  

12/06/2017 Oliver Crispin Robotics Limited GE Aircraft Engine Services Limited -  

02/06/2017 MOTIVE Drilling Technologies, Inc. Helmerich & Payne, Inc. 75  

30/06/2017 Part of GE heavy duty gas turbine manufacturing business Dussur -  

10/04/2017 Asymptote Limited General Electric Company -  

10/04/2017 ZT Limited GE Healthcare Life Sciences -  

30/03/2017 Alstom General Turbo SA (49% Stake) GE Albany Global Holdings B.V. -  

27/03/2017 Critical Technologies, Inc. GE Aviation -  

24/03/2017 GE Energy Financial Services Inc (Langhope Rig Wind Farm) Greencoat UK Wind Plc 50  

15/12/2017 GE Capital Business Processes Management Services Ltd. State Bank of India -  

02/10/2017 Suez Water Technologies & Solutions Caisse de Depot et Placement du Quebec; Suez  3,379  

31/03/2017 HealthcareSource Contingent Talent Management HealthcareSource HR, Inc. -  

08/02/2017 Nurego Inc. GE Digital LLC -  

24/02/2017 Hyundai Card Co., Ltd. (43% Stake) AlpInvest Partners B.V. and others 1,354  

31/03/2017 GE Keppel Energy Services Pte., Ltd. (49.99% Stake) GE Singapore Pte. Ltd. -  

26/01/2017 Lokomotiv Kurastyru Zauyty (50% Stake) GE Transportation -  

03/01/2017 Rapidscan Pharma Solutions Inc. GE Healthcare Limited -  

03/01/2017 Integral Aerospace, LLC Admiralty Partners, Inc. -  

08/12/2016 iders Incorporated GE Transportation -  

15/11/2016 Wise.io, Inc. General Electric Company -  

15/11/2016 Bit Stew Systems Inc. General Electric Company 153  

10/01/2017 ServiceMax, Inc. GE Digital LLC 915  

03/01/2017 GE Aviation (Legacy avionics products business) Ontic Engineering and Manufacturing, Inc. 62  

22/02/2017 ALSTOM Bharat Forge Power Private Limited (49% Stake) GE Pacific Pte Ltd  -  

03/07/2017 Baker Hughes Incorporated Baker Hughes, a GE Company 31,680  

31/12/2016 Concept Laser GmbH (75% Stake) General Electric Company -  

11/10/2016 30 MW wind farm in Block Island, Rhode Island Citicorp North America Inc; GE Energy Financial Services -  

20/04/2017 LM Wind Power Holding A/S General Electric Company 1,665  

14/09/2016 Alstom Russia & Croatia Ltd. (gas turbine businesses) Infosys Limited -  

14/09/2016 Meridium, Inc. (74% Stake) GE Digital LLC 495  

10/11/2016 Arcam AB General Electric Company 666  

30/08/2016 ShipXpress Inc. GE Transportation -  

29/08/2016 CPV Towantic Energy Center (13.7% Stake) Ullico Inc. -  

16/12/2016 GE Hitachi Nuclear Energy Canada Inc. BWXT Canada Ltd. 123  

04/08/2016 Mytrah Vayu (Tungabhadra) Private Limited (49% Stake) Guayama PR Holdings B.V. -  

27/07/2016 Penske Truck Leasing Co., L.P. (14.4% Stake) Penske Automotive Group, Inc. -  
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30/11/2016 GE Capital Interbanca SpA Banca IFIS S.p.A. 2,831  

17/10/2016 Hyundai Capital Services, Inc. (20% Stake) Hyundai Motor Co 2,651  

13/07/2016 Biosafe SA GE Healthcare Limited -  

30/06/2016 Barranafaddock wind farm BlackRock, Inc. -  

30/06/2016 Acres wind farm BlackRock, Inc. -  

28/03/2017 My Money Bank SA Cerberus Capital Management, L.P. -  

16/06/2016 Grandview wind project BlackRock, Inc. -  

14/09/2016 Walwhan Renewable Energy Ltd Tata Power Renewable Energy Limited 1,378  

26/05/2016 Derrysallagh Windfarm Limited; Derrysallagh Supply Limited  GE Energy Financial Services Inc. -  

16/08/2016 Doosan Engineering & Construction Co., Ltd. (Steam business) GE Power 250  

31/05/2016 Pivotal Software, Inc.  (9.03% Stake) A consortium led by Ford Motor Company 2,800  

10/08/2016 ALSTOM Saudi Arabia Transport and Power Limited General Electric Company -  

21/04/2016 Daintree Networks, Inc. Current 100  

19/04/2016 NeuCo, Inc. General Electric Company -  

20/07/2016 General Electric Company (Finance in France and Germany) Groupe Credit Mutuel-CIC -  

04/11/2016 Bank BPH SA Alior Bank S.A. 409  

01/07/2016 GE Asset Management Incorporated State Street Corporation 435  

20/04/2016 GE Capital Franchise Finance Western Alliance Bank 1,270  

01/09/2016 GE Capital Services India Limited; Clix Capital Services Pvt Ltd Plutus Financials Pvt. Ltd. 330  

25/02/2016 Los Guindos Power Plant (75% Stake) GE Energy Financial Services Inc. -  

06/06/2016 GE Appliances Qingdao Haier Co., Ltd. 5,600  

04/04/2016 Metem Corporation, Inc. General Electric Company -  

05/01/2016 Hyundai Capital Services, Inc. (23.3% Stake) Hyundai Motor Co; Kia Motors Corporation 2,555  

01/04/2016 General Electric Company (Leasing Business in Japan) Sumitomo Mitsui Finance and Leasing Company, Limited 4,773  

07/12/2015 Worsley Multi-Fuel Cogeneration  (49.9% Stake) Motor Trades Association of Australia Superannuation -  

31/03/2016 Engenium Capital Linzor Capital Partners L.P. -  

04/04/2016 Millmerran Investment Company II InterGen NV -  

02/11/2015 ALSTOM Bharat Forge Power Private Limited (51% Stake) General Electric Company -  

31/12/2015 General Electric Company (UK Home Lending Portfolio) Investment consortium led by Blackstone Group LP -  

03/05/2016 General Electric Company (AU & NZ Lending/Leasing portfolio) Bain Capital Credit, LP 1,337  

04/11/2015 General Electric Company (European fleet services business) Arval Service Lease SA 2,800  

30/11/2015 Advantec AS GE Oil & Gas -  

04/01/2016 APR Energy PLC (71% Stake) Apple Bidco Limited 838  

30/12/2015 Clarient, Inc.  NeoGenomics Inc. 275  

17/11/2015 Synchrony Financial (84.6% Stake) General Electric Company (Shareholders) 25,135  

01/07/2016 GE Capital (Commercial Finance and Vendor Finance Business) Wells Fargo & Company -  

07/10/2015 Blade Dynamics Limited General Electric Company -  

05/10/2015 IMT Solutions B.V. General Electric Company -  

29/01/2016 GE Capital Corporation (Corporate Aircraft financing portfolio) Global Jet Capital, Inc. -  

01/01/2016 GE Capital Rail Services First Union Rail -  

31/12/2015 GE Capital Rail Services (Tank fleet & railcar repair facilities)  The Marmon Group LLC -  

10/12/2015 Abaco Systems, Inc. Veritas Capital Fund Management, L.L.C. -  

14/09/2015 General Electric Company (Commercial property business) Kildare Partners -  

01/12/2015 GE Capital Corporation (US and CA transportation business) Bank of Montreal 9,014  

26/02/2016 Power Systems Mfg LLC Ansaldo Energia S.p.A. -  

18/04/2016 GE Capital Bank (US online deposit platform) Goldman Sachs Bank USA -  

01/12/2015 GE HFS Holdings Inc. Capital One Financial Corporation 9,000  

12/02/2016 SourceGas LLC Black Hills Corporation 1,890  

16/09/2015 GE Capital Corporation (European Sponsor Finance business) Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation Europe Limited  2,200  

30/09/2015 GE Capital Fleet Services (US, MX, AU and NZ fleet businesses) Element Fleet Management Corp  6,900  

26/06/2015 240MW Ararat Wind Farm in south-west Victoria General Electric Company; Renewable Energy Systems Ltd. 348  

29/06/2015 Desert Sunlight Investment Holdings, LLC (25% Stake) NRG Yield Operating LLC 2,629  

21/08/2015 Antares Capital LP CPPIB Credit Investments Inc. 12,000  

30/06/2015 GE Oil & Gas (Roots blowers and compressors business) Colfax Corporation 185  

30/06/2015 Wesfarmers Limited and GE credit card business (50% Stake) Wesfarmers Limited -  

01/09/2015 Welspun Energy Rajasthan Private Limited GE Energy Financial Services Inc. -  

31/03/2015 General Electric Company (Wind farm equipment assets) Saint-Augustin Canada Electric Inc. 13  

25/11/2015 Latitude Financial Services Australia Holdings Pty Ltd Deutsche Bank AG; Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. L.P. 917  

14/05/2015 Joliet Bulk, Barge & Rail LLC GE Energy Financial Services Inc.; Arc Logistics Partners LP 216  
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20/01/2015 Francesconi Technologie GmbH GE Jenbacher GmbH -  

09/06/2015 Asia Satellite Telecommunications Ltd. (41.11% Stake) The Carlyle Group 1,102  

31/03/2015 Oceaneering International, Inc. (Subsea Electric Product Line) General Electric Company -  

20/11/2014 General Electric Company (residential property business) Blackstone Real Estate Partners Asia 1,615  

02/11/2015 Alstom SA (Thermal Power, Renewable Power & Grid business) General Electric Company 14,267  

30/01/2015 Milestone Aviation Group Limited GE Capital Aviation Services LLC 1,775  

13/08/2014 Alta Devices, Inc. Hanergy Holdings Group Limited -  

10/07/2014 Al Wajeez Development Company PJSC Tabreed; Mubadala Infrastructure Partners Limited 286  

30/06/2014 Monsal Limited GE Power & Water# 26  

21/05/2014 General Electic Power Electronics India Private Limited PACE Systems Private Limited -  

09/05/2014 Wurldtech Security Technologies Inc. General Electric Company -  

20/06/2014 Wayne Fueling Systems  Riverstone Holdings LLC 500  

01/02/2016 Alstom T&D India (25% Stake) General Electric Company 5,339  

25/04/2014 Welspun Renewables Energy Pvt. Ltd. GE Energy Financial Services Inc. -  

15/04/2014 CHCA Computer Systems Inc. GE Healthcare Limited -  

25/02/2014 Acres wind farm; Barranafaddock wind farm GE Energy Financial Services Inc. -  

30/01/2014 Pentair Residential Filtration, LLC (19.9% Stake) Pentair Plc 675  

15/09/2014 KGI Bank (100% Stake) China Development Financial Holdings Corporation 762  

04/02/2014 Breas Medical AB PBM Capital Group, LLC -  

12/02/2014 GE Healthcare Limited (Workforce Management Software) General Electric Company 340  

03/06/2014 Cameron International Corp. (Reciprocating Compression) General Electric Company 550  

08/01/2014 Finnamore Limited GE Healthcare Limited 24  

08/01/2014 EnerVest Energy, L.P. (East Texas Oil And Gas Reserves) GE Energy Financial Services Inc.; Vess Oil Corporation 108  

24/03/2014 Thermo Fisher Scientific (Cell Culture; Gene; Beads business)  GE Healthcare Limited 1,060  

20/12/2013 Gestamp Aguascalientes, S.A. De C.V. GE Capital Corporation -  

20/12/2013 Dresser Polska Sp. z.o.o. Gesellschaft fur Ingenieur- und Apparatebau m.b.H. -  

20/12/2013 Dresser Bach AG KSW Elektro- und Industrieanlagenbau GmbH -  

31/01/2014 Allen Gearing Solutions Limited (65% Stake) GE Oil & Gas -  

19/12/2013 HeliFleet 2013-01, LLC Element Fleet Management Corp  243  

31/12/2013 Vital Signs, Inc. CareFusion Corporation 501  

19/12/2013 General Electric Company (Advanced sensors business) Amphenol Corporation 318  

16/12/2013 General Electric Company (Air Filtration business) Clarcor Inc. 265  

07/02/2014 GE Money Bank (Russia) Sovcombank -  

28/10/2013 General Electric Company (GE turbine rental business) APR Energy PLC 314  

02/10/2013 CPV Sentinel Energy Center (25% Stake) Voltage Finance LLC  -  

19/09/2013 Imbera Electronics Oy General Electric Company -  

23/09/2013 GE Money Bank (Banking Assets) Citadele Bank -  

28/06/2013 Gati Infrastructure Pvt. Ltd GE Energy Financial Services Inc. -  

23/10/2013 TIP Trailer Services Management B.V. HNA Group Co., Ltd.; Bravia Capital Hong Kong Limited -  

01/07/2013 GE Aviation (Electromechanical Actuation Division) TransDigm Group Inc. 152  

30/08/2013 Rayence Co., Ltd. (certain mammography assets) GE Healthcare Limited 15  

29/05/2013 Unisyn Medical Technologies, Inc. GE Healthcare Limited -  

23/05/2013 Asia Silicones Monomer Limited (50% Stake) Shin-Etsu Chemical Co., Ltd. 294  

03/06/2013 Salof Companies General Electric Company -  

01/07/2013 Lufkin Industries, Inc. General Electric Company 3,240  

15/04/2013 Allianz Finance Pty Ltd GE Capital Finance Australasia Pty Ltd 8  

04/03/2013 Meridian Medical Management The Gores Group LLC -  

19/03/2013 NBCUniversal Media, LLC (49% Stake) Comcast Corporation 34,082  

31/10/2012 Baglan Bay Power Station A consortium led by Macquarie Group Ltd -  

02/01/2013 EDF Renewable Energy, Inc. (Catalina Solar Project) Citi; MetLife, Inc.; GE Energy Financial Services Inc. -  
 

Source: Own work based on data compilations from Mergermarket (2018) 
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Appendix 8: GE’s and peers’ ratio of restructuring charges to revenue 

Revenue of GE and its peers 

Appendix table: Revenue 

Revenue (USDm) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

GE 112,888  116,981  115,834  120,273  121,252  

ABB Ltd 41,848  39,830  35,481  33,828  34,312  

Honeywell International Inc. 39,055  40,306  38,581  39,302  40,534  

Hitachi, Ltd. 95,982  93,895  81,465  89,305  82,173  

Mitsubishi Corporation 63,803  74,164  63,918  61,637  57,630  

Siemens Aktiengesellschaft 99,404  89,893  84,410  89,523  98,155  

3M Company 30,871  31,821  30,274  30,109  31,657  

United Technologies Corporation 56,600  57,900  56,098  57,244  59,837  

Eaton Corporation plc 22,046  22,552  20,855  19,747  20,404  

Koninklijke Philips N.V. 30,283  25,892  18,253  18,391  21,350  

Source: Own work based on GE (2018) and data compilations from Capital IQ (2018) 

 

Restructuring charges of GE and its peers 

Appendix table: Restructuring charges 

Restructuring charges (USDm) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

GE 1,992  1,500  1,600  3,500  4,373  

ABB Ltd 45  37  576  443  89  

Honeywell International Inc. (100) 68  9  70  393  

Hitachi, Ltd. 324  (275) 681  328  221  

Mitsubishi Corporation 0  0  0  0  (147) 

Siemens Aktiengesellschaft 357  6  3  1  0  

3M Company 0  0  114  0  99  

United Technologies Corporation 0  0  0  0  253  

Eaton Corporation plc 163  154  47  4  4  

Koninklijke Philips N.V. 138  0  0  100  379  

Source: Own work based on GE (2018) and data compilations from Capital IQ (2018) 

Appendix table: Ratio of restructuring charges to revenue for GE and its peers 
Ratio of restructuring charges to revenue 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Average 

GE 1.8% 1.3% 1.4% 2.9% 3.6% 2.2% 
ABB Ltd 0.1% 0.1% 1.6% 1.3% 0.3% 0.7% 
Honeywell International Inc. -0.3% 0.2% 0.0% 0.2% 1.0% 0.2% 
Hitachi, Ltd. 0.3% -0.3% 0.8% 0.4% 0.3% 0.3% 
Mitsubishi Corporation n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. -0.3% -0.3% 
Siemens Aktiengesellschaft 0.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 
3M Company n.a. n.a. 0.4% 0.0% 0.3% 0.2% 
United Technologies Corporation n.a. n.a. n.a. n.a. 0.4% 0.4% 
Eaton Corporation plc 0.7% 0.7% 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.3% 
Koninklijke Philips N.V. 0.5% 0.0% 0.0% 0.5% 1.8% 0.6% 

Peer group average 0.3% 0.1% 0.4% 0.3% 0.4% 0.3% 
Peer group median 0.3% 0.0% 0.2% 0.2% 0.3% 0.2% 

              

Ratio of restructuring charges to revenue 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Average 

GE 1.8% 1.3% 1.4% 2.9% 3.6% 2.2% 
Peer group average 0.3% 0.1% 0.4% 0.3% 0.4% 0.3% 
Peer group median 0.3% 0.0% 0.2% 0.2% 0.3% 0.2% 

Difference (GE - peer group average) 1.5% 1.2% 0.9% 2.6% 3.2% 1.9% 
Difference (GE - peer group median) 1.4% 1.2% 1.2% 2.7% 3.3% 2.0% 

Source: Own work based on GE (2018) and data compilations from Capital IQ (2018) 
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Appendix 9: GE’s and peers ratio of net change in cash to revenue 

Revenue of GE and its peers 

Appendix table: Revenue 

Revenue (USDm) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

GE 112,888  116,981  115,834  120,273  121,252  

ABB Ltd 41,848  39,830  35,481  33,828  34,312  

Honeywell International Inc. 39,055  40,306  38,581  39,302  40,534  

Hitachi, Ltd. 95,982  93,895  81,465  89,305  82,173  

Mitsubishi Corporation 63,803  74,164  63,918  61,637  57,630  

Siemens Aktiengesellschaft 99,404  89,893  84,410  89,523  98,155  

3M Company 30,871  31,821  30,274  30,109  31,657  

United Technologies Corporation 56,600  57,900  56,098  57,244  59,837  

Eaton Corporation plc 22,046  22,552  20,855  19,747  20,404  

Koninklijke Philips N.V. 30,283  25,892  18,253  18,391  21,350  

Source: Own work based on GE (2018) and data compilations from Capital IQ (2018) 

 

Net change in cash of GE and its peers 

Appendix table: Net change in cash 

Net change in cash (USDm) 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 

GE 11,258  2,224  (138) (41,319) (5,507) 

ABB Ltd (854) (578) (878) (921) 882  

Honeywell International Inc. 1,788  537  (1,504) 2,388  (784) 

Hitachi, Ltd. (976) 362  1,175  (21) 591  

Mitsubishi Corporation 966  (135) 3,277  (1,996) (3,188) 

Siemens Aktiengesellschaft (2,324) (1,513) 2,146  742  (2,633) 

3M Company (302) (684) (99) 600  655  

United Technologies Corporation (217) 824  1,630  69  1,829  

Eaton Corporation plc 338  (134) (513) 275  18  

Koninklijke Philips N.V. (1,885) (717) (116) 600  (474) 

Source: Own work based on GE (2018) and data compilations from Capital IQ (2018) 

Appendix table: Ratio of net changes in cash to revenue for GE and its peers 
Ratio of net change in cash to revenue 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Std. Deviation 

GE 10.0% 1.9% -0.1% -34.4% -4.5% 17.0% 
ABB Ltd -2.0% -1.5% -2.5% -2.7% 2.6% 2.2% 
Honeywell International Inc. 4.6% 1.3% -3.9% 6.1% -1.9% 4.2% 
Hitachi, Ltd. -1.0% 0.4% 1.4% 0.0% 0.7% 0.9% 
Mitsubishi Corporation 1.5% -0.2% 5.1% -3.2% -5.5% 4.1% 
Siemens Aktiengesellschaft -2.3% -1.7% 2.5% 0.8% -2.7% 2.3% 
3M Company -1.0% -2.1% -0.3% 2.0% 2.1% 1.9% 
United Technologies Corporation -0.4% 1.4% 2.9% 0.1% 3.1% 1.6% 
Eaton Corporation plc 1.5% -0.6% -2.5% 1.4% 0.1% 1.6% 
Koninklijke Philips N.V. -6.2% -2.8% -0.6% 3.3% -2.2% 3.5% 

Peer group average           2.5% 
Peer group median           2.2% 

              

Ratio of net change in cash to revenue 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Std. Deviation 

GE 10.0% 1.9% -0.1% -34.4% -4.5% 17.0% 
Peer group average n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 2.5% 
Peer group median n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a 2.2% 

ABB Ltd -2.0% -1.5% -2.5% -2.7% 2.6% 2.2% 
Honeywell International Inc. 4.6% 1.3% -3.9% 6.1% -1.9% 4.2% 
Siemens Aktiengesellschaft -2.3% -1.7% 2.5% 0.8% -2.7% 2.3% 

United Technologies Corporation -0.4% 1.4% 2.9% 0.1% 3.1% 1.6% 

Source: Own work based on GE (2018) and data compilations from Capital IQ (2018) 
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Appendix 10: Public companies comparables peer group analysis 

By scrutinizing news articles, equity analyst reports, market reports, Capital IQ competitor list, annual 

reports and investor presentations from GE, an extensive list of peers has been constructed. The peers 

listed below have been further analyzed on i) industry (business activities), ii) geography, and iii) 

growth and margins. A few peers were discarded due to unusual figures or from being an outlier. 

Four were discarded after deeper analysis of their operational activities indicated a mismatch. 

Appendix table: Public company comparables peer group selection 

 
Source: Own work based on data compilations from Capital IQ (2018); Note: Market cap (and EV) as of March 2nd, 2018 

Aviation Country

Market cap 

(USDm)

EV 

(USDm)

Average 

sales growth 

(2013-2017)

EBITDA 

margin

EBIT 

margin

EV/

EBITDA

EV/

EBIT FY Discard reason

Triumph Group, Inc. US 1,316 2,627 -1.0% 12.5% 11.2% 6.0x 9.6x 2017 Selected peer

Rolls-Royce Holdings plc UK 20,815 20,653 -1.6% 10.7% 7.1% 8.8x 11.8x 2017 Selected peer

Safran SA FR 46,215 41,847 1.4% 20.6% 15.9% 9.9x 11.2x 2017 Selected peer

BAE Systems plc UK 25,278 26,000 -2.4% 9.9% 8.7% 10.7x 11.9x 2017 Selected peer

Rockwell Collins, Inc. US 22,293 29,087 11.7% 21.6% 17.9% 19.7x 22.3x 2017 Multiples outlier

Esterline Technologies Corp. US 2,162 2,618 1.8% 14.2% 9.0% 9.2x 11.7x 2017 Industry

Power

Cummins Inc. US 26,254 26,442 4.7% 12.6% 9.8% 10.3x 13.2x 2017 Selected peer

Schneider Electric S.E. FR 46,987 51,574 -1.5% 16.0% 14.0% 10.8x 12.4x 2017 Selected peer

Sumitomo Heavy Industries, Ltd. JPY 4,755 4,920 -0.4% 10.2% 7.2% 8.0x 11.3x 2017 Selected peer

SPIE SA FR 3,802 5,677 5.3% 6.9% 5.1% 11.1x 15.1x 2017 Selected peer

Wärtsilä Oyj Abp FI 13,528 13,746 -1.2% 12.8% 10.6% 18.1x 21.8x 2017 Multiples outlier

IHI Corporation JP 5,180 7,448 0.2% 7.5% 3.2% 7.5x 17.5x 2017 Low growth, margin

Emerson Electric Co. US 44,032 46,443 -10.5% 21.2% 17.6% 14.3x 17.3x 2017 Growth decline

Eaton Corporation plc IE 35,084 41,793 -1.8% 16.7% 12.3% 12.2x 16.7x 2017 Industry

Renewable Energy

Vestas Wind Systems A/S DK 14,407 10,429 9.5% 15.1% 12.6% 5.8x 6.9x 2017 Selected peer

Nordex SE DE 1,068 1,267 17.8% 6.4% 2.9% 5.3x 11.9x 2017 Selected peer

Suzlon Energy Limited IN 1,040 2,591 -6.3% 16.0% 14.1% 8.3x 9.4x 2017 Selected peer

Xinjiang GoldWind Science CN 8,250 10,382 21.6% 16.0% 11.6% 16.8x 23.1x 2017 Holds investments

SGRE, S.A. ES 10,324 9,766 58.3% 6.8% 0.3% 13.8x 309.9x 2017 Unusual figures

Senvion S.A. DE 786 971 -2.0% 6.2% -0.9% 6.7x (46.2x) 2017 Unusual figures

Healthcare

Danaher Corporation US 67,120 77,022 2.0% 24.1% 17.4% 17.4x 24.2x 2017 Selected peer

Medtronic plc IE 106,166 120,669 16.8% 31.0% 21.2% 13.1x 19.2x 2017 Selected peer

Stryker Corporation US 60,242 64,641 8.4% 27.4% 22.2% 19.0x 23.4x 2017 Selected peer

Hologic, Inc. US 10,566 13,250 3.0% 36.7% 20.5% 13.1x 23.4x 2017 Selected peer

Getinge AB SE 3,362 5,206 -8.2% 21.6% 10.9% 8.8x 17.4x 2017 Selected peer

Quest Diagnostics Incorporated US 13,759 17,218 1.9% 20.2% 16.7% 11.1x 13.4x 2017 Selected peer

Boston Scientific Corporation US 36,806 42,025 6.4% 26.9% 17.7% 17.3x 26.3x 2017 Industry

Abbott Laboratories US 101,406 119,386 9.3% 23.1% 12.2% 18.5x 34.5x 2017 Multiples outlier

Transportation

Alstom SA FR 9,216 6,386 0.7% 7.1% 5.6% 11.5x 14.6x 2017 Selected peer

The Greenbrier Companies, Inc. US 1,461 1,517 6.9% 14.6% 11.6% 4.8x 6.0x 2017 Selected peer

Talgo, S.A. ES 822 888 2.2% 17.6% 15.4% 10.9x 12.5x 2017 Selected peer

CRRC Corporation Limited CN 43,274 41,744 -3.0% 8.6% 5.6% 15.1x 22.9x 2017 Selected peer

Hyundai Rotem Company KR 1,212 2,143 -4.8% 4.6% 1.7% 18.1x 50.4x 2017 Multiples outlier

WABTEC US 7,803 9,459 12.1% 13.8% 11.2% 17.6x 21.8x 2017 Industry

Lighting

Philips Lighting N.V. NL 5,223 5,734 -3.5% 9.6% 6.4% 7.1x 10.7x 2017 Selected peer

OSRAM Licht AG DE 7,360 6,768 -6.6% 14.5% 9.2% 9.6x 15.0x 2017 Selected peer

Hubbell Incorporated US 7,036 7,715 3.6% 17.1% 14.6% 12.3x 14.4x 2017 Selected peer

Zumtobel Group AG AT 456 651 -3.1% 8.8% 5.6% 5.2x 8.2x 2017 Selected peer

Sharp Corporation JP 16,786 18,948 -8.0% 6.4% 3.0% 16.2x 33.8x 2017 Multiples outlier
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Appendix 11: Precedent transactions peer group analysis 

Search criteria: Mergermarket 

Searching for a gross list of potential precedent transactions peers, the initial step taken was to define 

each GE division’s corresponding industry and sub-industry, referred to as dominant sector and sub-

sector by Mergermarket. This was conducted through a comparative analysis of the respective 

industries of peers and competitors as well as by analyzing previous M&A deals with GE on either 

side of the trade, then specifying for what division the specific transaction was executed. In certain 

cases, the defined dominant sector and sub-sector were too narrow to provide any relevant deals. In 

these cases, the authors extended the search, including more sub-sectors. Last, the business 

description (provided by Mergermarket) of each potential peer, target company in a transaction, was 

scrutinized to ascertain its relevance in relation to the respective GE division. The following table 

presents the dominant sector and sub-sector search criteria for each GE division, as well as the broader 

search, if it was conducted for the specific division. The table also presents the number of transactions 

extracted for further analysis. 

Appendix table: Dominant and sub-sector search criteria for precedent transaction comps at Mergermarket 

 

 
Source: Own work based on data compilations from Mergermarket (2018) 

Aviation Power Renewable Energy
Renewable Energy 

(Broad)
Healthcare

· Industrial products and 

services

· Industrial: Electronics · Energy · Industrial products and 

services

· Medical

· Defence · Industrial products and 

services

· Industrial products and 

services

· Biotechnology

· Aerospace · Batteries and Power 
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· Alternative energy · Electrical power 

generation
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· Industrial services · Electrical power 
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· Electrical power 
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· Medical equipment & 
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Total  84 1,765 99 2,000 10,051
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Discarding data-lacking and irrelevant observations 

The 10,051 observations have been filtered to only include transactions where EV, EBITDA, EBIT 

and revenue are published. Firms with comparable industries, per Mergermarket’s business 

description, were then scrutinized further. Following table presents these 49 potential transaction 

peers, sorted from newest to oldest, grouped for their respective GE division. 

Appendix table: Potential precedent transactions peers 

 
Source: Own work based on data compilations from Mergermarket (2018); Note: Figures are as of completion date 

Target company

Aviation

Acquir ing company Date of 

completion

Country 

of target

EV 

(USDm)

Revenue 

(USDm)

EBITDA 

margin

EBIT 

margin

EV/

EBITDA

EV/

EBIT

Zodiac Aerospace SA Safran SA 08/03/2018 FR 8,846 5,814 7.9% 3.7% 19.3x 40.9x

Aircraft Maintenance Support John Bean Technologies Corp. 03/07/2017 UK 13 13 4.5% 2.0% 21.4x 48.4x

B/E Aerospace, Inc. Rockwell Collins, Inc. 13/04/2017 US 8,245 2,730 19.7% 16.6% 15.3x 18.2x

Shenyang Aircraft Corporation Zhonghang Heibao Co., Ltd. 11/04/2017 CN 519 2,134 3.7% 3.2% 6.6x 7.6x

Sichuan Ande Technology Jiangxi Huawu Brake Co., Ltd. 19/07/2016 CN 48 7 33.4% 31.6% 19.0x 20.1x

Kreisler Manufacturing Corp. United Flexible, Inc. 30/06/2016 US 29 30 6.6% 5.0% 14.5x 19.0x

Doosan DST Co., Ltd. Hanwha Techwin Co., Ltd. 31/05/2016 KR 491 591 7.2% 5.9% 11.6x 14.1x

Power

Calpine Corporation Calpine Consortium 08/03/2018 US 17,023 6,943 21.6% 12.1% 11.3x 20.3x

Aclara Technologies LLC Hubbell Power Systems, Inc. 05/02/2018 US 1,100 500 12.6% 5.7% 17.4x 38.7x

ista International GmbH Sarvana S.a.r.l. 18/10/2017 DE 7,293 896 43.5% 21.7% 18.7x 37.4x

SIT S.p.A. Industrial Stars of Italy 2 S.p.A. 21/07/2017 IT 318 304 15.5% 8.2% 6.8x 12.8x

Gestra AG Spirax-Sarco Engineering Plc 03/05/2017 DE 198 97 17.9% 16.4% 11.3x 12.4x

Linear Technology Corporation Analog Devices, Inc. 10/03/2017 US 12,995 1,424 48.1% 44.5% 19.0x 20.5x

Brammer Plc Advent International Corporation 06/02/2017 UK 515 1,063 5.9% 4.7% 8.2x 10.2x

Clarke Energy Limited Kohler Co., Inc. 02/02/2017 UK 379 365 9.0% 7.4% 11.5x 13.9x

Technip SA FMC Technologies, Inc. 16/01/2017 FR 4,552 11,294 8.9% 3.2% 4.5x 12.6x

Empire District Electric Company Algonquin Power & Utilities Corp. 01/01/2017 US 2,361 606 29.2% 15.9% 13.3x 24.5x

ITC Holdings Corporation Fortis Inc. 14/10/2016 US 11,305 1,045 67.5% 53.7% 16.0x 20.2x

SL Industries, Inc. Handy & Harman Ltd. 01/06/2016 US 161 200 10.9% 9.0% 7.4x 9.0x

PowerSecure International, Inc. The Southern Company 09/05/2016 US 415 444 4.9% 2.5% 19.2x 37.6x

Renewable Energy

Alterra Power Corp. Innergex Renewable Energy Inc. 06/02/2018 CA 637 61 60.8% 39.5% 17.2x 26.5x

Matsumura-Gumi Corporation Panasonic Corporation 31/12/2017 JP 88 317 5.7% 5.7% 4.9x 4.9x

Ningxia Jiangnan Integration Suzhou Hailu Heavy Industry Co. 13/12/2017 CN 298 200 13.5% 13.4% 11.1x 11.2x

LM Wind Power Holding A/S GE 20/04/2017 DK 1,500 752 13.0% 6.2% 15.4x 32.4x

Avanti Wind Systems A/S Alimak Group AB 30/01/2017 DK 97 103 9.9% 8.8% 9.4x 10.7x

China Ming Yang Wind Power  Mr. Chuanwei Zhang 22/06/2016 CN 277 1,049 5.7% 4.6% 4.6x 5.7x

Availon GmbH Vestas Wind Systems A/S 02/03/2016 DE 96 47 5.1% 2.9% 40.1x 70.3x

Healthcare

Biotest AG Creat Group Corporation 19/01/2018 DE 1,331 583 15.7% 11.6% 14.6x 19.8x

C.R. Bard, Inc. Becton, Dickinson and Co 29/12/2017 US 23,609 3,714 22.1% 16.4% 28.7x 38.8x

Arjo AB (publ) Getinge AB  12/12/2017 SE 1,554 862 19.7% 10.0% 9.2x 18.0x

WebMD, LLC Internet Brands, Inc. 14/09/2017 US 3,472 705 28.3% 23.9% 17.4x 20.6x

BSN Medical GmbH Svenska Cellulosa Aktiebolaget SCA 03/04/2017 DE 2,862 941 23.3% 15.9% 13.0x 19.1x

Varex Imaging Corporation Varian Medical Systems, Inc. 20/01/2017 US 1,088 620 23.0% 20.6% 7.6x 8.5x

St. Jude Medical Inc Abbott Laboratories 04/01/2017 US 29,850 5,541 24.6% 18.6% 21.9x 29.0x

Marken Limited United Parcel Service, Inc. 31/12/2016 UK 570 172 15.0% 12.7% 22.2x 26.2x

Drtech Corporation Hanwha Ace Special Purpose 21/11/2016 KR 72 26 4.9% 4.9% 56.6x 56.8x

Source BioScience Limited North Atlantic Value LLP 29/07/2016 UK 88 39 21.9% 8.9% 10.3x 25.2x

Truven Health Analytics Inc. IBM Watson Health 07/04/2016 US 2,600 611 3.7% 0.2% 114.8x 1800.6x

Transportation

Driconeq Production AB Mincon Group Plc 19/03/2018 SE 9 31 7.2% 3.5% 4.2x 8.5x

Jiangsu Mingweiwansheng Tech. Hwa Create Corporation 29/04/2017 CN 62 10 29.7% 29.5% 20.5x 20.6x

Sungshin Co., Ltd. SPG Co., Ltd. 01/12/2016 KR 38 107 4.8% 3.8% 7.4x 9.4x

EuroMaint AB Orlando Management AG 30/11/2016 SE 73 206 5.6% 4.3% 6.3x 8.3x

Guangdong Huazhiyuan Information PCI-Suntek Technology Co., Ltd. 16/11/2016 CN 67 30 20.9% 20.8% 10.8x 10.8x

Lighting

Guangdong Sunfly Electr. Holdings Shandong Luyitong Intelligent 15/01/2018 CN 273 131 21.9% 21.8% 9.5x 9.6x

Glamox AS Triton Partners 11/12/2017 NO 433 291 12.6% 10.5% 11.8x 14.2x

WE-EF Group AB Fagerhult 09/03/2017 DE 85 79 4.9% 2.9% 22.0x 37.2x

Atlas Lighting Products, Inc. LSI Industries Inc. 21/02/2017 US 98 57 17.2% 15.6% 10.1x 11.1x

Premier Farnell Plc Avnet, Inc. 17/10/2016 UK 1,144 1,292 7.1% 5.0% 12.5x 17.8x

LED Linear GmbH AB Fagerhult 15/03/2016 DE 68 23 21.0% 18.4% 14.1x 16.1x
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Selecting relevant precedent transactions peers 

Scrutinizing these 49 transactions, the complete list of precedent transaction peers can be compiled. 

The following characteristics are sorting-requirements for the transactions above to be included in 

the final complete list: 

 The acquisition entails a 100% stake in the targeted company (with one exception) 

 Target company’s industry is comparable to the industry of the respective GE division 

 The multiples, EV/EBITDA and EV/EBIT, are positive numbers, and not extreme outliers 

from the rest of the corresponding peer group 

 The performance of the target company somewhat compares to the performance of the 

respective GE division 

By adhering to these characteristics, the complete list of precedent transactions peers have been 

selected and are presented in the table on the next page, including the targets’ business descriptions. 
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Appendix table: Complete list of precedent transactions peers and their Mergermarket business description 

 
Source: Own work based on data compilations from Mergermarket (2018) 

 

Target company

Aviation Acquir ing company Business descr iption of target company (from Mergermarket)

Shenyang Aircraft Corp. Zhonghang Heibao Co., Ltd.
China-based company engaged in the manufacture of civilian and military 

aircrafts

Sichuan Ande Technology, Ltd. Jiangxi Huawu Brake Co., Ltd. China-based aviation component maker

B/E Aerospace, Inc. Rockwell Collins, Inc.
US-based company engaged in the manufacture and sale of components for 

use in military and commercial aircraft engines 

Doosan DST Co., Ltd. Hanwha Techwin Co., Ltd.

US-based testing and engineering firm specializing in aerospace and technical 

support services for aerospace, defence, commercial and government 

customers

Power

Brammer Plc Advent International Corp.

UK-based industrial services group providing outsourced management of 

electronic equipment related services as well as supplying bearings, power 

transmission products and engineering and other related industrial services

SL Industries, Inc. Handy & Harman Ltd.
US-based company engaged in providing smart infrastructure solutions, 

equipment and services to water, gas, and electric utilities industry

Clarke Energy Limited Kohler Co., Inc.

UK-based company engaged in providing of engineering, installation and 

maintenance of reciprocating engine based power plants and gas engine 

compression stations

Renewable Energy

Avanti Wind Systems A/S Alimak Group AB
Denmark-based manufacturer of advanced lifts, ladders and safety systems 

used for service and maintenance of wind turbines

China Ming Yang Mr. Chuanwei Zhang China-based wind turbine manufacturer

Ningxia Jiangnan Integration Suzhou Hailu Heavy Industry, Ltd. China-based solar power station construction services provider

Healthcare

Source BioScience Limited North Atlantic Value LLP
UK-based provider of diagnostics and genetic analysis services and products to 

healthcare and life science research markets

BSN Medical GmbH Svenska Cellulosa Aktiebolaget Germany-based supplier and manufacturer of medical equipment

Biotest AG Creat Group Corporation
Germany-based company that researches and manufactures pharmaceutical, 

biotherapeutic and diagnostic products

Marken Limited United Parcel Service, Inc.
UK-based company that offers logistic services for pharmaceutical, 

biotechnology, life science, and clinical research industries

WebMD, LLC Internet Brands, Inc.

US-based provider of physician practice management software and related 

services, transaction processing and reimbursement cycle management 

services to the healthcare sector

Transportation

EuroMaint AB Orlando Management AG

Sweden-based company engaged in the development, manufacture, and 

maintenance of production equipment, components, and processes for the rail 

industry

Guangdong PCI-Suntek Technology Co., Ltd. China-based railway transportation system provider

Sungshin Co., Ltd. SPG Co., Ltd. South Korea-based electric motor and gear maker for rolling stock

Lighting

LED Linear GmbH AB Fagerhult 
Germany-based company that produces and sells light emitting diodes based 

linear lighting solutions

Glamox AS Triton Partners
Norway-based developer, manufacturer and distributor of professional lighting 

products and solutions

Guangdong Sunfly Electronics Shandong China-based company lighting solution provider 

Atlas Lighting Products, Inc. LSI Industries Inc. US-based manufacturer of energy saving lighting products
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Appendix 12: Values of interest bearing debt, minority interest and preferred stock 

Interest bearing debt 

In a valuation, accurate methodology uses market values of interest bearing debt. Attempting to 

compute these values, however, the authors found that BHGE and GE have a combined 887 fixed 

income securities, according to Capital IQ. The numbers for GE’s peers are fundamentally different: 

Honneywell has 26, ABB 17 and Danaher 17 fixed income securities. The excessive number of fixed 

income securities at GE, stems from GE Capital. Yet, Capital is embedded in the valuation, and thus 

its debt must be determined. Nonetheless, computing the market values is a time consuming task that 

is outside the scope of this thesis. This choice emphasizes why financial institutions are valued based 

on book values. The interest bearing debt of GE and BHGE are computed from book values using 

annual reports. This is an accepted estimation of debt market value, and the same method is applied 

by analysts specialized in GE, with the Deutsche Bank analyst, John G. Inch as an example (Inch, 

2018). The following table summarizes GE’s interest bearing debt. See GE (2018, p. 150) for details. 

Appendix table: Book value of GE’s interest bearing debt 

 
Source: GE (2018, p. 150) 

Minority interest 

Minority interests should be applied at market value, yet, when faced with multiple minority holdings, 

analysts typically use book values as estimates of the intrinsic values of the holdings (Damodaran, 

2009). According to Capital IQ, GE currently holds investments in more than 584 entities, which is 

indeed multiple holdings. For this reason, book values have been applied for minority interests.  

Preferred stock 

The market value of the preferred stock has been estimated using fixed income securities data from 

Capital IQ. The total market value of the preferred stock is USD 5,944m as of March 2nd, 2018. This 

figure is in line with equity analyst estimates (Inch, 2018). 

Appendix table: Market value of GE preferred stock 

 
Source: Capital IQ (2018) 

In USDm December 31, 2017

GE Industrial (41,744)                                              

GE Capital (92,847)                                              

GE consol idated (134,591)                                 

GE interest bearing debt

Offer date Coupon Bond price Bond market value estimate (m)

18/12/2015 5.0        98.9                5,694                                                      

01/12/2015 4.2        90.5                95                                                           

03/12/2015 4.0        90.0                91                                                           

01/12/2015 4.1        92.5                64                                                           

Total 5,944                                          

GE preferred stock market value in USD (as of 02/03/2018)
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Appendix 13: Aggregated findings of equity analyst reports 

Equity analysts: Forecast price appreciation 

The authors browsed through the 46 analyst reports and gathered relevant data. This data has been 

applied in computing the average forecast price appreciation of each research contributor.  

Appendix table: Data from equity analyst reports used to compute average forecast price appreciation   

 
Source: Own work based on analyst reports compiled from Thomson Research (2018) 

For each research contributor, this metric is calculated as follows: 

𝐴𝑣𝑒𝑟𝑎𝑔𝑒 𝑓𝑜𝑟𝑒𝑐𝑎𝑠𝑡 𝑝𝑟𝑖𝑐𝑒 𝑎𝑝𝑝𝑟𝑒𝑐𝑖𝑎𝑡𝑖𝑜𝑛𝑅𝑒𝑠𝑒𝑎𝑟𝑐ℎ 𝑐𝑜𝑛𝑡𝑟𝑖𝑏𝑢𝑡𝑜𝑟 =
∑

𝑇𝑎𝑟𝑔𝑒𝑡 𝑝𝑟𝑖𝑐𝑒𝑡

𝐶𝑢𝑟𝑟𝑒𝑛𝑡 𝑚𝑎𝑟𝑘𝑒𝑡 𝑝𝑟𝑖𝑐𝑒𝑡
− 1𝑛

𝑡=1

𝑛
 

Following table summarizes the calculations and presents analysts indicating a discount or premium. 

Appendix table: Summary of analyst reports and their average forecast price appreciation 

 
Source: Own work based on analyst reports compiled from Thomson Research (2018) 

# Source Date Market price Price Target # Source Date Market price Price Target

1   UBS 16/04/2018 13.49 16.00 24 Cowen 27/02/2018 14.65 15.00

2   JPMorgan 16/04/2018 13.49 11.00 25 Deutsche Bank 26/02/2018 14.49 13.00

3   Cowen 16/04/2018 13.49 12.00 26 RBC Capital Markets 26/02/2018 14.49 17.00

4   Barclays 15/04/2018 13.49 16.00 27 Barclays 25/02/2018 14.49 16.00

5   RBC Capital Markets 15/04/2018 13.49 15.00 28 Cowen 26/02/2018 14.49 15.00

6   JPMorgan 12/04/2018 12.97 11.00 29 RBC Capital Markets 25/02/2018 14.49 17.00

7   Cowen 11/04/2018 13.05 12.00 30 Deutsche Bank 22/02/2018 14.74 13.00

8   JPMorgan 09/04/2018 13.06 11.00 31 MorningStar 13/02/2018 14.82 23.50

9   JPMorgan 06/04/2018 13.43 11.00 32 JPMorgan 12/02/2018 14.94 14.90

10 JPMorgan 28/03/2018 13.68 11.00 33 Deutsche Bank 08/02/2018 15.27 13.00

11 RBC Capital Markets 27/03/2018 13.44 16.00 34 MorningStar 02/02/2018 16.02 23.50

12 MorningStar 22/03/2018 13.35 23.50 35 Deutsche Bank 31/01/2018 16.28 15.00

13 Trefis 16/03/2018 14.31 18.75 36 CFRA 26/01/2018 16.13 18.00

14 JPMorgan 14/03/2018 14.27 11.00 37 JPMorgan 26/01/2018 16.18 16.00

15 JPMorgan 13/03/2018 14.94 11.00 38 MorningStar 25/01/2018 16.44 23.50

16 Deutsche Bank 09/03/2018 14.52 13.00 39 William Blair 25/01/2018 16.44 20.00

17 William Blair 09/03/2018 14.52 20.00 40 RBC Capital Markets 25/01/2018 16.44 17.00

18 Deutsche Bank 07/03/2018 14.42 13.00 41 Deutsche Bank 24/01/2018 16.89 15.00

19 Deutsche Bank 06/03/2018 14.12 13.00 42 MorningStar 24/01/2018 16.89 23.50

20 CFRA 28/02/2018 14.11 18.00 43 UBS 24/01/2018 16.89 17.00

21 CFRA 27/02/2018 14.50 18.00 44 Cowen 24/01/2018 16.89 17.00

22 MorningStar 28/02/2018 14.50 23.50 45 CFRA 24/01/2018 16.89 18.00

23 Deutsche Bank 27/02/2018 14.65 13.00 46 RBC Capital Markets 24/01/2018 16.89 20.00

Reserach contr ibutor

No. of 

reports

Average forecast pr ice 

appreciation Appreciate?

UBS 2 9.6% TRUE

JPMorgan 9 -15.3% FALSE

Cowen 5 -2.5% FALSE

Barclays 2 14.5% TRUE

RBC Capital Markets 6 14.5% TRUE

MorningStar 6 54.2% TRUE

Trefis 1 31.0% TRUE

Deutsche Bank 9 -10.6% FALSE

William Blair 2 29.7% TRUE

CFRA 4 17.5% TRUE

Total 46 10

# of analysts indicating a discount 7

# of analysts indicating a premium 3


